Documenta Math.

Weil-Étale Cohomology and Zeta-Values of Proper Regular Arithmetic Schemes

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

Received: September 23, 2016 Revised: November 30, 2017

Communicated by Stephen Lichtenbaum

ABSTRACT. We give a conjectural description of the vanishing order and leading Taylor coefficient of the Zeta function of a proper, regular arithmetic scheme \mathcal{X} at any integer n in terms of Weil-étale cohomology complexes. This extends work of Lichtenbaum [65] and Geisser [36] for \mathcal{X} of characteristic p, of Lichtenbaum [66] for $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and n = 0 where F is a number field, and of the second author for arbitrary \mathcal{X} and n = 0 [72]. We show that our conjecture is compatible with the Tamagawa number conjecture of Bloch, Kato, Fontaine and Perrin-Riou [31] if \mathcal{X} is smooth over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$, and hence that it holds in cases where the Tamagawa number conjecture is known.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 14F20 (primary) 14F42 11G40

Keywords and Phrases: Zeta functions, Zeta-values, Weil-étale cohomology, Arakelov theory

Contents

| 1 | INTRODUCTION | | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------|--|------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 1.1 | Statement of the main conjecture | 1428 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.2 | Concerning notation | 1430 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.3 | Varieties over finite fields | 1431 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.4 | On the correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ | 1432 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.5 | Origin of the terminology "Weil-Arakelov" | 1432 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.6 | The example $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ | 1433 | | | | | | | |
| | 1.7 | Outline of the paper | 1435 | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

1426 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

| 2 | Motivic cohomology of proper regular schemes and the | | | | | | | |
|----------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Beilinson conjectures | | | | | | | |
| | 2.1 The Beilinson regulator on the level of complexes | | | | | | | |
| | 2.2 The Beilinson conjectures and arithmetic duality with | | | | | | | |
| | | coefficients | | | | | | |
| | 2.3 | Motivic cohomology of the Artin-Verdier compactification $\ . \ . \ . \ 1444$ | | | | | | |
| 3 | Wei | L-étale cohomology of proper regular schemes 1447 | | | | | | |
| | 3.1 | Notations | | | | | | |
| | 3.2 | Assumptions | | | | | | |
| | 3.3 | The complex $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ | | | | | | |
| | 3.4 | Rational coefficients | | | | | | |
| | 3.5 | Torsion coefficients | | | | | | |
| | 3.6 | Relationship with the Lichtenbaum-Geisser definition over finite | | | | | | |
| | | fields | | | | | | |
| | 3.7 | Weil-étale duality | | | | | | |
| | 3.8 | The complex $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ | | | | | | |
| 4 | WEI | L-ARAKELOV COHOMOLOGY OF PROPER REGULAR SCHEMES 1469 | | | | | | |
| | 4.1 | Weil-Arakelov cohomology with $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)$ -coefficients | | | | | | |
| | 4.2 | Weil-Arakelov cohomology of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ | | | | | | |
| | 4.3 | Weil-Arakelov duality for $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ | | | | | | |
| | 4.4 | Weil-Arakelov cohomology with compact support | | | | | | |
| 5 | Spe | CIAL VALUES OF ZETA FUNCTIONS 1480 | | | | | | |
| | 5.1 | De Rham cohomology | | | | | | |
| | 5.2 | The fundamental line | | | | | | |
| | 5.3 | The complex $R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ and Milne's correcting factor . 1481 | | | | | | |
| | 5.4 | The local factor $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ | | | | | | |
| | 5.5 | The main conjecture | | | | | | |
| | 5.6 | Compatibility with the Tamagawa Number Conjecture 1488 | | | | | | |
| | 5.7 | Relationship with the functional equation | | | | | | |
| | 5.8 | Proven cases and examples | | | | | | |
| | | 5.8.1 Varieties over finite fields | | | | | | |
| | | 5.8.2 The case $n = 0$ | | | | | | |
| | | 5.8.3 Number rings | | | | | | |
| 6 | App | ENDIX A: ARTIN-VERDIER DUALITY 1512 | | | | | | |
| | 6.1 | Introduction | | | | | | |
| | 6.2 | The motivic complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ | | | | | | |
| | 6.3 | The Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ | | | | | | |
| | 6.4 | Tate cohomology and the functor $R\hat{\pi}_*$ | | | | | | |
| | 6.5 | The motivic complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ | | | | | | |
| | 6.6 | Functoriality | | | | | | |
| | 6.7 | Relationship with Milne's cohomology with compact support $.1523$ | | | | | | |

Documenta Mathematica 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1427

| | 6.8 | Produ | cts | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1526 |
|---|------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------|--------|-----|----|-----|----|----|----|----|------|--|--|------|
| | 6.9 | Artin- | Verdier Duali | ty | | | | | | | | | | | | 1529 |
| | 6.10 | 10 The conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(f, n)$ | | | | | | | | | | | 1533 | | | |
| | 6.11 | The p | rojective bund | lle formula | | | | | | | | | | | | 1534 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 7 | App | ENDIX | B: MOTIVIC | AND SYNTC |) M | [C] | СС | оно | ЭМ | OL | 00 | ΞY | | | | 1535 |
| | 7.1 | l-adic | $\operatorname{cohomology}$ | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1536 |
| | | 7.1.1 | Localization | triangles | | | | | | | | | | | | 1537 |
| | | 7.1.2 | Motivic deco | omposition | | | | | | | | | | | | 1538 |
| | 7.2 | p-adic | $\operatorname{cohomology}$ | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1542 |
| | | 7.2.1 | Localization | triangles | | | | | | | | | | | | 1542 |
| | | 7.2.2 | Motivic deco | omposition | | | | | | | | | | | | 1551 |

1 INTRODUCTION

In [65], [66] and [67] Lichtenbaum introduced the idea of a Weil-étale cohomology theory in order to describe the vanishing order and leading Taylor coefficient of the Zeta-function of an arithmetic scheme (i.e. a scheme separated and of finite type over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$) at any integer argument s = n. In [65] he defined a Weil-étale topos for any variety over a finite field and showed that Weil-étale cohomology groups have the expected relationship to the Zeta function of smooth, proper varieties at s = 0. Assuming the Tate conjecture, Geisser extended this to smooth, proper varieties over finite fields and any $s = n \in \mathbb{Z}$ in [36], and to arbitrary varieties over finite fields and any n in [38] (also assuming resolution of singularities).

For schemes of characteristic 0, Lichtenbaum made the crucial first step in [66] where he defined Weil-étale cohomology groups for $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$, the spectrum of the ring of integers in a number field F, and proved the expected relationship to the Dedekind Zeta-function at s = 0 modulo a vanishing statement for higher degree cohomology with \mathbb{Z} -coefficients. Unfortunately this cohomology was then shown to be nonvanishing in [25]. However, the cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients as defined by Lichtenbaum is correct in all degrees. Encouraged by this fact we defined in [27] a Weil-étale topos for any regular, proper, flat scheme \mathcal{X} over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ and showed again that the cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients has the expected relationship to the vanishing order of the Zeta-function at s = 0 (provided the Hasse-Weil L-functions of all motives $h^i(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ have the expected meromorphic continuation and functional equation). Next, assuming finite generation of motivic cohomology of \mathcal{X} , the second author gave in [72] a description of the leading coefficient at s = 0 in terms of Weil-étale cohomology groups. The key idea of [72] was to define Weil-étale cohomology complexes with \mathbb{Z} -coefficients via (Artin-Verdier) duality rather than as cohomology of a Weil-étale topos associated to \mathcal{X} .

In the present article we pursue this idea further and define Weil-étale cohomology complexes with $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, and we give their

1428 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

conjectural relation to the Zeta-function of \mathcal{X} at s = n. As in [72] a key assumption in this construction is finite generation of étale motivic cohomology of \mathcal{X} in a certain range. If \mathcal{X} is smooth over the ring of integers of a number field, we prove that our description is compatible with the Tamagawa number conjecture of Bloch-Kato [11] and Fontaine-Perrin-Riou [31], and hence also with the analytic class number formula and the conjecture of Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer. Besides [66], the only other work on Weil-étale cohomology for arithmetic schemes of characteristic zero that we are aware of is [67] where Lichtenbaum gives a description of the value of the Zeta-function of a 1-motive modulo rational factors in terms of two sets of Weil-étale cohomology groups ("motivic" and "additive"). Our description is somewhat different from [67] in cases where both apply although the two descriptions are of course equivalent.

1.1 STATEMENT OF THE MAIN CONJECTURE

For the remainder of this introduction \mathcal{X} is a regular connected scheme of dimension d, proper over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ is any integer. We assume that \mathcal{X} and n satisfy Conjectures $\operatorname{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\operatorname{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\operatorname{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d - n)$, $\operatorname{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $\operatorname{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ below which we shall refer to as the "standard assumptions". We construct two sets of cohomology complexes associated to \mathcal{X} which we call "Weil-étale" and "Weil-Arakelov" cohomology, respectively. More precisely, we construct a perfect complex of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to$$
(1)

in the bounded derived category of locally compact abelian groups (see [45] for precise definitions) with the following properties.

a) The groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(n))$ are finite dimensional vector spaces over \mathbb{R} for all *i* and there is an exact sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} H^{i+1}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} \cdots$$
(2)

In particular, the complex $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ has vanishing Euler characteristic:

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = 0.$$

b) The groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are compact, commutative Lie groups for all *i*.

Note here that the cohomology groups of a complex of locally compact abelian groups carry an induced topology which however need not be locally compact. Indeed, the groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ will not always be locally compact.

The conjectural relation to the Zeta-function of \mathcal{X} is given by the following two statements.

c) The function $\zeta(\mathcal{X}, s)$ has a meromorphic continuation to s = n and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n} \zeta(\mathcal{X}, s) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \cdot i \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^i_{\operatorname{ar}, c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)).$$

d) If $\zeta^*(\mathcal{X}, n) \in \mathbb{R}$ denotes the leading Taylor-coefficient of $\zeta(\mathcal{X}, n)$ at s = n then

$$|\zeta^*(\mathcal{X},n)|^{-1} = \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\operatorname{vol}(H^i_{\operatorname{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))) \right)^{(-1)^*}.$$
 (3)

We explain the right hand side. There is no well defined measure on the individual groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ but only on the entire complex, in the following sense. One has an isomorphism of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

$$H^{i}_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong T_{\infty}H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)),\tag{4}$$

where $A_{\mathbb{R}} := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ and $T_{\infty}G$ denotes the tangent space of a compact commutative Lie group G. A Haar measure on G is given by a volume form, i.e. a nonzero section $s \in \det_{\mathbb{R}} T_{\infty}G$, up to sign. The volume of G with respect to this measure equals $|\operatorname{coker}(\exp)|\mu$ where $\exp: T_{\infty}G \to G$ is the exponential map and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^{>0}$ is such that $\det_{\mathbb{Z}}(\ker(\exp)) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot \mu s$. One can extend the tangent space functor T_{∞} to complexes of locally compact abelian groups (see Remark 4.16) and the image of (1) under the tangent space functor identifies with an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})_{\mathbb{R}}[-2] \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to (5)$$

in the derived category of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces. We obtain an isomorphism

$$\bigotimes_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{R}}^{(-1)^{i}} T_{\infty} H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \det_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{< n})_{\mathbb{R}}$$

$$\cong \det_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{< n})_{\mathbb{R}}$$

$$\tag{6}$$

where the trivialization det_{$\mathbb{R}}R\Gamma_{\operatorname{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \cong \mathbb{R}$ is induced by the exact sequence (2). Here $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{\leq n})$ is derived deRham cohomology as defined by Illusie [50] modulo the *n*-th step in its Hodge filtration. A generator of the \mathbb{Z} -line det $\mathbb{Z}^{-1}R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{\leq n})$, multiplied with a certain correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n) \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$, gives a unique section of (6), up to sign, which we view as a "volume form" on the complex $R\Gamma_{\operatorname{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$. Now it turns out that the isomorphism (4) is induced by an exact triangle</sub>

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\exp} R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to$$
(7)

and hence the volume, i.e. the right hand side, in (3) is the unique $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^{>0}$ so that

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) = \mu \cdot C(\mathcal{X},n) \cdot \det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{< n}).$$
(8)

This is an identity of invertible \mathbb{Z} -submodules of the invertible \mathbb{R} -module

$$\det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \bigotimes_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{R}}^{(-1)^{i}} T_{\infty} H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$$
$$\cong \det_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},L\Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

At this point one can draw the connection to the Tamagawa number conjecture of Fontaine and Perrin Riou [31]. At least if $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is smooth proper over a number ring it turns out that

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}, n) := \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}^{< n})_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

is the fundamental line of Fontaine and Perrin-Riou for the motive

$$h(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}})(n) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{2d-2} h^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}})(n)[-i]$$

of the generic fibre of \mathcal{X} with trivialization

1430

$$\lambda_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}, n)_{\mathbb{R}}$$

$$\tag{9}$$

induced by (5) and (2). An element $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ maps to $\Delta(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}, n)$ under this trivialization if and only if it satisfies (8) up to factors in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} . One is then naturally led to define an integral fundamental line

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) := \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},L\Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})$$

which is attached to the entire arithmetic scheme \mathcal{X} rather than to individual motivic summands. Equation (3) is equivalent to the statement

$$\lambda_{\infty}(\zeta^*(\mathcal{X},n)^{-1} \cdot C(\mathcal{X},n) \cdot \mathbb{Z}) = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)$$

which no longer involves Weil-Arakelov groups. One could therefore completely ignore the Weil-Arakelov groups for the purpose of making a special value conjecture. They are still needed, however, to describe the vanishing order and we believe they also give a more convincing geometric picture underlying the Zeta function than the fundamental line by itself.

We make a few more remarks about our construction.

1.2 CONCERNING NOTATION

We use the notation $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$, resp. $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$, rather than $R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{ar}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$, resp. $R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{W},\mathbb{Z}(n))$, since we do not define a topos (or an

 ∞ -topos, or a more general geometric object) \mathcal{X}_{ar} , resp. \mathcal{X}_W , associated to the scheme \mathcal{X} whose compact support cohomology with appropriately defined $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients gives rise to those complexes. In fact, even for $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and n = 0 this remains a major open problem and we do not know whether to expect the existence of such a topos. It seems somewhat more likely that the groups $R\Gamma_{\operatorname{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ will be associated to some geometric object $\mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{ar}}$. For example, one expects the existence of a class $\theta \in H^1(\mathcal{X}_{\operatorname{ar}}, \mathbb{R})$ so that cupproduct with θ produces the exact sequence (2) whereas our construction of (2) will be entire ly formal.

Our choice of notation $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ was motivated by the idea that "Weilétale" cohomology complexes should always be perfect complexes of abelian groups.

The tilde in the notation $\mathbb{R}(n)$ goes back to the case n = 0 treated in [66] and [27] where it is supposed to distinguish \mathbb{R} with its Euclidean topology from \mathbb{R} with the discrete topology (as representing objects for sheaves in a suitable Weil-étale topos). In the context of the present paper the notation is meaningless. All we do in this paper is to construct Weil-étale and Weil-Arakelov complexes directly by performing various mapping fibre constructions, starting with $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ (the étale hypercohomology of Bloch's higher Chow complex) and involving Artin-Verdier duality and the Beilinson regulator.

The "compact support" notation will hopefully become clearer in Remark 1.5 below.

1.3 VARIETIES OVER FINITE FIELDS

If $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ is smooth proper over a finite field, and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ is arbitrary, one has isomorphisms

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_W,\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where \mathcal{X}_W is the Weil-étale topos associated to \mathcal{X} by Lichtenbaum [65]. Our standard assumptions $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ and $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d - n)$ imply the perfectness of these complexes ("Tate conjecture") and one has an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))\cong R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}.$$

Assuming perfectness, properties a)-d) are all true since they are a straightforward reformulation of those proved by Milne, Lichtenbaum and Geisser (see [36][Thm. 9.1]). In other words, finite generation of motivic cohomology is the only unresolved issue in order for all statements outlined in section 1.1 to hold true for smooth proper varieties over finite fields.

Under a resolution of singularities assumption, one also has an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_W,\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{ar}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

with the "arithmetic cohomology" groups defined by Geisser in [38], i.e. the cohomology groups of the (large) Weil-eh site associated to \mathcal{X} [38][Cor. 5.5].

1432 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

So our notation is consistent with [38] even though we do not call our groups "arithmetic" for reasons explained in Remark 1.5 below. Also note that the purpose of [38] was to generalize Weil-étale cohomology from smooth proper to arbitrary arithmetic schemes over \mathbb{F}_p whereas in this paper we generalize from smooth proper schemes over \mathbb{F}_p to regular, proper schemes over \mathbb{Z} . We will have nothing to say about arithmetic schemes that are not regular or not proper.

1.4 On the correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$

The use of derived rather than naive de Rham cohomology tends to simplify the correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$, and we regard this as one of the truly new discoveries of this project. One has $C(\mathcal{X}, n) = 1$ for $n \leq 0$ or if \mathcal{X} is smooth proper over a finite field by [73], and $C(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F), n) = (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]}$ for a number field F and $n \geq 1$ (see Prop. 5.34 below). The correction factor would be $|D_F|^{2-n} \cdot (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]}$ for naive de Rham cohomology where D_F is the discriminant. The precise definition of $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ in general is forced by the compatibility of our conjecture with the Tamagawa number conjecture and therefore involves p-adic Hodge theory.

1.5 Origin of the terminology "Weil-Arakelov"

For \mathcal{X} regular, proper and flat over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$, any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathcal{F} = \mathbb{Z}(n), \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n), \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ we shall also construct an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{F}) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathcal{F}) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathcal{F}) \to$$

as well as an exact triangle of perfect complexes of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$

Here one should think of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ as the Artin-Verdier or Arakelov compactification of \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{X}_{∞} as the fibre at infinity but, as in Remark 1.2 above, we shall have nothing to say about actual geometric objects $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{ar}$, $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_W$, $\mathcal{X}_{\infty,ar}$ or $\mathcal{X}_{\infty,W}$. In the construction of $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ we do however make use of the classical Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ [1] associated to \mathcal{X} since it has the right duality properties needed in this construction. Under our standard assumptions on \mathcal{X} , the complexes associated to $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ satisfy some remarkable duality properties. There is an isomorphism of perfect complexes of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])$$

a perfect duality of finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(d)) \simeq \mathbb{R}$$
(10)

for any $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a Pontryagin duality of locally compact abelian groups

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$$

for any $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$. One has an isomorphism

$$H^{2n}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \cong CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$$

with the Arakelov Chow groups defined by Gillet and Soule [41][3.3.3] and there is also a close relation between $H^{2n}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})$ defined in [40][5.1] (note that $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ does not denote $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. The two groups $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})$ and $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ are rather Arakelov modifications of classical Chow groups with \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{R} -coefficients, respectively). The \mathbb{R} -vector spaces $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ vanish for $i \neq 2n, 2n + 1$ and one has an isomorphism

$$H^{2n}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} H^{2n+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)).$$

In this regard the spaces $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(n))$ behave completely analogous to the Weil-étale cohomology spaces

$$H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{R}(n))\cong H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$$

for a smooth projective variety Y over a finite field. In fact, there are also analogues of Grothendieck's standard conjectures for $H^{2n}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(n)) \cong CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ in the literature [61]. Because of this relation to Arakelov theory we call our groups Weil-Arakelov cohomology. Using the terminology "arithmetic" would be confusing since arithmetic Chow groups as defined in [40] differ from Arakelov Chow groups.

It is fairly easy to prove the analogue of c)

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n} \zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \cdot i \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^i_{\operatorname{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n))$$

for the completed Zeta-function

$$\zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s) = \zeta(\mathcal{X}, s)\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, s)$$

of \mathcal{X} provided that c) holds for $\zeta(\mathcal{X}, s)$. Here $\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, s)$ is the usual product of Γ -functions. As far as we know this conjectural relation between $CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ and the pole order of the completed Zeta-function has not been noticed in the literature. However, there is no statement d) for $\zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s)$ as the groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are in general only locally compact. This is somewhat consistent with the fact that there are no special value conjectures for the completed Zeta-function in the literature.

1.6 The example $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$

We refer the reader to section 5.8 below for computations of Weil-Arakelov and Weil-étale cohomology groups in the case $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$. In this introduction we shall now just record the analogue of the analytic class number formula that we obtain by making statement (3) explicit.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1433

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

It has been well understood since the work of Borel in the 1970's that the higher algebraic K-groups $K_{2n-1}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $K_{2n-2}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ govern the behaviour of the Dedekind Zeta function $\zeta_F(s)$ at s = n in a way similar to the role played by $K_1(\mathcal{O}_F) = \mathcal{O}_F^{\times}$ and $K_0(\mathcal{O}_F)_{tor} = \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ in the analytic class number formula. A precise higher analogue of the class number formula was implicit in the Tamagawa number conjecture of Bloch and Kato [11] but has not been written down explicitly. In order to do this we first replace $K_{2n-1}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $K_{2n-2}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ by motivic cohomology $H^1(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $H^2(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$, respectively (the difference only amounts to 2-primary groups). We then consider the Beilinson regulator map

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{et}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\varrho_{n}^{B}} H^{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{R})$$

which is known to induce isomorphisms

1434

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{et}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{R}), \quad H^{1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{et}},\mathbb{Z}(1))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \left(\prod_{v\mid\infty}\mathbb{R}\right)^{\Sigma=0}$$

for n > 1 and n = 1, respectively. For $n \ge 1$ we set

$$h_n := |H^2(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))|, \quad w_n := |H^1(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{tor}|, \quad R_n := \operatorname{vol}(\operatorname{coker}(\varrho_n^B))$$

where the volume is taken with respect to the \mathbb{Z} -structure $\prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{Z})$, resp. $(\prod_{v\mid\infty}\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma=0}$, of the target. For $n \leq 0$ the identity (3) is then equivalent to

$$\zeta_F^*(n) = \pm \frac{h_{1-n} \cdot R_{1-n}}{w_{1-n}} \tag{11}$$

and for $n \ge 1$ the identity (3) is equivalent to

$$\zeta_F^*(n) = (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]} \cdot \frac{2^{r_1 \cdot (-1)^{n-1}} (2\pi)^{[F:\mathbb{Q}] \cdot n - r_2 + r_1 \cdot (((-1)^n - 1)/2)} h_n R_n}{w_n \cdot |D_F|^{n-1} \cdot \sqrt{|D_F|}}$$
(12)

where r_1 and r_2 denote the number of real and complex places of the number field F. For $n \geq 1$ the complex $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})$ is quasi-isomorphic to a complex

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}^{< n}) = \left(\mathcal{O}_F \xrightarrow{d(n)} \Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}(n)\right)$$

where $\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}(n)$ is a certain finite abelian group of order $|D_F|^{n-1}$, equal to Kaehler differentials for n = 2. There is a spectral sequence [68] from derived de Rham cohomology to cyclic homology, an additive analogue of algebraic K-theory, and this spectral sequence degenerates to give isomorphisms

$$K_{2n-1}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F) := HC_{2n-2}(\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}) \cong \ker\left(\mathcal{O}_F \xrightarrow{d(n)} \Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}(n)\right)$$
$$K_{2n-2}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F) := HC_{2n-3}(\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}) \cong \operatorname{coker}\left(\mathcal{O}_F \xrightarrow{d(n)} \Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}(n)\right).$$

One can therefore rewrite the term $|D_F|^{n-1}\sqrt{|D_F|}$ in (12) as

$$|D_F|^{n-1}\sqrt{|D_F|} = h_n^{add} R_n^{add}$$

where $R_n^{add} := \operatorname{covol}(K_{2n-1}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F))$ and $h_n^{add} := |K_{2n-2}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F)|$. One can further speculate that there is a modified additive K-group $K_{2n-1}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F)' = (n-1)! \cdot K_{2n-1}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ which would explain the correction factor $(n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]}$ but we have no idea how to define $K_{2n-1}^{add}(\mathcal{O}_F)'$ in a natural way.

Finally, the analytic class number formula and known cases of the Tamagawa number conjecture give the following theorem.

PROPOSITION 1.1. Equations (11) and (12) hold for n = 0, 1 if F is arbitrary and for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ if F/\mathbb{Q} is abelian.

1.7 OUTLINE OF THE PAPER

In section 2 we give a formulation of Beilinson's conjectures for arithmetic schemes rather than motives over \mathbb{Q} . This also has been done independently by Scholbach [83]. Our definition of motivic cohomology throughout the paper will be via (étale hypercohomology of) Bloch's higher Chow complex [8]. Our formulation of Beilinson's conjectures will be a simple duality statement, Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$, which includes finite dimensionality of motivic cohomology tensored with \mathbb{R} .

In section 3 we construct the Weil-étale cohomology complexes following the model of [72]. We state a finite generation assumption on étale motivic cohomology, Conjecture $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, which will play a key role in the rest of the paper. We need one further assumption, Conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, which concerns Artin-Verdier-duality for motivic cohomology with torsion coefficients and is known in many more cases than either $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ or $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$.

In section 4 we construct the Weil-Arakelov cohomology complexes without any further assumption.

In section 5 we define the correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and formulate our conjectures on the vanishing order and leading Taylor coefficient of the Zeta function. The rational number $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is defined as a product of its *p*-primary parts and for each prime *p* we need one further assumption, Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$, which relates *p*-adically completed motivic cohomology of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ with de Rham cohomology of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ and *p*-adically completed motivic cohomology of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$. For smooth schemes and n such a description follows from the relation betweensyntomic and motivic cohomology proved by Geisser [37]. For general regular $<math>\mathcal{X}$ we expect a similar relationship and we isolate in App. B the results in *p*-adic Hodge theory which would be needed to prove $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ in general. In view of recent progress in the theory of syntomic cohomology ([76], [17], [22]) these results hold for smooth schemes and might be within reach for semistable schemes. In subsection 5.6 we prove that our conjecture is equivalent to the Tamagawa number conjecture of Bloch, Kato, Fontaine, Perrin-Riou for all primes *p* if \mathcal{X} is smooth over the ring of integers in a number field. This proof

also draws on the results of App. B. In subsection 5.8 we discuss in detail the case $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ for a number field F.

In App. A we discuss in detail the Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ associated to \mathcal{X} , we construct motivic complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and we prove conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ in many cases. The main novelty is a complete discussion of 2-primary parts.

In App. B. we outline the expected relation between p-adically completed motivic cohomology and syntomic cohomology for regular \mathcal{X} and we discuss the motivic decomposition of p-adically completed motivic cohomology.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank S. Lichtenbaum and W. Niziol for helpful discussions related to this paper. The first author also acknowledges support from the Simons foundation which enabled this collaboration. The second author was supported by ANR-12-JS01-0007 and ANR-15-CE40-0002.

2 MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY OF PROPER REGULAR SCHEMES AND THE BEILIN-SON CONJECTURES

Throughout this section \mathcal{X} denotes a regular scheme of dimension d, proper over Spec(\mathbb{Z}). For any complex of abelian groups A we set $A_{\mathbb{R}} := A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.

2.1 The Beilinson regulator on the level of complexes

We consider Bloch's higher Chow complex [8]

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) := z^n(-, 2n - *)$$

which is in fact a complex of sheaves in the étale topology on \mathcal{X} . The first construction of a map of complexes

$$z^n(\mathcal{X}, 2n - *) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$
 (13)

inducing the Beilinson regulator map

$$CH^n(\mathcal{X},i) \to H^{2n-i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

was given by Goncharov in [42] and [43]. This was refined to a map of complexes

$$z^{n}(\mathcal{X}, 2n - *) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$
(14)

in [58] and, building on this construction, the thesis of Fan [23] gives a map of complexes

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
 (15)

The mapping fibre of this map will play a role in the construction of $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ in section 4.4 and the mapping fibre of the composite map

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Z})$$
(16)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1436

in the construction of $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ in section 3.8. For the remainder of this section we shall only consider the hypercohomology of $\mathbb{Z}(n)$

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}}$$

tensored with \mathbb{R} . By definition $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0$ for n < 0. We denote by $R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ the mapping fibre of the Beilinson regulator map so that there is an exact triangle of complexes of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

$$R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to .$$
(17)

Recall that for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ Deligne cohomology is defined as the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant cohomology of the complex

$$\mathbb{R}(n)_{\mathcal{D}}:\mathbb{R}(n)\to\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}}/F^n$$

of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaves on the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -space $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$, where $\mathbb{R}(n)$ is the constant $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaf $\mathbb{R}(n) := (2\pi i)^n \cdot \mathbb{R}$. So we have

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) := R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)_{\mathcal{D}}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)_{\mathcal{D}})^{G_{\mathbb{R}}}.$$

For n < 0 we have $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0$ and

$$R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))) \cong R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))[-1] \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}}[-1].$$

The mapping fibre of the Beilinson regulator to real Deligne cohomology (usually without tensoring the source with \mathbb{R}) has been denoted "Arakelov motivic cohomology" in [43], [46], and a slightly modified mapping fibre yields the "higher arithmetic Chow groups" of [13] which generalize the arithmetic Chow groups of [40].

2.2 The Beilinson conjectures and arithmetic duality with \mathbb{R} -coefficients

The purpose of this subsection is to give a uniform statement (for the central, the near central and the other points) of Beilinson's conjectures relating motivic to Deligne cohomology, including non-degeneracy of a height pairing. Our statement, Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ below, has the form of a simple duality between motivic cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients and Arakelov motivic cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients. Such a formulation of Beilinson's conjectures is implicit in the six term sequence of Fontaine and Perrin-Riou [31][Prop. 3.2.5]. However, both the original Beilinson conjectures [81] and [31] work with motives over \mathbb{Q} rather than arithmetic schemes. The origin of his subsection is an unpublished note of the first author from the early 1990's transposing the ideas of [31] to arithmetic schemes. Meanwhile, a formulation of Beilinson's conjectures as a duality theorem for objects in the triangulated category of motives $DM(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}))$ (which includes arithmetic schemes but also the intermediate extension of motives over \mathbb{Q} if one assumes the existence of a motivic t-structure) has been given by Scholbach in [83].

PROPOSITION 2.1. For $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a product

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \otimes^{L} R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(m)) \to R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n+m))$$
(18)

in the derived category of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces.

Proof. For the (regular) arithmetic scheme $f : \mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$, a spectral sequence from $H^{\bullet}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{Zar}, f_*z_{d-n}(-, \bullet))$ to algebraic K-groups was constructed by Levine in [64][(8.8)] and it was shown to degenerate after $\otimes \mathbb{Q}$ in [63][Thm. 11.8]. This gives isomorphisms

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong H^{i}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{Zar},f_{*}z_{d-n}(-,\bullet))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong K_{2n-i}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}^{(n)}$$

where the second isomorphism is [37] [Cor.3.3 b)]. By [15] [Cor. 14.2.14] there is an isomorphism

$$K_{2n-i}(\mathcal{X})^{(n)}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{DM_{\mathbf{B}}(\mathcal{X})}(\mathbb{Q}(0), \mathbb{Q}(n)[i]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}}(S^{0}, H_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}}(n)[i])$$

where $DM_{\mathbf{B}}(\mathcal{X})$, resp. $SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$, is the triangulated category of mixed motives, resp. \mathbb{Q} -linear stable homotopy category defined by Cisinski and Deglise, resp. Morel-Voevodsky. Now note that $SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is naturally enriched over the derived category of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces and hence we get an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong R\operatorname{Hom}_{SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{Q}}}(S^{0},H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X}}(n))$$

and a similar $\mathbb R\text{-linear}$ variant

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong R \operatorname{Hom}_{SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}}(S^0, H_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n)).$$

The spectrum $H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}$ is a strict ring spectrum and in [46][Def. 4.1, Rem. 4.6] an exact triangle

$$\hat{H}_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}} \to H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\rho} H_{\mathcal{D}} \to$$

in $SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}$ was constructed, where $H_{\mathcal{D}}$ is a ring spectrum representing real Deligne cohomology and ρ induces the Beilinson regulator [84][Thm. 5.7]. This gives an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong R \operatorname{Hom}_{SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}}(S^0, \hat{H}_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n)).$$

The map ρ is a map of ring spectra which implies that $H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}$ acquires a structure of $H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}$ -module spectrum [46][Thm. 4.2 (ii)]. The product map

$$H_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}(n) \wedge \dot{H}_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}(m) \to \dot{H}_{\mathbf{B},\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}}(n+m)$$

induces a map

$$[S^0, H_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n)] \otimes^L [S^0, \hat{H}_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(m)] \to [S^0 \wedge S^0, \hat{H}_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n+m)] \cong [S^0, \hat{H}_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n+m)]$$

where we have written

where we have written

$$[S^0, A] := R \operatorname{Hom}_{SH(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}}(S^0, A)$$

for brevity. In view of the isomorphisms $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong [S^0, H_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(n)]$ and $R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(m))) \cong [S^0, \hat{H}_{\mathbf{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}}(m)]$ we obtain the product (18).

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1438

REMARK 2.2. The construction of the product on $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ makes use of the elaborate formalism of [15], in particular the representability of algebraic Ktheory by a ring spectrum in SH. We are not aware of a direct construction of a product on higher Chow complexes (even tensored with \mathbb{Q}), unless \mathcal{X} is smooth over a number ring or a finite field [63]. In order to appreciate the amount of detail hidden in the short proof of Prop. 2.1 the reader may want to look at the construction of a product structure in [13] on the mapping fibre of the Beilinson regulator from the higher Chow complex of the (smooth, proper) generic fibre $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ to real Deligne cohomology. Both [13] and [46] use a representative of the real Deligne complex by differential forms due to Burgos Gil [12] which is quite different from the complex in terms of currents used by Goncharov in (13), and also in (14) and (15). It remains an open problem to construct a $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ -module structure on the mapping fibre of (15).

LEMMA 2.3. a) One has

$$H^{i-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d)) = H^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d)) = 0$$

for i > 2d and there is a commutative diagram

b) For any $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the product on Deligne cohomology

$$H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \times H^{2d-1-i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d-n)) \to H^{2d-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d)) \to \mathbb{R}$$

induces a perfect duality, i.e. an isomorphism

$$H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{2d-1-i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{*}$$
(19)

where $(-)^*$ denotes the dual \mathbb{R} -vector space.

Proof. In this proof we write $H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ for $H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n)_{\mathcal{D}})$. From the long exact sequence

$$H^{i-1}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^d \to H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}},\mathbb{R}(d)) \xrightarrow{\alpha_i} H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(d))$$

we find $H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(d)) = 0$ and hence $H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(d)) = 0$ for i > 2d - 1. From the long exact sequence

$$H^{i-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d)) \to H^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d))$$

and $H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d)) \subseteq K_{2d-i}(\mathcal{X})^{(d)}_{\mathbb{R}} = 0$ for i > 2d we get $H^i_c(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d)) = 0$ for i > 2d. For i = 2d we find $H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d)) \cong CH^d(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} = 0$, using the finiteness

of $\operatorname{CH}^{d}(\mathcal{X})$ due to Kato and Saito [55]. So $H_{c}^{2d}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d))$ is the cokernel of the regulator map from $K_{1}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{P}}^{(d)}$ to

$$H^{2d-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d)) \cong (H^{2d-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^d)^+ \cong H^{2d-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})^+ \cong \mathbb{R}^{S_{\infty}}$$

where S_{∞} is the set of archimedean places of the étale Q-algebra $L := H^0(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and the last isomorphism is induced by the cycle classes of points in $H^{2(d-1)}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})$. In particular, we get a canonical map to \mathbb{R} given by the sum on $\mathbb{R}^{S_{\infty}}$. On the other hand from the Gersten-Quillen spectral sequence with weights [87][Th. 4(iii))] the group $K_1(\mathcal{X})^{(d)}$ is generated by

$$E_2^{d-1,-d} = \ker \left(\coprod_{x \in \mathcal{X}^{d-1}} k(x)^{\times} \to \coprod_{x \in \mathcal{X}^d} \mathbb{Z} \right)$$

and the regulator is induced by the usual Dirichlet unit regulator on L composed with $N_{k(x)/L}$ (if $x \in \mathcal{X}$ survives in the generic fibre of \mathcal{X}). So the image of the regulator on $K_1(\mathcal{X})^{(d)}$ lies in the subspace $\{(x_v) \in \mathbb{R}^{S_{\infty}} | \sum_v x_v = 0\}$ and the sum map induces a map from the cokernel $H_c^{2d}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d))$ to \mathbb{R} .

For part b) we first prove the following Lemma.

LEMMA 2.4. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the natural map

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^{n}$$
(20)

is injective for $i \leq 2n-1$ and surjective for $i \geq 2n-1$.

Proof. (see also $[81][\S2]$ for the injectivity). We can write

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C}) \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n-1))$$
(21)

and this is the decomposition of $H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})$ into the $(-1)^n$ and $(-1)^{n-1}$ eigenspaces for the involution τ which is induced by complex conjugation on the coefficients \mathbb{C} . For $i \leq 2n-1$ we show that F^n contains no eigenvector for τ . Indeed

$$F^n \cap \tau F^n = \bigoplus_{n \le s} H^{s,t} \cap \bigoplus_{n \le t} H^{s,t} = \bigoplus_{n \le s,t} H^{s,t} = 0$$

for $i = s + t \le 2n - 1$. For $i \ge 2n - 1$ we show

$$\bigoplus_{s+t=i} H^{s,t} = \bigoplus_{n \le s} H^{s,t} + \text{any } \tau \text{ eigenspace } V^{\pm}.$$

Given s, t with $s + t = i \ge 2n - 1$ we have either $n \le s$ or $n \le t$, so $F^n = \bigoplus_{n \le s'} H^{s',t'}$ contains either $H^{s,t}$ or $H^{t,s}$, say $H^{s,t} \subseteq F^n$. Since $\tau(H^{s,t}) = H^{t,s}$ we can write $x + y \in H^{s,t} + H^{t,s}$ as

$$x + y = x \mp x' + \tau(x') \pm x' \in H^{s,t} + V^{\pm} \subseteq F^n + V^{\pm}$$

where $x' \in H^{s,t}$ satisfies $y = \tau(x')$. This finishes the proof of the lemma.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1440

1441

This Lemma gives short exact sequences

 $0 \to H^{i-1}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i-1}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/F^n \to H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to 0$ (22)

for $i \leq 2n-1$ and

$$0 \to H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/F^{n} \to 0$$
(23)

for $i \geq 2n$. Taking the \mathbb{R} -dual of (23) and using Poincare duality we obtain (noting that dim(X) = d - 1 and that the orthogonal complement of F^n is F^{d-n})

$$0 \leftarrow H^i_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n))^* \leftarrow H^{2d-2-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(d-1-n)) \leftarrow F^{d-n}H^{2d-2-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C}) \leftarrow 0.$$

Using (21) this sequence can also be written as

$$0 \leftarrow H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n))^{*} \leftarrow H^{2d-2-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/F^{d-n} \leftarrow H^{2d-2-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(d-n)) \leftarrow 0$$

and comparing this to (22) with (i, n) replaced by (2d - 1 - i, d - n) we obtain

$$H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{2d-i-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{*}.$$
(24)

Taking $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -invariants gives (19).

We can now state the main conjecture of this section.

CONJECTURE 2.5. $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ For any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, the pairing (18)

$$H^i_c(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \times H^{2d-i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n)) \to H^{2d}_c(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d)) \to \mathbb{R}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector spaces.

REMARK 2.6. By Lemma 2.3 a) one has a morphism of long exact sequences

and the right hand vertical maps are isomorphism by Lemma 2.3 b). Hence the Five Lemma implies

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n) \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, d-n).$$

REMARK 2.7. If $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ is smooth proper over a finite field, then

$$H^i_c(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$

and it is expected that $H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0$ for $i \neq 2n$ (Parshin's conjecture). By definition, there is an isomorphism $H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong CH^n(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}$ and Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ reduces to perfectness of the intersection pairing

$$CH^n(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \times CH^{d-n}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \to CH^d(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{R}.$$

This is also a conjecture of Beilinson (numerical and rational equivalence coincide).

REMARK 2.8. The conjectures of Beilinson [81] concern an "integral motivic cohomology" of the generic fibre $X := \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ whereas we work directly with the arithmetic scheme \mathcal{X} . More precisely, there is a long exact localization sequence

$$\cdots \to \bigoplus_{l} CH^{n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{l}, 2n-i)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \xrightarrow{\rho^{i}(n)} H^{i}(X, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \to \cdots$$

where $\mathcal{X}_l := \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathbb{F}_l$, and Beilinson's conjectures concern

$$H^{i}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) := \operatorname{im}(\rho^{i}(n))$$
(25)

which is not naturally the cohomology of any complex but which one can show to be independent of the choice of a regular model. However, one expects

CONJECTURE 2.9. The map $\rho^i(n)$ is injective for $i \neq 2n$.

This means that the discussion below also applies to the groups

$$H^{i}(X_{\mathbb{Z}},\mathbb{R}(n)) := H^{i}(X_{\mathbb{Z}},\mathbb{Q}(n))_{\mathbb{R}}$$

instead of $H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ provided $i \neq 2n$. We refer to Prop. 5.21 and Remark 5.22 below for some evidence for Conjecture 2.9.

For the rest of this subsection we assume that \mathcal{X} is flat over \mathbb{Z} and we indicate how Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is equivalent to Beilinson's conjectures, tacitly assuming Conjecture 2.9. For i < 2n we have

$$H^{2d-i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d-n)) \subseteq K_{i-2n}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}^{(d-n)} = 0$$

and so $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is equivalent to

$$H_c^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0 \quad \text{for } i < 2n.$$
(26)

From the long exact sequence

$$H^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{i+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))$$
(27)

induced by (17) this is equivalent to

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \qquad \text{for } i < 2n - 1.$$
(28)

For $n \ge 0$ this is Beilinson's conjecture away from the central and near central point, including the Beilinson-Soulé conjecture for i < 0. For n < 0 both sides are zero since then also i < 2n - 1 < 0. The central and near central point are accounted for by the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{r^n} H^{2n-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{z^{d-n,*}} H^{2d-2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d-n))^* \xrightarrow{h} H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{z^n} H^{2n}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{2d-2n-1}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d-n))^* \to 0$$
(29)

where we have rewritten H_c^{2n} and H_c^{2n+1} in terms of the dual of H^i using Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and we also used $H^{2n+1}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0$. For n < 0 this sequence is exact since all terms are zero (for

$$H^{2d-2n-i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n)) \cong K_i(\mathcal{X})^{(d-n)}_{\mathbb{R}}$$

and i = 0, 1 this follows for dimension reasons from the Gersten-Quillen spectral sequence with weights [87][Th. 4(iii))]). If $n \ge 0$ the exactness of (29), i.e. Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$, is equivalent to nondegeneracy of the height pairing h

$$H^{2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))^0 \times H^{2d-2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^0 \to \mathbb{R}$$

on the space

$$H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))^0 := \ker(z^n)$$

together with a decomposition

$$H_{\mathcal{D}}^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong \operatorname{im}(r^{n}) \oplus \operatorname{im}(z^{d-n})^{*} \cong H^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus \operatorname{im}(z^{d-n})^{*}.$$
 (30)

This decomposition is Beilinson's conjecture for the near central point if one assumes the standard conjecture "numerical equals homological equivalence" for the generic fibre $X = \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ in which case the dual of

$$\operatorname{im}(z^{d-n}) = CH^{d-n}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}/\operatorname{hom} \cong CH^{d-n}(X)_{\mathbb{R}}/\operatorname{hom}$$

can be computed as

$$\operatorname{im}(z^{d-n})^* \cong CH^{d-1-(d-n)}(X)_{\mathbb{R}}/\operatorname{hom} \cong CH^{n-1}(X)_{\mathbb{R}}/\operatorname{hom}.$$

Beilinson's conjecture at the central point asserts non-degeneracy of the Bloch-Beilinson height pairing on the space

$$CH^n(X)^0_{\mathbb{R}} \cong H^{2n}(X, \mathbb{R}(n))^0 \cong H^{2n}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{R}(n))^0$$

of homologically trivial cycles on the generic fibre. Beilinson also conjectures that there is a commutative diagram of pairings

$$\begin{aligned} H^{2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))^{00} \times H^{2d-2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{00} & \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \\ & \downarrow & \parallel \\ H^{2n}(X_{/\mathbb{Z}},\mathbb{R}(n))^{0} \times H^{2d-2n}(X_{/\mathbb{Z}},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{0} & \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \end{aligned}$$

with surjective vertical maps where

~

$$H^{2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))^{00} \subseteq H^{2n}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))^{0}$$

is the subgroup of classes homologically trivial on all fibres $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$. This implies that the Bloch-Beilinson height pairing can be defined in terms of the pairing h on \mathcal{X} but we have not tried to investigate whether nondegeneracy of h is

equivalent to nondegeneracy of the Bloch-Beilinson pairing. Finally, in the index range i>2n we have

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \subseteq K_{2n-i}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}^{(n)} = 0$$

and therefore

1444

$$H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{i+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)).$$

Using the duality (19) we see that $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is equivalent to Beilinson's conjecture (28) with (i, n) replaced by (2d - 1 - i, d - n), i.e. the second map in the sequence

$$H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{i+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{2d-i-1}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{*} \cong H^{2d-1-i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{*}$$

is an isomorphism if and only if the third is.

2.3 MOTIVIC COHOMOLOGY OF THE ARTIN-VERDIER COMPACTIFICATION

For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we shall now extend the exact triangle (17) to a diagram in the derived category of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

with exact rows and columns. Here one should think of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ as the "Artin-Verdier" or "Arakelov" compactification of \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{X}_{∞} as the "fibre at infinity". We choose a splitting σ of the inclusion

$$\tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$

and define $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n))$ as the mapping fibre of the Beilinson regulator composed with σ

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)).$$
(32)

We then set

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n))[1] := \tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

 and

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}(n)) := \tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)).$$
(33)

With these definitions it is clear that the diagram (31) has exact rows and columns and that the right hand column is a split exact triangle, i.e. the morphism 0 is indeed the zero map. The middle horizontal and the middle vertical triangle are analogous to localization triangles in sheaf theory. The right vertical triangle only becomes a "local" localization triangle in the presence of an isomorphism between $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ and the cohomology of a suitable "regular neighborhood" of \mathcal{X}_{∞} .

PROPOSITION 2.10. Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ implies that there is a perfect pairing

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \times H^{2d-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(d-n)) \to H^{2d}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(d)) \to \mathbb{R}$$
(34)

of finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector spaces for all i and n and that $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0$ for $i \neq 2n$.

Proof. By definition of $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ we have an isomorphism

$$H^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$
(35)

for i < 2n and an isomorphism

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$
 (36)

for i > 2n. Since i < 2n implies 2d - i > 2d - 2n = 2(d - n) the duality (34) is an immediate consequence of Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$. Actually both groups are zero in this case by (26). For i = 2n we have a diagram with exact rows and columns

where z^n , r^n and $\alpha \cong (z^{d-n})^*$ are the maps in (29) and the injectivity of ι follows by an easy diagram chase. We obtain exact sequences

$$0 \to H_c^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{2n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to \operatorname{im}(z^n) \to 0$$
(37)

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

and

1446

$$0 \to \operatorname{coker}(r^n) \to H^{2n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to 0.$$
(38)

In view of the isomorphism $\operatorname{coker}(r^n)^* \cong \operatorname{im}(z^{d-n})$ of (30), Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, d-n)$ implies that there is an isomorphism between the dual of (38) and (37) with n replaced by d-n.

PROPOSITION 2.11. There is an isomorphism

$$H^{2n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}}$$
(39)

where $CH^n(\bar{X})_{\mathbb{R}}$ is the Arakelov Chow group with real coefficients defined by Gillet and Soule [41]/3.3.3].

Proof. One first checks that the proof of the exactness of the sequence

$$CH^{n,n-1}(\mathcal{X}) \xrightarrow{\rho} H^{n-1,n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}) \xrightarrow{a} CH^{n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \to CH^{n}(\mathcal{X}) \to 0$$
 (40)

in [40][Thm. 5.1.2] equally works for (Arakelov) Chow groups made from cycles with real coefficients to give an exact sequence

$$CH^{n,n-1}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\rho} H^{n-1,n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}) \xrightarrow{a} CH^{n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}} \to CH^{n}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \to 0$$

Here

$$CH^n(X)_{\mathbb{R}} := CH^n(\mathcal{X}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \cong K_0(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}^{(n)} \cong H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$

 and

$$CH^{n,n-1}(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} := CH^{n,n-1}(\mathcal{X}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \cong K_1(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}}^{(n)} \cong H^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

by the Gersten-Quillen spectral sequence with weights [87][Th. 4(iii))], and $H^{p,p}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}})$ is the space of real differential (p,p) forms η on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ which are harmonic for the choice of a Kähler metric ω on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ and satisfy $F_{\infty}^*\eta = (-1)^p\eta$ where F_{∞} is complex conjugation on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. It is remarked in [40][3.5.3.1] that

$$H^{n-1,n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}) \cong H^{2n-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

and one can see this as follows. One has the exact sequence (22) for i = 2n - 1

$$0 \to H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n)) \to H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})/F^n \to H^{2n-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to 0$$

 and

$$H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^n \cong H^{n-1,n-1} \oplus \bigoplus_{p < n-1} H^{p,2n-2-p}.$$

Denoting by τ the complex conjugation on coefficients, given $x \in H^{p,2n-2-p}$ with p < n-1, we have $x + (-1)^n \tau(x) \in H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n))$ and $\tau(x) \in F^n$. So

$$H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^n = H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)) + H^{n-1,n-1}$$

whereas

$$H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n))\cap H^{n-1,n-1}$$

consists of harmonic (n-1, n-1)-forms in the $(-1)^n$ eigenspace of τ . So

$$H^{2n-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{n-1,n-1}/(H^{2n-2}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n)) \cap H^{n-1,n-1})$$

consists of harmonic (n-1, n-1)-forms in the $(-1)^{n-1}$ -eigenspace of τ and

$$H_{\mathcal{D}}^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) = H_{\mathcal{D}}^{2n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{C}},\mathbb{R}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}} = H^{n-1,n-1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}})$$

consists of forms η satisfying $(F_{\infty}^* \otimes \tau)\eta = \eta$ and $\tau \eta = (-1)^{n-1}\eta$, i.e. real forms satisfying $F_{\infty}^* \eta = (-1)^{n-1}\eta$.

It is proved in [40][Thm. 3.5.4] that the map ρ coincides with the Beilinson regulator (up to a constant factor -2), hence we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{coker}(\rho) \to CH^n(\overline{\mathcal{X}})_{\mathbb{R}} \to CH^n(\mathcal{X})_{\mathbb{R}} \to 0$$

whose outer terms are isomorphic to the outer terms of (38), hence there exists an isomorphism on the middle terms.

REMARK 2.12. We have "constructed" the pairing (34) and the isomorphism (39) in an ad hoc way by choosing an isomorphism of middle terms in exact sequences whose outer terms are isomorphic. We expect that there is an isomorphism (39) so that the pairing (34) is the Arakelov intersection pairing of [40]/5.1.4]. By [60]/Eq. (18)] the space $H_c^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ is orthogonal to coker (r^{d-n}) under the Arakelov intersection pairing, and it remains to show that the induced pairing coincides with the pairing (18). Assuming finitedimensionality of $H^{2n}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$, the non-degeneracy of the Arakelov intersection pairing is a consequence of the standard conjectures for Arakelov Chow groups [61]/Prop. 3.1].

REMARK 2.13. The definition of Arakelov Chow groups depends on the choice of a Kähler metric on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ even though any two choices yield isomorphic groups [40]/Thm. 5.1.6]. Recall that the Deligne complex $R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{C}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ has a representative which in degrees 2n - 1 and 2n looks like [12]/Thm. 2.6]

$$\cdots \to \mathcal{D}^{n-1,n-1}_{\mathbb{R}}(n-1) \xrightarrow{(2\pi i)dd^c} \mathcal{D}^{n,n}_{\mathbb{R}}(n) \to \cdots$$

where $\mathcal{D}^{p,q}_{\mathbb{R}}(n)$ is the space of (p,q)-currents on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ tensored by $\mathbb{R}(n)$. A choice of Kähler metric also yields a harmonic projection [40]/5.1.1]

$$H: \mathcal{D}_{\mathbb{P}}^{n-1,n-1}(n-1) \to H^{n-1,n-1}(\mathcal{X})(n-1) = \ker(dd^c)$$

and hence a splitting σ of the Deligne complex as above.

3 Weil-étale cohomology of proper regular schemes

Throughout this section, \mathcal{X} denotes a regular scheme of pure dimension d, proper over Spec(\mathbb{Z}), and satisfying Conjectures $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$ and $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ stated in Section 3.2.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1447

3.1 NOTATIONS

1448

For any $n \ge 0$, we consider Bloch's cycle complex

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) := z^n(-, 2n - *)$$

as a complex of sheaves on the small étale topos \mathcal{X}_{et} of the scheme \mathcal{X} (see [64], [63], [37] and Section 6 for more details). We write $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n) := \mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n) := \varinjlim \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)$. For n < 0, we have $\mathbb{Q}(n) = 0$ hence $\mathbb{Z}(n) = \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)[-1]$. Proper base change and the projective bundle formula suggest $\mathbb{Z}/p^{r}\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq j_{p,!}(\mu_{p^{r}}^{\otimes n})$, where j_{p} is the open immersion $j_{p} : \mathcal{X}[1/p] \to \mathcal{X}, j_{p,!}$ is the extension by zero functor and $\mu_{p^{r}}$ is the étale sheaf of p^{r} -th roots of unity. This leads to the following definition. For n < 0 we define the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ on \mathcal{X}_{et} as follows (see also [36]):

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) := \bigoplus_{p} j_{p,!}(\mu_{p^{\infty}}^{\otimes n})[-1].$$

The complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and $R\widehat{\phi}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)$ over the Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ are defined in Appendix A. Recall that there is a canonical open embedding $\phi: \mathcal{X}_{et} \to \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$, where \mathcal{X}_{et} is the usual small étale topos of the scheme \mathcal{X} . We simply denote by $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ the hypercohomology of the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ over $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$. If $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) = \emptyset$, or if one is willing to ignore 2-torsion issues, one has quasi-isomorphisms (see Proposition 6.6)

$$R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n),$$

hence one may simply define

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ denotes the hypercohomology of the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ of sheaves over \mathcal{X}_{et} . We also denote

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\overline{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) := \operatorname{holim} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

If A is an abelian group, we denote by A_{tor} (resp. A_{div}) its maximal torsion (resp. divisible) subgroup, and by A_{cotor} (resp. A_{codiv}) the cokernel of the inclusion $A_{tor} \to A$ (resp. $A_{div} \to A$). We denote by ${}_{n}A$ (resp. A_{n}) the kernel (resp. the cokernel) of the multiplication map $n : A \to A$, and by $TA := \lim_{n \to \infty} A$ the Tate module of A. If A is torsion or profinite, A^{D} denotes its Pontryagin dual. We say that A is of *cofinite type* if A is of the form $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(B, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ where B is finitely generated. We denote by \mathcal{D} the derived category of abelian group. More generally, if T is a topos, we denote by $\mathcal{D}(T)$ the derived category of abelian sheaves on T. If C is an object of $\mathcal{D}(T)$ then we denote by $C_{\leq n}$ or by $\tau^{\leq n}C$ the good truncation of C in degrees $\leq n$.

3.2 Assumptions

The definition of Weil-étale cohomology requires the following conjectures.

CONJECTURE 3.1. **AV**($\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n$) There are compatible product maps $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and $R\phi_!\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(d-n) \to \mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$ inducing a perfect pairing of finite groups

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any m > 0.

Conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ holds in the following cases:

- for any n and \mathcal{X} smooth over a finite field;
- for any $n \leq 0$ or $n \geq d$ and \mathcal{X} regular;
- for any n and \mathcal{X} smooth over a number ring.

Indeed, the second case (respectively the third) is Corollary 6.26 (respectively Corollary 6.27). Assume that \mathcal{X} is smooth over a finite field of characteristic p. The result for m prime to p is well known. For $m = p^r$, it follows from $\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq \nu_r^n[-n]$ (see [34][Thm. 8.5] and from [70][Thm. 1.14].

CONJECTURE 3.2. $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ The group $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \leq 2n+1$ and vanishes for i << 0.

Conjecture $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ holds in the following cases:

- for dim $(\mathcal{X}) \leq 1$;
- for n = 1 and \mathcal{X} an arithmetic surface (or a surface over a finite field) with finite Brauer group;
- for $n \ge d-1$ or $n \le 1$ and \mathcal{X} in the category $A(\mathbb{F}_q)$ (see Section 3.6);
- for $n \ge d$ or $n \le 0$ and \mathcal{X} a regular cellular scheme over a number ring (more generally for $n \ge d$ or $n \le 0$ and \mathcal{X} regular in the class $\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{Z})$, see [72]).

We have the following slight reformulation.

LEMMA 3.3. Conjecture $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ is equivalent to

 $\mathbf{L}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, n)$: The group $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \leq 2n + 1$.

Proof. By Corollary 6.8 there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where $R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ has finite 2-torsion cohomology and is bounded below. Hence finite generation of $H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ for $i \leq 2n+1$ are

equivalent. If $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated its vanishing is implied by the vanishing of $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)/p)$ for all primes p and, if i << 0, by the vanishing of $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \tau^{\leq n}\mathbb{Z}(n)/p)$. By Prop. 6.9 and [92][Thm. 2.6] there is an isomorphism

$$j^* \phi^* \tau^{\leq n} \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} / p \cong \tau^{\leq n} \mathbb{Z}(n) / p \cong \mu_p^{\otimes r}$$

where

$$\mathcal{X}[1/p]_{et} \xrightarrow{j} \mathcal{X}_{et} \xrightarrow{\phi} \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$$

are the natural open immersions. Following the proof of Lemma 5.15 below we obtain an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p],\mu_{p}^{\otimes n}) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tau^{\leq n}\mathbb{Z}(n)/p) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mu_{p}^{\otimes n}) \oplus R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}},\tau^{\leq n}\mathbb{Z}(n)/p)$$

where the outer terms have vanishing cohomology for i << 0. For the complex $\tau^{\leq n}\mathbb{Z}(n)/p$ on $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ this follows from the proof of Lemma 7.7 which shows that the mapping fibre of $\tau^{\leq n}\mathbb{Z}(n)/p \to \tau^{\leq n}Rj_{p,*}\mu_p^{\otimes n}$ is quasi-isomorphic to $i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p[-2]$ in degrees $\leq n$, even without assuming Conj. 7.1. But $\mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p$ on $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is cohomologically bounded below by [92][Thm. 1.1].

3.3 The complex $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$

PROPOSITION 3.4. For any $i \ge 2n+2$ there is an isomorphism of cofinite type groups

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

For i = 2n + 1, there is an isomorphism of finite groups

$$H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} H^{2(d-n)+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^D.$$

For any $i \leq 2n$ there is an isomorphism of profinite groups

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

where $(-)^{\wedge}$ is the profinite completion.

Proof. The distinguished triangle

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Q}(n) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$$

and the fact that $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0$ for $i \ge 2n + 1$ imply

$$\begin{split} H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &= H^{i-1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ &\simeq \varinjlim H^{i-1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ &\simeq \varinjlim H^{2d+1-(i-1)}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^{D} \\ &\simeq \left(\varprojlim H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n))\right)^{D} \\ &\simeq H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^{D} \end{split}$$

for $i \ge 2n+2$. Indeed, to show the last isomorphism we consider the exact sequence

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)))_m \to H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n))) \\ &\to {}_m H^{2d+2-i+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \to 0. \end{split}$$

Passing to the limit we get

$$0 \to \varprojlim H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))_m \to \varprojlim H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n))$$
$$\to TH^{2d+2-i+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) = 0$$

since $H^{2d+2-i+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))$ is finitely generated for $i \geq 2n+2$. We obtain isomorphisms

$$(\varprojlim H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n)))^D \xrightarrow{\sim} (\varprojlim H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))_m)^D \\ \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))^D$$

again using finite generation of $H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))$. It remains to treat the case i = 2n + 1. The exact sequence

$$H^{2n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0$$

implies that $H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is torsion hence finite. We have an exact sequence

$$\begin{split} 0 \to \varprojlim H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_m \to \varprojlim H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ \to TH^{2n+2}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)). \end{split}$$

But $H^{2n+2}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is of cofinite type (thanks to the case $i \geq 2n+2$ treated above) hence its Tate module is torsion-free. We obtain

$$\begin{split} H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &= \varprojlim H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))_m \\ & \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \left(\varprojlim H^{2n+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \right)_{tors} \\ & \simeq \left(\varprojlim H^{2d+1-(2n+1)}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^D \right)_{tors} \\ & \simeq \left(H^{2(d-n)}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^D \right)_{tors} \\ & \simeq H^{2(d-n)+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))^D. \end{split}$$

THEOREM 3.5. There is a canonical morphism in \mathcal{D} :

 $\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n}: R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d-2]) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$

functorial in \mathcal{X} and such that $H^i(\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n})$ factors as follows

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}) \twoheadrightarrow H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{div} \hookrightarrow H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ & \text{where } H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z})_{div} \text{ denotes the maximal divisible subgroup of } H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}). \end{split}$$

Proof. We set $D_{\mathcal{X},n} := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d-2])$. Using Proposition 3.4, it is easy to see that the spectral sequence

$$\prod_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Ext}^{p}(H^{i}(D_{\mathcal{X},n}), H^{q+i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(R\operatorname{Hom}(D_{\mathcal{X},n}, R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))))$$

yields a canonical isomorphism

$$\prod_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Ext}^{0}(H^{i}(D_{\mathcal{X},n}),H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)))\simeq H^{0}(R\operatorname{Hom}(D_{\mathcal{X},n},R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)))).$$

For $i \leq 2n+1$ any map $H^i(\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n}) : H^i(D_{\mathcal{X},n}) \to H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ must be trivial since $H^i(D_{\mathcal{X},n}) = 0$. For any $i \geq 2n+2$ there is a canonical map $H^i(\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n})$:

$$H^{i}(D_{\mathcal{X},n}) = \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q})$$
$$\to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \xleftarrow{\sim} H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

Hence there exists a unique map

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n}: R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d-2]) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

inducing $H^i(\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n})$ on cohomology. The fact that $\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n}$ is functorial is shown in Theorem 3.9.

DEFINITION 3.6. Setting $\delta := 2d + 2$ we define $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$, up to noncanonical isomorphism, such that there is an exact triangle

$$RHom(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta]) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

We shall see below that $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is in fact defined up to a canonical isomorphism in the derived category (see Corollary 4.10). The long exact sequence of cohomology groups associated to the exact triangle of Definition 3.6 together with Proposition 3.4 yields the following

LEMMA 3.7. There is an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{codiv} \to H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)), \mathbb{Z}) \to 0$$

for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

PROPOSITION 3.8. The group $H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover one has $H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) = 0$ for almost all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. By Proposition 3.4, the group $H^{2d+2-(i+1)}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))$ is either finitely generated or of cofinite type and $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{codiv}$ is finitely generated. Hence the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{codiv} \to H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

$$\rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(H^{2d+2-(i+1)}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Z})\rightarrow 0$$

shows that $H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated. Moreover, $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) = 0$ for i << 0 and $H^j(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))$ is torsion for j > 2(d-n), hence $H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) = 0$ for i << 0. For i large, the group

$$H^{i+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{codiv} = H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))_{codiv} \simeq \left(H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d-n))^{D}\right)_{codiv}$$

vanishes by $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$.

THEOREM 3.9. Let $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be a flat morphism between proper regular arithmetic schemes of pure dimensions $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $d_{\mathcal{Y}}$ respectively. Assume that $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n), \mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d_{\mathcal{X}} - n), \mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n), \mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, n), \mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n), \mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, n),$ and $\mathbf{AV}(f, n)$ hold (see Section 6.10). We choose complexes $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ as in Definition 3.6. Then there exists a unique map in \mathcal{D}

$$f_W^* : R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

which sits in the morphism of exact triangles:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}]) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{X}}]) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \end{array}$$

Proof. We may assume \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} connected; thus \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} are proper regular connected arithmetic schemes of dimension $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $d_{\mathcal{Y}}$ respectively. We set $\delta_{\mathcal{X}} = 2d_{\mathcal{X}} + 2$ and $\delta_{\mathcal{Y}} = 2d_{\mathcal{Y}} + 2$. We choose complexes $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z})$ and $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z})$ as in Definition 3.6. Let $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be a morphism of relative dimension $c = d_{\mathcal{X}} - d_{\mathcal{Y}}$. Proper push-forward of cycles along the proper morphism f

$$z^m(\mathcal{X},*) \to z^{m-c}(\mathcal{Y},*)$$

induces a morphism

$$f_*\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n) \to \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n))[-2c]$$

of complexes of abelian Zariski sheaves on \mathcal{Y} . We have $f_*\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n) \simeq Rf_*\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)$. Indeed, for a scheme over a discrete valuation ring, the cohomology of cycle complex coincides with its Zariski hypercohomology. We obtain a morphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)) \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, f_*\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n))[-2c]$$

hence

$$RHom(R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}]) \to RHom(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{X}}]).$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1453

On the other hand, by Proposition 6.12, we have a pull-back map

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

We need to show that the following square

commutes. It is enough to show that the induced diagrams of cohomology groups commute. One may assume $i \geq 2n + 2$. Then the map $H^i(\alpha_{\mathcal{Y},n})$ coincides with the following composite map

$$\operatorname{Hom}(H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-i}(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n)),\mathbb{Q}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-i}(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n)),\mathbb{Q})$$
$$\to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-i}(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \xleftarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-i}(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$
$$\xleftarrow{\sim} \widehat{H}_{c}^{i-1}(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \widehat{H}^{i-1}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \widehat{H}^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

It follows from $\mathbf{AV}(f, n)$ that this map is functorial in \mathcal{Y} . Hence there exists a morphism

$$f_W^* : R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

inducing a morphism of exact triangles.

We claim that such a morphism f_W^* is unique. In order to ease the notations, we set

$$D_{\mathcal{X},n} := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{X}}])$$

 and

1454

$$D_{\mathcal{Y},n} := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}]).$$

The complexes $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ are both perfect complexes of abelian groups. Applying the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(-, R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)))$ to the exact triangle

$$D_{\mathcal{Y},n} \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to D_{\mathcal{Y},n}[1]$$

we obtain an exact sequence of abelian groups:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(D_{\mathcal{Y},n}[1], R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)), R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)))$$

$$\rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)),R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))).$$

On the one hand, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(D_{\mathcal{Y},n}[1], R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)))$ is uniquely divisible since $D_{\mathcal{Y},n}[1]$ is a complex of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces. On the other hand, the abelian group

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)),R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)))$$

Documenta Mathematica 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1455

is finitely generated as it follows from the spectral sequence

$$\prod_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Ext}^{p}(H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)),H^{q+i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(R\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)),R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))))$$

since $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are both perfect. Hence the morphism

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)),R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)))\to\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)),R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)))$

is injective. It follows that there exists a unique morphism f_W^\ast which renders the square

$$\begin{aligned} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ f^*_{et} & f^*_W \\ R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \end{aligned}$$

commutative.

COROLLARY 3.10. $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is well defined up to a unique isomorphism in \mathcal{D} .

Proof. Let $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))'$ be two complexes as above. By Theorem 3.9, the identity map $Id : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ induces a unique isomorphism $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))'$ in \mathcal{D} .

REMARK 3.11. Following [39] we denote by $\mathbb{Z}^{c}(n)$ the cycle complex with homological indexing and we keep $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ for the cycle complex with cohomological indexing, so that $\mathbb{Z}^{c}(n) = \mathbb{Z}(d-n)[2d]$ over a regular scheme of pure dimension d. One should think of $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}^{c}(n))$ (resp. of $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$) as Borel-Moore homology (resp. as étale motivic cohomology). Then, for any regular proper arithmetic scheme \mathcal{X} (not necessarily connected nor pure dimensional) satisfying our standard assumptions, one may define the Weil-étale complex $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ by the exact triangle

$$R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}^{c}(n)),\mathbb{Q}[-2])\to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\to$$

which is somewhat more natural. However, in order to avoid confusion, we use exclusively cohomological indexing for the cycle complex throughout this paper. Accordingly, we use the triangle of Definition 3.6 in order to define the Weil-étale complexes.

3.4 RATIONAL COEFFICIENTS

COROLLARY 3.12. There is a canonical direct sum decomposition

 $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q}\xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))\oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1])$

which is functorial with respect to flat morphisms of proper regular arithmetic schemes.

Proof. Assume that \mathcal{X} is connected of dimension d and write $\delta = 2d + 2$. Applying $(-) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ to the exact triangle of Definition 3.6, we obtain an exact triangle

$$RHom(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta]) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

We write $D := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta])$ for brevity. The exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(D[1], R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n))) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}, R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)))$$

 $\to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)), R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n))) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(D, R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)))$

yields an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z})_{\mathbb{Q}},R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)),R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))),$$

since $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n))$ is a complex of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces concentrated in degrees $\leq 2n$ and the complex $R\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n))_{\geq 0}, \mathbb{Q}[-\delta])$ is acyclic in degrees $\leq 2n+1$. This yields the canonical direct sum decomposition.

It remains to show that this direct sum decomposition is functorial. Let $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be a flat map between regular proper schemes. One may assume \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} connected of dimension $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $d_{\mathcal{Y}}$ respectively. We set $\delta_{\mathcal{X}} = 2d_{\mathcal{X}} + 2$ and $\delta_{\mathcal{Y}} = 2d_{\mathcal{Y}} + 2$. Flat pull-back of cycles yields a map

$$u: R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n))$$

while proper push-forward of cycles yields a map

 $v: R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}]) \to R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)), \mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{X}}]).$

In order to show that the diagram of complexes of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q}\longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))\oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta_{\mathcal{X}}])[1]$$

commutes in \mathcal{D} , it is enough to show that the following square

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(n))\oplus H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-(i+1)}(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n))^{*} \\ & \downarrow^{f^{*}_{W}} & \downarrow^{(u,v)} \\ H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))\oplus H^{\delta_{\mathcal{X}}-(i+1)}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n))^{*} \end{array}$$

commutes for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $(-)^*$ denotes the dual \mathbb{Q} -vector space. The result is obvious for $i \geq 2n+1$ since we then have

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0.$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1456

Hence the diagram is commutative for $i \ge 2n+1$ by Theorem 3.9. For i < 2n+1, we have

$$H^{\delta_{\mathcal{Y}}-(i+1)}(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n))^*=H^{\delta_{\mathcal{X}}-(i+1)}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n))^*=0$$

and the horizontal maps in the square above are inverse isomorphisms to

$$H^i(\mathcal{Y}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \text{ and } H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

respectively. Hence the result follows from the fact that

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q} \longleftarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(n)) \\ & \downarrow^{f^{*}_{W}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{u} \\ H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q} \longleftarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)) \end{array}$$

commutes, again by Theorem 3.9.

3.5 TORSION COEFFICIENTS

LEMMA 3.13. For any positive integer m, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$$

which is functorial with respect to flat morphisms of proper regular arithmetic schemes.

Proof. Consider the exact triangle

$$R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta])\to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\to R\Gamma$$

where $\delta := 2d + 2$. Taking derived tensor product $- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ we obtain an exact triangle

$$0 \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$$

since we have canonical isomorphisms

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L}\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}\simeq R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and

$$R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta])\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L}\mathbb{Z}/m=0.$$

It follows that the map

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$$

is an isomorphism in the derived category. It is functorial by Theorem 3.9. \Box

1458 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

3.6 Relationship with the Lichtenbaum-Geisser definition over finite fields

Let Y be a smooth proper scheme over a finite field k. We may assume that Y is connected and d-dimensional. In this section, we show that the Weil-étale complex $R\Gamma_W(Y,\mathbb{Z}(n))$ defined in this paper is (expected to be) canonically isomorphic in the derived category to the Weil-étale complex defined in [36], and we describe the relationship between the conjecture $L(Y_{et}, n)$ stated in Section 3.2 and the conjecture $L(Y_W, n)$ stated in [36].

We denote by W_k the Weil group of the finite field k. The Weil-étale topos Y_W is the category of W_k -equivariant sheaves of sets on the étale site of $Y \otimes_k \overline{k}$, where \overline{k}/k is an algebraic closure. By [36] one has an exact triangle in the derived category $\mathcal{D}(Y_{et})$

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) \to R\gamma_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Q}(n)[-1] \to \mathbb{Z}(n)[1]$$

where $\gamma: Y_W \to Y_{et}$ is the canonical map. Applying $R\Gamma(Y_{et}, -)$ and rotating, we get

$$R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)[-2]) \to R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)[-2])[1].$$

The following conjecture is due to T. Geisser and S. Lichtenbaum.

CONJECTURE 3.14. $L(Y_W, n)$ For every *i*, the group $H^i(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated.

The following conjecture is due to T. Geisser and B. Kahn (see [54] and [36]). Consider the map $c_l : R\gamma_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_l \to R\lim \mathbb{Z}/l^r\mathbb{Z}(n)$ in $\mathcal{D}(Y_{et})$ [36].

CONJECTURE 3.15. $K(Y_W, n)$ For every prime l and any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, the map c_l induces an isomorphism

$$H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Z}_{l}\simeq H^{i}_{cont}(Y,\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n)).$$

Consider the full subcategory A(k) of the category of smooth projective varieties over the finite field k generated by products of curves and the following operations:

(1) If X and Y are in A(k) then $X \coprod Y$ is in A(k).

(2) If Y is in A(k) and there are morphisms $c : X \to Y$ and $c' : Y \to X$ in the category of Chow motives, such that $c' \circ c : X \to X$ is multiplication by a constant, then X is in A(k).

(3) If k'/k is a finite extension and $X \times_k k'$ is in A(k), then X is in A(k).

(4) If Y is a closed subscheme of X with X and Y in A(k), then the blow-up X' of X along Y is in A(k).

The following result is due to T. Geisser [36].

THEOREM 3.16. (Geisser) Let Y be a smooth projective variety of dimension d.

- One has $K(Y_W, n) + K(Y_W, d - n) \Rightarrow L(Y_W, n) \Rightarrow K(Y_W, n).$

- If Y belongs to A(k) then $L(Y_W, n)$ holds for $n \leq 1$ and $n \geq d-1$.

PROPOSITION 3.17. Let Y be a connected smooth projective scheme over a finite field of dimension d. Then we have

$$L(Y_W, n) \Rightarrow L(Y_{et}, n).$$

Proof. By [36], one has an exact sequence

$$\to H^i(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^i(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^{i-1}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \to H^{i+1}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H$$

With rational coefficients, this exact sequence yields isomorphisms

$$H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Q}\simeq H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{Q}(n))\simeq H^{i}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Q}(n))\oplus H^{i-1}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Q}(n)).$$
 (41)

Assume now that Conjecture $L(Y_W, n)$ holds. Let us first show that $H^i(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finite for $i \neq 2n, 2n + 1$. By Theorem 3.16, Conjecture $K(Y_W, n)$ holds, i.e. we have an isomorphism

$$H^{i}(Y_{W},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{Z}_{l}\simeq H^{i}_{cont}(Y,\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))$$

for any l and any i. But for $i \neq 2n, 2n+1$, the group $H^i_{cont}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_l(n))$ is finite for any l and zero for almost all l [33] (see also the proof of Cor. 3.8 in [54]). Hence $H^i(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finite for $i \neq 2n, 2n+1$. Then (41) gives $H^i(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) =$ 0 for $i \neq 2n$. The exact sequence above then shows that $H^i(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \rightarrow$ $H^i(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is injective for $i \leq 2n+1$, hence that $H^i(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \leq 2n+1$.

COROLLARY 3.18. Any variety Y in A(k) satisfies $L(Y_{et}, n)$ and $L(Y_{et}, d-n)$ for $n \leq 1$.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 3.16 and Proposition 3.17.

CONJECTURE 3.19. P(Y,n) The intersection product induces a perfect pairing:

$$CH^n(Y)_{\mathbb{O}} \times CH^{d-n}(Y)_{\mathbb{O}} \to CH^d(Y)_{\mathbb{O}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

Note that $CH^d(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\text{deg}} \mathbb{Q}$ is known to be an isomorphism by class field theory.

THEOREM 3.20. If Y satisfies $L(Y_{et}, n)$, $L(Y_{et}, d - n)$ and P(Y, n) then there is an isomorphism in \mathcal{D}

$$R\Gamma(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_W(Y, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where the left hand side is the cohomology of the Weil-étale topos and the right hand side is the complex defined in this paper.

Proof. We shall show that there is a commutative diagram in \mathcal{D} :

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(Y_{et},\mathbb{Q}(n)[-2]) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ \simeq & \bigvee \qquad \qquad Id \\ R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(Y,\mathbb{Q}(d-n))_{\geq 0},\mathbb{Q}[-2d-2]) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{Y,n}} R\Gamma(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \end{split}$$

where the vertical maps are isomorphisms. This will imply the existence of an isomorphism $R\Gamma(Y_W, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_W(Y, \mathbb{Z}(n))$, whose uniqueness follows from the argument given in the proof of Theorem 3.9.

One has $H^{2d}(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d)) = CH^d(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q}$ and $H^i(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d)) = 0$ for i > 2d. This yields a map $R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d))) \to \mathbb{Q}[-2d]$. Moreover, since Y is smooth over the field k, we have a product map

$$R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \otimes R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)) \to R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d)).$$

We obtain a morphism

1460

$$R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \simeq \Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \longrightarrow R\mathrm{Hom}(\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d]).$$
(42)

The conjunction of Conjectures $L(Y_{et}, n)$, $L(Y_{et}, d-n)$ and P(Y, n) implies that $R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n))$ is concentrated in degree 2n and that the morphism (42) is a quasi-isomorphism. Indeed, assuming $L(Y_{et}, n)$ and $L(Y_{et}, d-n)$ we get, by Proposition 3.4, the finiteness of $H^{2n+1}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and an isomorphism

$$H^{i}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}))$$

for $i \geq 2n+2$. Hence $H^i(Y, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0$ for $i \geq 2n+1$. For $i \leq 2n$ we have

$$H^{i}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d+2-i}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}))$$

But $H^{2d+2-i}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n))$ is finite for $i \leq 2n-1$. Indeed, writing j = 2d+2-iand t = d-n, we need $H^j(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(t))$ finite for $j \geq 2t+3$. But in this range we have

$$H^{j}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Z}(t)) = H^{j-1}(Y_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(t))$$

since $H^j(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(t)) = 0$ for j > 2t. Moreover Y satisfies Artin-Verdier duality with mod-*m* coefficients (see Conjecture 3.1), since $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n) = \mu_m^{\otimes n}$ for *p* not dividing *m* and $\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq \nu_r^n[-n]$. Passing to the limit we get an isomorphism of profinite groups

$$H^{j-1}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(t))^{D} = H^{2d+1-(j-1)}(Y_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) = \prod_{l} H^{2d+1-(j-1)}_{cont}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}_{l}(n)).$$

For $j-1 \ge 2t+2$, this group is finite (indeed, for $i \ne 2t, 2t+1$ the *l*-adic cohomology group $H^i_{cont}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}_l(t))$ is finite for all *l* and trivial for almost all
1461

l [33]). We obtain that $H^i(Y, \mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0$ for $i \neq 2n$. Hence we have canonical isomorphisms

$$RHom(R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d]) \simeq Hom(H^{2d-2n}(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q})[-2n]$$
$$\simeq CH^{d-n}(Y)^*_{\mathbb{Q}}[-2n]$$

and

$$R\Gamma(Y,\mathbb{Q}(n)) \simeq H^{2n}(Y,\mathbb{Q}(n))[-2n] \simeq CH^r(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}}[-2n]$$

Moreover the map

$$H^{2n}(Y,\mathbb{Q}(n)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2d-2n}(Y,\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q})$$

is given by the intersection pairing

$$CH^n(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \times CH^{d-n}(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to CH^d(Y)_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{Q}.$$

Therefore, it follows from the conjunction of Conjectures $L(Y_{et}, n)$, $L(Y_{et}, d-n)$ and P(Y, n) that the map (42) is an isomorphism.

It remains to check the commutativity of the above diagram. The complex

$$D_{Y,n} := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d-2]) \simeq R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Q}(n)[-2])$$

is concentrated in degree 2n+2, hence acyclic in degrees > 2n+2. The spectral sequence

$$\prod_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\operatorname{Ext}^{p}(H^{i}(D_{Y,n}), H^{q+i}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(R\operatorname{Hom}(D_{Y,n}, R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))))$$

degenerates at E_2 and yields an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(D_{Y,n}, R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\leq 2n+2}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(H^{2n+2}(D_{Y,n}), H^{2n+2}(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)))$$

since $D_{Y,n}$ is quasi-isomorphic to a \mathbb{Q} -vector space put in degree 2n + 2 while $H^i(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \leq 2n$ and finite for i = 2n + 1. One is therefore reduced to show the commutativity of the following square (of abelian groups):

where the left vertical map is given by the intersection pairing. The fact that this square commutes follows from Geisser's description of the differential map $d_2^{2n,1}$, see [36].

COROLLARY 3.21. Let Y be a connected smooth projective scheme over a finite field of dimension d. Then we have

$$L(Y_W, n) + L(Y_W, d - n) \Leftrightarrow L(Y_{et}, n) + L(Y_{et}, d - n) + P(Y, n).$$

Proof. Assume $L(Y_{et}, n)$, $L(Y_{et}, d - n)$ and P(Y, n). Then $R\Gamma_W(Y, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(Y, \mathbb{Z}(d - n))$ are well defined and have finitely generated cohomology groups. Hence Conjecture $L(Y_W, n)$ and $L(Y_W, d - n)$ follow from Theorem 3.20.

Assume $L(Y_W, n)$ and $L(Y_W, d - n)$. Conjectures $L(Y_{et}, n)$ and $L(Y_{et}, d - n)$ then hold by Proposition 3.17. The fact that $L(Y_W, n)$ and $L(Y_W, d - n)$ imply P(Y, n) is proven in [36].

3.7 Weil-étale duality

1462

THEOREM 3.22. There is a canonical product map

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]$$

such that the induced map

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])$$

is an isomorphism of perfect complexes of abelian groups.

Proof. First we consider the map

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}^L R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))_{\mathbb{Q}}\longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}[-2d-1]$$

given, thanks to Corollary 3.12, by the sum of the following tautological maps

 $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n))\otimes^{L}_{\mathbb{Q}}R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta])[1]\to\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1],$

$$R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-\delta])[1]\otimes^L_{\mathbb{O}}R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n))\to\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1].$$

Recall that we denote continuous étale cohomology with $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n)$ -coefficients by

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) := \operatorname{holim} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

Conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ provides us with a map $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ inducing a morphism

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) &\to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d)) \\ &\to \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1] \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]. \end{split}$$

By adjunction, we obtain

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \to R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])$$

 and

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d-n)) \to R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])$$

Moreover, the maps

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \simeq R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

yield a map

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n))$$

inducing the following morphism on cohomology:

$$H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n)).$$

Then we consider the maps

$$R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]$$

 and

$$R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d-n)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1].$$

We need to see that these two maps give the same element in

$$\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])$$

 $\simeq \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}[-2d-1]).$

But these maps are both induced by the limit of

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes^L_{\mathbb{Z}}R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))$$

$$\to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to \mathbb{Z}/m[-2d-1],$$

hence they coincide. We obtain a canonical map

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^L \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1].$$
(43)

We now consider the diagram

We explain why the lower square is commutative. Unwinding the definitions, we see that the following square

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L}R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n),\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1]) &\longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}[-2d-1] \\ & \downarrow \\ a\otimes b & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L}R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) &\longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1] \end{split}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

commutes, where $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{a} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(n))$ is the obvious map and

$$RHom(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n),\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1]) \xrightarrow{b} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)))$$
$$\rightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n))[1]$$

is $\alpha_{\mathcal{X},d-n}[1]$. Moreover, the square

commutes as well, where the top horizontal arrow is the zero map. It follows that the lower square of the diagram above commutes.

Then the existence of the upper horizontal map $p_{n,d-n}$ follows from the fact that the columns of the diagram above are exact triangles. Its uniqueness follows from the argument given in the proof of Theorem 3.9. By adjunction we obtain

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]).$$
 (44)

Applying the functor $(-) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ to (44) we obtain the map

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \rightarrow R\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n))[-1], \mathbb{Z}[-2d-1])(45)$$
$$\simeq R\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) (46)$$

where we identify $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m$ with $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(n))$. By construction, (45) is the map induced by $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},n)$, which is an isomorphism by assumption. So (44) is a morphism in \mathcal{D} of perfect complexes of abelian groups such that

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$$

is an isomorphism for any m. It follows that (44) is an isomorphism as well.

3.8 The complex $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$

We continue to use the notations of Section 6. In particular, we denote by $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ the set of complex points of \mathcal{X} endowed with the complex topology. Complex conjugation gives a continuous action of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$, and we denote by $\mathcal{X}_{\infty} := \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/G_{\mathbb{R}}$ the quotient topological space. We also denote by $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ the topos of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaves on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$, and by $R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), -)$ the cohomology of the topos $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$. We consider the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaves given by the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -modules $(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z}$. We denote by $\pi : Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \to Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ the canonical morphism of topoi. Recall that there is a natural transformation $R\pi_* \to R\widehat{\pi}_*$, where $R\widehat{\pi}_*$ is the functor defined in Section 6.4.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1465

DEFINITION 3.23. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we define the complex of sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{∞} :

$$i_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n) := \operatorname{Cone}(R\pi_*(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \tau^{>n} R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z})[-1]$$

and we set

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},i_{\infty}^*\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

For $n \geq 0$, the canonical map $\tau^{>n}R\pi_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z} \to \tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}$ is a quasiisomorphism (see the proof of Lemma 6.7), so that we have a quasi-isomorphism

$$i_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \tau^{\leq n} R \pi_* (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z}$$

for $n \ge 0$. There is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{t} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}).$$
(47)

The projective bundle formula

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathbb{P}^N_{\mathcal{X},\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq \bigoplus_{i=0}^{i=N} R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_\infty,\mathbb{Z}(n-i))[-2i]$$

can be obtained using (47) and an argument similar to the one given in the proof of Proposition 6.29. We consider the representative of $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ given by the mapping fibre of the second map t in the triangle (47). Consider the map of complexes (16)

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}).$$

We may redefine the object $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \in \mathcal{D}$ as the one given by the mapping fibre of the map of complexes

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Z}).$$

The square of complexes

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}) \\ & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}) \end{split}$$

commutes. By functoriality of the cone, we obtain a canonical map

 $u_{\infty}^{*}: R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n)).$

PROPOSITION 3.24. There exists a unique map

 $i_{\infty}^* : R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$

which renders the following square commutative:

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ & \downarrow^{u^*_{\infty}} & \downarrow^{i^*_{\infty}} \\ R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id}} R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \end{split}$$

Moreover, the square

commutes, where the top horizontal map is the isomorphism of Corollary 3.12.

Proof. We set $D_{\mathcal{X},n} := R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)), \mathbb{Q}[-2d-2])$. It follows from Lemma 3.25 below and from the fact that $D_{\mathcal{X},n}$ is acyclic in degrees < 2n+2 that the composite map

$$D_{\mathcal{X},n} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{\mathcal{X},n}} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$
(48)

is the zero map. The existence of i_{∞}^* follows. Its uniqueness can then be obtained as in Theorem 3.9, using the fact that both $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are perfect complexes.

We now show the second statement of the proposition. The exact triangle

$$D_{\mathcal{X},n} \to \tau^{\geq 2n+1} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \tau^{\geq 2n+1} R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and the argument given in the proof of Theorem 3.9 show that the map from

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)),\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)))$$

 to

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)),\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)))$$

is injective. Hence the fact that $\tau^{\geq 2n+1}u_{\infty}^*$ is torsion (see Lemma 3.25 below) implies that $\tau^{\geq 2n+1}i_{\infty}^*$ is torsion as well. It follows that

$$\tau^{\geq 2n+1}(i_{\infty}^* \otimes \mathbb{Q}) : D_{\mathcal{X},n}[-1] \simeq \tau^{\geq 2n+1} R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$
$$\to \tau^{\geq 2n+1} R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

is the zero map. The fact that $\tau^{\leq 2n}(i_{\infty}^* \otimes \mathbb{Q})$ may be identified with $u_{\infty}^* \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ follows from the commutativity of the first square of the proposition.

LEMMA 3.25. The map

$$\tau^{\geq 2n+1}(u_{\infty}^{*}): \tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

is torsion.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

Proof. In view of the exact triangle (47), one is reduced to showing that the composite map

$$v:\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\to\tau^{\geq 2n+1}R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Z})$$

is torsion. Denote by $\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))'$ the cokernel of the morphism of complexes

$$H^{2n}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))_{div}[-2n] \to \tau^{\leq 2n} \tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$$
$$\to \tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

Similarly, let $\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})'$ be the cokernel of the morphism of complexes

$$H^{2n}(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{div}[-2n] \to \tau^{\geq 2n}R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then we have a commutative square

where the upper horizontal map is a quasi-isomorphism. One is therefore reduced to showing that \tilde{v} is torsion. Note also that $H^{2n}(\tau^{\geq 2n}R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))')$ is finite. Verdier's spectral sequence (tensored with \mathbb{Q}) shows that \tilde{v} is torsion if and only if the induced map

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))_{div} \to H^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2\pi i)^{n} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{div}$$

is the zero map for any $i \ge 2n + 1$. Since the kernel of the map

$$H^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2\pi i)^{n} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{div} \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2\pi i)^{n} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{div}$$

is killed by a power of 2, it suffices to show that

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))_{div} \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{div}$$

$$\tag{49}$$

is the zero map for any $i \ge 2n+1$.

The map (49) factors through $\left(H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},et},\mu^{\otimes n})^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\right)_{div}$ where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q}$ is an algebraic closure and μ is the étale sheaf on $\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ of all roots of unity. It is therefore enough to showing that

$$\left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},et},\mu^{\otimes n})^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\right)_{div} = \bigoplus_{l} \left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\right)_{div} = 0$$
(50)

for any $i \geq 2n + 1$. Let l be a fixed prime number. Let $U \subseteq \text{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ be an open subscheme on which l is invertible and such that $\mathcal{X}_U \to U$ is smooth, and let $p \in U$. By smooth and proper base change we have:

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{I_{p}} \simeq H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{n},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))$$

where I_p denotes an inertia subgroup at p. Recall that $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Z}_l(n))$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{Z}_l -module. We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p,et}}, \mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))_{cotor} \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p,et}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}(n)) \to H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p,et}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))_{div} \to 0.$$

We get

$$0 \to (H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Z}_l(n))_{cotor})^{G_{\mathbb{F}_p}} \to H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Q}_l(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_p}}$$

$$\to (H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p,\,et},\mathbb{Q}_l/\mathbb{Z}_l(n))_{div})^{G_{\mathbb{F}_p}} \to H^1(G_{\mathbb{F}_p},H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p,\,et},\mathbb{Z}_l(n))_{cotor})$$

Again, $H^1(G_{\mathbb{F}_p}, H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Z}_l(n))_{cotor})$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{Z}_l -module, hence we get a surjective map

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p}, et}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}} \to ((H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p}, et}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))_{div})^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}})_{div} \to 0.$$

Note that

$$\left((H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p,\,et}},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))_{div})^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}\right)_{div} = \left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p,\,et}},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}\right)_{div}.$$

By the Weil Conjectures, $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Q}_l(n))$ is pure of weight i-2n. For $i \geq 2n+1$, we have i-2n > 0, hence there is no non-trivial element in $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p, et}, \mathbb{Q}_l(n))$ fixed by the Frobenius. This shows that

$$\left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}\right)_{div}=H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}=0$$

hence that

$$\left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}}\right)_{div} \simeq \left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p},et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}\right)_{div} = 0$$

A fortiori, one has

$$\left(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}},\,et},\mathbb{Q}_{l}/\mathbb{Z}_{l}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\right)_{div}=0$$

for $i \ge 2n+1$, and the result follows.

DEFINITION 3.26. We define $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$, up to a non-canonical isomorphism in \mathcal{D} , such that we have an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{i_{\infty}^{*}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
(51)

The determinant $\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is well defined up to a canonical isomorphism.

To see that $\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is indeed well defined, consider another object $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))'$ of \mathcal{D} endowed with an exact triangle (51). There exists a (non-unique) morphism

$$u: R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))'$$

lying in a morphism of exact triangles

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow \\ \exists u \middle| \simeq & Id \middle| & Id \middle| \\ R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))' &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\longrightarrow \end{split}$$

The map u induces

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}}(u): \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))'$$

which does not depend on the choice of u [59].

4 Weil-Arakelov Cohomology of proper regular schemes

In this section \mathcal{X} denotes a regular scheme proper over \mathbb{Z} of pure dimension d which satisfies $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ and $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$ and $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$. The Weil-Arakelov complexes we introduce in this section will only play a minor role in subsequent sections (in Conjecture 5.11 which does not really need them for its formulation), and we mainly discuss them to make precise the picture outlined in the introduction. The Weil-Arakelov complexes defined in subsections 4.2 and 4.4 below will only be specified up to a *noncanonical* isomorphism because they are defined as mapping fibres or mapping cones in the derived category of abelian groups. We certainly do expect a canonical construction of these objects when the geometry underlying Arakelov theory is better understood but we do not have better definitions at this point. There are more complexes than those discussed below for which we have definitions, for example $R\Gamma_{\rm ar}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$, but these definitions are of the same preliminary nature and we do not include them.

4.1 Weil-Arakelov cohomology with $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)$ -coefficients

For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ recall the diagram (31) of (perfect) complexes of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces.

DEFINITION 4.1. For each complex $R\Gamma_{?}(Y, \mathbb{R}(n))$ in diagram (31) set

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},?}(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) := R\Gamma_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n))[-1].$$
(52)

We define a map $\xrightarrow{\cup \theta}$ by commutativity of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^i_{\mathrm{ar},?}(Y,\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\cup\theta} & H^{i+1}_{\mathrm{ar},?}(Y,\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \\ & \parallel & & \parallel \\ H^i_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus H^{i-1}_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathrm{id} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}} & H^{i+1}_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus H^i_?(Y,\mathbb{R}(n)) \end{array}$$

so that there is a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},?}(Y, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} H^{i+1}_{\mathrm{ar},?}(Y, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup \theta} \cdots$$
(53)

The motivation for this definition is its compatibility with previous work on Weil-étale cohomology, with the Weil-Arakelov groups with $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients defined below, and possibly also with the conjectural picture of Deninger [21]. The dualities (19), $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and (34) imply corresponding dualities for the Weil-Arakelov groups where the top degree is increased by one. We record the duality implied by (34) in the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 4.2. There is a canonical homomorphism $H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(d)) \to \mathbb{R}$ and a perfect duality

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(d)) \to \mathbb{R}$$

of finite-dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector spaces for all $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover we have

$$H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) = 0 \quad \text{for } i \neq 2n, 2n+1.$$

Proof. This is immediate from Prop. 2.10.

4.2 Weil-Arakelov cohomology of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$

Recall the direct sum decomposition

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)) \oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1])$$

of Corollary 3.12 which induces a decomposition

 $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n)),\mathbb{R}[-2d-1]).$ (54) Also recall the map (32)

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\rho} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

where ρ is the Beilinson regulator and σ a splitting of the natural inclusion

$$\tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)).$$

We obtain a composite map

 $R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\otimes 1} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\pi_{1}} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma \circ \rho} \tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$ (55) where π_{1} is the first projection in (54).

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

DEFINITION 4.3. Define $R\Gamma_{ar}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ as a mapping fibre of the map (55).

By definition there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to .$$
(56)

PROPOSITION 4.4. There is a map in the derived category

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$
 (57)

where $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\bar{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n))$ was defined in (52).

Proof. By definition

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\bar{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(\bar{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma(\bar{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n))[-1],$$

so to define (57) we need to define its two components. Recall from section 2.3 that $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$ was defined as the mapping fibre of $\sigma \circ \rho$. Hence we obtain an induced map on mapping fibres

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$

which is the first component of (57). The second component is the composite

$$\begin{split} &R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to \\ & \xrightarrow{\pi_{2}} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n))^{*}[-2d-1] \xleftarrow{B} R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))[-1] \xrightarrow{\iota} R\Gamma(\bar{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n))[-1] \end{split}$$

where π_2 is the second projection in (54), *B* is the duality isomorphism of conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and ι is the natural map arising from the respective mapping fibre definitions of its source and target.

DEFINITION 4.5. Define $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ as a mapping cone of the map (57).

By definition there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$

The following proposition gives an analogue of (56) for $\mathbb{\tilde{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients. Define the complex $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ as the mapping cone of the map $\otimes 1$ in (55) so that there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\otimes 1} R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$
(58)

PROPOSITION 4.6. There is an exact triangle

$$\left(\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))\right) [-2] \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$
(59)

Proof. The definition of $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ as a mapping fibre of the composite map $(\sigma\rho\pi_1) \circ \otimes 1$ gives an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))[-1] \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathrm{Cone}(\sigma \rho \pi_1)[-1] \to \mathbb{Z}$$

and one has an isomorphism

1472

$$\operatorname{Cone}(\sigma\rho\pi_1)[-1] \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(d-n)), \mathbb{R}[-2d-1]).$$

The definition of $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ as a mapping cone of the composite map $(\mathrm{id} \oplus \iota B^{-1}) \circ \alpha$ gives an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \mathrm{Cone}(\mathrm{id} \oplus \iota B^{-1}) \to .$$

Since $\operatorname{Cone}(\operatorname{id} \oplus \iota B^{-1}) \cong \operatorname{Cone}(\iota)$ and one has an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\iota[1]} R\Gamma(\bar{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to \tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to$$

the proposition follows.

REMARK 4.7. One has two exact sequences

r - 1

where the top row is the exact sequence (40) of Gillet and Soule, the bottom sequence is induced by the exact triangle (56), ϵ is the natural map from the higher Chow complex to its étale hypercohomology and $\bar{\epsilon}$ we only expect to exist. However, even if $\bar{\epsilon}$ does exist it will not in general be an isomorphism because ϵ may not be an isomorphism. In general we expect the maps ϵ and $\bar{\epsilon}$ to have finite kernel and cokernel. We also remark that $H_{ar}^i(\bar{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ can be nonzero both for i < 2n and i > 2n and satisfies the duality in Theorem 4.9 below.

Deligne cohomology $R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$ is contravariantly functorial and so is its truncation $\tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$ whereas the complex $R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is contravariantly functorial for flat morphisms.

LEMMA 4.8. Let $f : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a flat morphism. Then there exists a (nonunique) map

$$f^*: R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

sitting in a morphism of exact triangles

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \longrightarrow \\ & \downarrow^{f^{*}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \\ R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{Y}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \longrightarrow \end{split}$$

1473

Proof. We need to show that the outer square in the diagram

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} & \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)) & \longrightarrow \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} & \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y},\mathbb{Q}(n)) & \longrightarrow \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{Y}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \end{split}$$

commutes in the derived category. But the left square clearly commutes, the middle square commutes by Corollary 3.12 and the right square commutes by functoriality of the Beilinson regulator. $\hfill \Box$

4.3 Weil-Arakelov duality for $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$

We have already noted in Prop. 4.2 a duality for Weil-Arakelov cohomology with $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)$ -coefficients. In this section we establish a Pontryagin duality between Weil-Arakelov cohomology with $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ and $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)$ coefficients.

For homological algebra of locally compact abelian groups we refer to [45]. A continuous homomorphism $f: A \to B$ of locally compact abelian groups is called *strict* if $A/ker(f) \to B$ is a closed embedding, and a complex of locally compact abelian groups is called *strictly acyclic* if all differentials are strict and the complex is acyclic in the usual sense. The bounded derived category of locally compact abelian groups is defined in [45] by inverting all maps of complexes whose mapping cone is strictly acyclic.

We denote by G^D the Pontryagin dual of a locally compact abelian group G. The functor $(-)^D$ preserves strict morphisms and strictly acyclic complexes and extends to the bounded derived category of [45]. Examples of objects in this category are bounded complexes P^{\bullet} (resp. V^{\bullet}) of finitely generated free abelian groups (resp. \mathbb{R} -vector spaces) as well as the complexes $R\Gamma_{\rm ar}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $R\Gamma_{\rm ar}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ defined in Def. 4.3 and 4.5, respectively. To see this note that any map $P^{\bullet} \to V^{\bullet}$ in the derived category of abelian groups can be realized by a map of complexes which is automatically continuous since the P^i carry the discrete topology. There is a natural isomorphism

$$(V^{\bullet})^D \cong (V^{\bullet})^*$$

and a short exact sequence of complexes

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(P^{\bullet}, \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\iota} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(P^{\bullet}, \mathbb{R}) \to (P^{\bullet})^{D} \to 0.$$
(60)

Finally note that the cohomology groups of a complex of locally compact abelian groups (taken in the category of abelian groups) carry an induced topology which however need not be locally compact.

THEOREM 4.9. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a quasi-isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))^D \cong R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n))[2d+1]$$

and the cohomology groups of both complexes are locally compact. The isomorphism $% \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{L}}^{(n)}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{L}})$

$$H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is canonical and hence one obtains a Pontryagin duality

1474

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Proof. One has an isomorphism of exact triangles with $\delta = 2d + 1$

where the top row is the Pontryagin dual of (58) and the middle isomorphism is clear from (54). More concretely, if P^{\bullet} denotes a representative of $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and ι denotes the map in (60) then β is the map from the cone of ι to the quotient complex of ι (see [90][1.5.8]), combined with the duality isomorphism of Theorem 3.22. Furthermore, one has an isomorphism of exact triangles

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))^{D} \leftarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))^{D} \leftarrow \left(\tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{D}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))\right)^{D}$$

$$\beta^{\prime} \uparrow \sim \qquad \beta^{\uparrow} \sim \qquad \beta^{\prime\prime} \uparrow \sim$$

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n))[\delta] \leftarrow R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(d-n))[\delta] \leftarrow \left(\tau^{\geq 2(d-n)}R\Gamma_{D}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(d-n))\right)[\delta-2]$$
(61)

where the top row is the Pontryagin dual of (56) and β'' arises from the duality (19) for Deligne cohomology

$$\left(\tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \right)^* \cong \tau^{\geq -2n+1} \left(R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(d-n))[2d-1] \right) \cong \left(\tau^{\geq 2(d-n)} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(d-n)) \right) [\delta-2].$$

The bottom row is (59) with n replaced by d-n. The quasi-isomorphism β' is non-canonical, quite like our pairing in Prop. 2.10. However, in degree 2d + 1, one has a canonical isomorphism

$$H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(d)) \cong \mathbb{R}$$

arising from Lemma 2.3 and Definition 4.1 and a canonical isomorphism

$$H^{2d+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \cong H^{2d+1}_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \cong \mathbb{Z}$$

arising from Theorem 3.22 and the map defined in Prop. 4.4 is in fact the inclusion.

1475

The long exact sequence induced by (56) gives an isomorphism

$$H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))\cong H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

for $i \geq 2n+1$ and an exact sequence

$$\rightarrow H^{i-1}_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\rho} H^{i-1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \rightarrow H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \rightarrow H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \rightarrow H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb$$

for $i \leq 2n$. Since $H^i_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated and the image of the Beilinson regulator ρ is a lattice, the natural topology on $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is locally compact.

In the proof we have obtained the following more precise result. For a locally compact abelian group G denote by G^0 the connected component of the identity and by G_c a maximal compact subgroup.

COROLLARY 4.10. The locally compact group $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \geq 2n + 1$ and a compact Lie group for $i \leq 2n - 1$. Dually, the locally compact group $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is finitely generated for $i \geq 2n+2$ and a compact Lie group for $i \leq 2n$. For $G = H^{2n}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ and $G = H^{2n+1}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ the group G/G^0 is finitely generated, G_c is a compact Lie group and $G^0/G_c \cap G^0$ is a finite dimensional real vector space.

REMARK 4.11. One may use the previous result to redefine, up to a canonical isomorphism, the groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(r))$ and $H^i_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(t))$ in terms of Weil-étale cohomology groups, for $i \neq 2r$ and $i \neq 2t + 1$ respectively.

4.4 Weil-Arakelov Cohomology with compact support

For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ recall that the complex

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) := R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n))[-1]$$

was already defined in Definition 4.1, the complex $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ in Definition 3.26 and that there is an exact triangle (51) of perfect complexes of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{i_{\infty}^{*}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$
(62)

We define versions of these complexes with $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients as in (58).

LEMMA 4.12. The composite

$$\left(\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))\right) [-2] \to R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{i_{\infty}^{*} \otimes \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)),$$

where the first map is the one in (59), is the zero map.

Proof. From the proof of Prop. 4.6 we obtain a commutative square

where the upper horizontal map factors through the second summand. We have another commutative diagram

where the upper horizonal map is zero on the second summand by Prop. 3.24. This implies the Lemma. $\hfill \Box$

DEFINITION 4.13. Define

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \oplus \left(\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))\right) [-1].$$

In view of Lemma 4.12 the exact triangle (59) then extends to a commutative diagram with exact rows and columns

and it is also clear that the cohomology groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are compared for all $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The exact triangle (7) in the introduction is just the defining triangle of $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and the exact triangle (5) in the introduction is given by the following proposition. Recall the definition of algebraic deRham cohomology

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_F/F) := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{F,Zar}, \Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}_F/F})$$

for any field F of characteristic zero. For $F=\mathbb{C}$ one has an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathbb{C}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}})$$

and for $F=\mathbb{R}$ an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R}) \cong R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{C}}/\mathbb{C})^{G_{\mathbb{R}}} \cong R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}}).$$

PROPOSITION 4.14. There is an exact triangle of perfect complexes of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{Fil}^{n}[-2] \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to (64)$$

and hence a map

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
(65)

Proof. Recall that by definition

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) = R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},i_{\infty}^*\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where $i_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)$ is the complex of sheaves

$$i_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n) := \operatorname{Cone}(R\pi_*(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \tau^{>n} R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z})[-1]$$

on $\mathcal{X}_{\infty} = \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/G_{\mathbb{R}}$. So we have

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} = R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},R\pi_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{R}) = R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{R})$$

and the exact triangle

$$\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{C}}/F^{n}[-1] \to \mathbb{R}(n)_{\mathcal{D}} \to (2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{R}[0] \to$$

in $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ induces an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{Fil}^{n}[-1] \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to .$$
(66)

One then has a commutative diagram with exact rows and columns

where β_1 is the isomorphism (54), the middle column is the sum of the triangle (17) with the duality isomorphism of conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and the bottom row is (66). The top row then gives (64).

DEFINITION 4.15. Define $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ to be a mapping fibre of the map (65) so that there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to .$$
(67)

One then has a diagram with exact rows and columns

1478

where $\tilde{R\Gamma}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is the hypercohomology of the complex of sheaves

$$\operatorname{Cone}(R\pi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{\mathcal{D}}\longrightarrow \tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z})[-1]$$

on \mathcal{X}_{∞} and β_4 is the composite of β_3 with the natural map

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_\infty,\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}}\to R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_\infty,\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

Alternatively, one can follow the construction of $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ in section 3.8, starting with the étale Beilinson regulator on the level of complexes (15)

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and using the left column in (68) as the defining triangle of $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$. As we already remarked in the introduction to this section, neither construction gives $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ or $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ up to a unique isomorphism in the derived category.

REMARK 4.16. All complexes in (67) can be represented by bounded complexes of locally compact abelian groups (see the considerations at the beginning of subsection 4.3) and (67) is in fact an exact triangle in the bounded derived category of locally compact abelian groups defined in [45]. For a locally compact abelian group G we define the tangent space to be the \mathbb{R} -vector space

$$T_{\infty}G := \operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(G^D, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(\operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(G, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{R})$$

where $\operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(-,-)$ is endowed with the compact open topology. While the topology on G^D is always locally compact, this is not in general true for $\operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(G,\mathbb{R})$. However, by [45]/Prop. 3.12] it is true if G has finite ranks in the sense of [45]/Def. 2.6] and all the complexes in (67) are easily seen to consist of groups of finite ranks. By [45]/Prop. 4.14 vii)] the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{cts}(-,\mathbb{R})$ is exact and of course so is $(-)^D$. We conclude that T_{∞} is an exact covariant functor (with values in finite dimensional real vector spaces if the argument has finite ranks) and extends to the bounded derived category of locally compact abelian groups. The image of the exact triangle (67) under the tangent space functor T_{∞} is the exact triangle (64).

1479

DEFINITION 4.17. Define $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ to be the mapping fibre of the composite map

$$\tilde{R\Gamma}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\beta_{5}} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \tau^{\leq 2n-1} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)).$$

PROPOSITION 4.18. There is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to$$

Proof. The mapping fibre of β_5 identifies with $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n))[-1]$ and that of σ with $\tau^{\geq 2n} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{R}(n))$. The definition of $R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ as the mapping fibre of the composite $\sigma \circ \beta_5$ gives the central horizontal exact triangle in the diagram

while (63) gives the upper horizontal exact triangle. The diagram commutes and the middle and right column are exact, hence so is the left. \Box

The relation between Weil-étale and Weil-Arakelov cohomology with $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ coefficients can then be summarized in the following diagram. The corresponding diagram (63) for $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients is simpler which is why we discussed $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients first. This can be traced to the fact that Deligne cohomology with $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ -coefficients coincides with singular cohomology with $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ coefficients for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

DEFINITION 4.19. Define $T(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, n)$ to be the mapping cone of

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{Fil}^{n}[-1] \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \tau^{\leq 2n-1}R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)).$$

We leave it again as an exercise to show exactness of the rows and columns in the following diagram. Note that the middle, resp. right hand, column consists of perfect complexes of abelian groups, resp. \mathbb{R} -vector spaces.

1480 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

5 Special values of zeta functions

Throughout this section, \mathcal{X} denotes a proper regular connected arithmetic scheme of dimension d. Additional assumptions on \mathcal{X} will be given at the beginning of each subsection.

In the introduction we have already given a conjectural description of the vanishing order and leading Taylor coefficient of $\zeta(\mathcal{X}, s)$ at any integer argument $s = n \in \mathbb{Z}$ in terms of Weil-Arakelov groups, and we have seen how to reformulate these conjectures in terms of a fundamental line. In the following we shall exclusively work with the fundamental line and leave the Weil-Arakelov description as a suggestive reformulation that invites further exploration. The main thing that remains to be done is a precise definition of the correction factor $C(\mathcal{X}, n) \in \mathbb{Q}$ and a proof of the equivalence of our formulation with the Tamagawa number conjecture of Fontaine and Perrin-Riou [31].

5.1 DE RHAM COHOMOLOGY

Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ be an integer. We consider the derived de Rham complex modulo the Hodge filtration $L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}/\mathrm{Fil}^n$ (see [49][VIII.2.1]) as a complex of abelian sheaves on the Zariski site of \mathcal{X} . Note that $L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}/\mathrm{Fil}^n = 0$ for $n \leq 0$. We denote

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}/\mathrm{Fil}^n).$$

We remark that $H^i_{dR}(X/\mathbb{Z})/F^n := H^i(R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n)$ is finitely generated for all *i* and vanishes for i < 0 and $i \ge d + n$. Indeed, since \mathcal{X} is regular, the map $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ is a local complete intersection, hence the cotangent complex $L_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}$ has perfect amplitude $\subset [-1,0]$ (see [49][III.3.2.6]). It follows that $L\Lambda^p L_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}$ has perfect amplitude $\subseteq [-p,0]$ (see [49][III.3.2.6]). By [48][2.2.7.1] and [48][2.2.8], $L\Lambda^p L_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}$ is globally isomorphic in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}})$ to a complex of locally free finitely generated $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules put in degrees [-p,0], where $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}})$ denotes the derived category of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}$ -modules. Since \mathcal{X} is proper over \mathbb{Z} , $H^q(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Lambda^p L_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})$ is a finitely generated abelian group for all q and 0 for almost all q. Then the spectral sequence

$$H^{q}(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Lambda^{p < n}L_{X/\mathbb{Z}}) \Longrightarrow H^{p+q}_{dB}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n}$$

shows that $H^i_{dR}(X/\mathbb{Z})/F^n := H^i(R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n)$ is finitely generated for all i and vanishes for i < 0 and $i \ge d+n$. Here $L\Lambda^{p < n}L_{X/\mathbb{Z}} := L\Lambda^p L_{X/\mathbb{Z}}$ for p < n and $L\Lambda^{p < n}L_{X/\mathbb{Z}} := 0$ for $p \ge n$.

For any flat \mathbb{Z} -algebra A, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A \simeq R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_A/A)/F^n := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{A,Zar}, L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}_A/A}/\mathrm{Fil}^n)$$

where $\mathcal{X}_A := \mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A$. Moreover, if \mathcal{X}_A/A is smooth then we have a quasiisomorphism

$$L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}_A/A}/\mathrm{Fil}^n \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega^{*< n}_{\mathcal{X}_A/A}.$$

1481

5.2 The fundamental line

We suppose that \mathcal{X} satisfies Conjectures $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d - n)$ and $AV(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$.

DEFINITION 5.1. The fundamental line is

 $\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) := \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n.$

PROPOSITION 5.2. If \mathcal{X} satisfies Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$, then there is a canonical trivialization

$$\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n) : \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}, \mathrm{c}}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof. The first isomorphism is induced by the long exact sequence (53) and the second by the exact triangle (64). \Box

5.3 The complex $R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ and Milne's correcting factor

Let p be a prime number. Recall that, if Y is a smooth scheme over \mathbb{F}_p , one has

$$\mathbb{Z}/p^r(n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \nu_r^n[-n] := W_r \Omega_{Y,\log}^n[-n],$$

where $W_r \Omega_{Y,\log}^n$ is the étale subsheaf of the de Rham-Witt sheaf $W_r \Omega_Y^n$ locally generated by the sections of the form $d\log(\underline{f_1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log(\underline{f_n})$. Here $\underline{f_i}$ denotes the Teichmuller representative of the unit $f_i \in \mathcal{O}_Y^{\times}$. It follows that

$$R\Gamma_{et}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \text{holim } R\Gamma(Y_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet})$$

is a perfect complex of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules if Y is a smooth projective variety. To treat arbitrary separated schemes of finite type over \mathbb{F}_p , we consider the *eh*-topos over \mathbb{F}_p [38] and we denote

$$R\Gamma_{eh}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \text{holim } R\Gamma(Y_{eh}, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}),$$

see [38][Sect. 4]. We also denote by $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, c)$ the strong form of resolution of singularities given in [38][Def. 2.4] for varieties over \mathbb{F}_p of dimension $\leq c$. If $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(Y))$ holds, then $R\Gamma_{eh}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ is perfect for Y proper over \mathbb{F}_p (see [38][Cor. 4.4] and the canonical map $R\Gamma_{et}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{eh}(Y, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ is a quasi-isomorphism for Y smooth (see [38][Thm. 4.3]).

NOTATION 5.3. Let \mathcal{X} be a proper regular arithmetic scheme. We set

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{red}}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

if $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_n}^{\mathrm{red}}$ is smooth, and

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := R\Gamma_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

otherwise. Here $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}$ denotes the maximal reduced closed subscheme of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$.

Notice that, under $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$, one has $R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \simeq R\Gamma_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$. Indeed, the map $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{red} \to \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ induces an isomorphism in the *eh*-topos (since this map is both a monomorphism and an *eh*-covering), so that $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$ yields

$$R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

whenever $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\text{red}}$ is smooth. We introduce $R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ in order to avoid the systematic use of $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$. We proceed similarly for Milne's correcting factor, and we refer to [38][Sect. 4.1] for the definition of $H^j_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \Omega^i)$.

DEFINITION 5.4. Let \mathcal{X} be a proper regular arithmetic scheme. We set

$$\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathcal{O}, n) := \sum_{i \le n, j} (-1)^{i+j} \cdot (n-i) \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{F}_p} H^j_{Zar}(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{red}}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \Omega^i)$$

if $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_n}^{\mathrm{red}}$ is smooth, and

$$\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathcal{O}, n) := \sum_{i \le n, j} (-1)^{i+j} \cdot (n-i) \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{F}_p} H^j_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \Omega^i)$$

if $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}$ is singular and $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$ holds.

5.4 The local factor $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$

The following conjecture is a *p*-adic analogue of the fundamental exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R})/F^{n}[-1] \to R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \to R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{R})$$

for Deligne cohomology.

CONJECTURE 5.5. $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ There is an exact triangle of complexes of \mathbb{Q}_p -vector spaces

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p)/F^n[-1] \to R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p},\mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathbb{Q}_p(n)).$$

The triangle of Conjecture 5.5 must be compatible with the fundamental triangle of [10][Thm. 5.4] in the following sense. If $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p$ is smooth and n < p-1, then we have an isomorphism of triangles

where the left vertical isomorphism follows from $L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p}/F^n \simeq \Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p}$ since $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p$ is smooth, the middle vertical isomorphism is given by [37][Thm. 1.3]

and the right vertical isomorphism is given by [38][Thm. 4.3] together with the quasi-isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}/p^r(n) \simeq \nu_r^n[-n]$ over $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p,et}$. Finally, $p(n) \cdot \Omega_{X_{\bullet}}^{\leq n}$ is defined as in [10].

Conjecture 5.5 gives an isomorphism $\lambda_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$:

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} & \xrightarrow{\sim} \quad \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \\ & \xrightarrow{\sim} \quad \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p)/F^n \\ & \xrightarrow{\sim} \quad \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}. \end{aligned}$$

DEFINITION 5.6. We define

 $d_p(\mathcal{X},n):=\det(\lambda_p(\mathcal{X},n))\in \mathbb{Q}_p^\times/\mathbb{Z}_p^\times \quad and \quad c_p(\mathcal{X},n):=p^{\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathcal{O},n)}\cdot d_p(\mathcal{X},n).$

Here the determinant of $\lambda_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is computed with the given integral structures, i.e. one has

$$\lambda_p \left(d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1} \cdot \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \right) = \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n.$$
(70)

REMARK 5.7. For simplicity, we assume $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$ in this remark. We expect a definition of $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}(n))$ such that there is an exact triangle of perfect complexes of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p],\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{Wh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_n},\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

where $R\Gamma_{Wh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is the cohomology of the Weil-eh topos [38]/Sect. 5]. Similarly, we expect an exact triangle of perfect complexes of abelian groups

$$R\Gamma_{dR,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p]/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \to R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p,eh}, L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{O}^{eh}/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n)$$

where $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p,eh}, L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{O}^{eh}/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n)$ is defined as in [74]. The multiplicative Euler characteristic of $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p,eh}, L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{O}^{eh}/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n)$ is $p^{\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathcal{O},n)}$. Conjecture 5.5 would give an exact triangle analogous to (64)

 $R\Gamma_{dR,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p]/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p[-2] \to R\Gamma_{et,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(n))$

hence an isomorphism

$$\left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{et,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$$

 $\xrightarrow{\sim} \quad \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR,c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p]/\mathbb{Z})/F^n) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}.$

Then $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is the determinant of this isomorphism.

PROPOSITION 5.8. For $n \leq 0$, $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ holds and $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n) \equiv 1 \mod \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ for all p.

Proof. By definition, we have $R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p)/F^n = 0$ and the map

$$R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

is an isomorphism by [38][Thm. 3.6].

PROPOSITION 5.9. Assume that \mathcal{X} has characteristic p. Then $\mathbf{D}_l(\mathcal{X}, n)$ holds and $c_l(\mathcal{X}, n) \equiv 1 \mod \mathbb{Z}_l^{\times}$ for all primes l.

Proof. We have $R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) = R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$ and

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n \simeq R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p.$$

The cohomology groups of the complex $R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n$ are finite, and the alternate product of their orders is $p^{\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathcal{O},n)}$ by [73], so that $d_p(\mathcal{X},n) \equiv p^{-\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathcal{O},n)} \mod \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. For $l \neq p$, we have $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_l} = \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_l} = \emptyset$, hence $c_l(\mathcal{X},n) \equiv d_l(\mathcal{X},n) \equiv 1 \mod \mathbb{Z}_l^{\times}$.

PROPOSITION 5.10. Let \mathcal{X} be a regular proper arithmetic scheme. We have $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n) \equiv 1 \mod \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ for almost all p.

Proof. By Proposition 5.9, we may assume that \mathcal{X} is flat over \mathbb{Z} . We may also assume n < p-1 and $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p$ smooth. By Remark 7.23 and by [10][Thm. 5.4] the triangle

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, p(n) \cdot \Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p})[-1] \to R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

is exact, where

$$p(n) \cdot \Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p} := [p^n \cdot \Omega^0_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p} \to p^{n-1} \cdot \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p} \to \dots \to p \cdot \Omega^{n-1}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}]$$

sits in degrees [0, n - 1]. The local factor $d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ measures the difference between two different \mathbb{Z}_p -structures on $\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$. The first of those \mathbb{Z}_p -structures is given by

$$\det_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}/\mathbb{Q}_{p})/F^{n} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p})/F^{n} \right) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{Q}_{p} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p}}) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}},$$

where the last isomorphism follows from $L\Omega^*_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}/F^n \simeq \Omega^{< n}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}$ since $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ is smooth. The second \mathbb{Z}_p -structure is

$$\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, p(n) \cdot \Omega_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}^{< n}) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$$

Hence $d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is defined as the determinant of the isomorphism

$$\left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1}R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, p(n) \cdot \Omega_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}^{< n})\right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1}R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \Omega_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p}^{< n})\right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$$

with respect to the given integral structures. The Hodge to de Rham spectral sequence gives the commutative square of isomorphisms

where the vertical maps identify the given lattices and the horizontal maps are the obvious identifications. Hence $d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is the determinant of the lower horizontal map.

In view of

$$H^{j}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \Omega^{i}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p}}) \simeq H^{j}(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^{i}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{p}$$

and since $H^j(\mathcal{X}, \Omega^i_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}})$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -module, one may suppose that $H^j(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \Omega^i_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p})$ is a finitely generated free \mathbb{Z}_p -module for any i, j. It follows that $d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}$ is the determinant of the isomorphism

$$\left(\bigotimes_{i < n; j} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{(-1)^{i+j}} p^{n-i} \cdot H^j(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \Omega^i_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p})\right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left(\bigotimes_{i < n; j} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{(-1)^{i+j}} H^j(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \Omega^i_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p})\right)_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$$

and we obtain

$$d_p(\mathcal{X}, n) = p^{-\sum_{i \le n, j} (-1)^{i+j} \cdot (n-i) \cdot \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{Z}_p} H^j(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \Omega^i_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p})}$$

Moreover, since $H^{j}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \Omega^{i}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p}})$ is a free \mathbb{Z}_{p} -module for any i, j, we have (see for example [53][Prop. 6.6]

$$H^{j}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \Omega^{i}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}/\mathbb{Z}_{p}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \mathbb{F}_{p} \simeq H^{j}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \Omega^{i}_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}/\mathbb{F}_{p}}).$$

The result follows.

5.5 The main conjecture

Let \mathcal{X} be a regular proper arithmetic scheme. We assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d - n)$, $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ for any prime number p. Moreover, we assume that $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$ holds at the primes p where $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\text{red}}$ is singular. We suppose that

$$\zeta(\mathcal{X},s) = \prod_{x \in \mathcal{X}_0} \frac{1}{1 - N(x)^{-s}},$$

which converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \dim(\mathcal{X})$, has a meromorphic continuation to the whole complex plane. We denote by $\operatorname{ord}_{s=n}\zeta(\mathcal{X},s) \in \mathbb{Z}$ its vanishing order and by $\zeta^*(\mathcal{X},n) \in \mathbb{R}$ its leading Taylor coefficient at s = n.

Conjecture 5.11. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n}\zeta(\mathcal{X},s) = \sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \cdot i \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^i_{\operatorname{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)).$$

We consider the rational number

$$C(\mathcal{X}, n) := \prod_{p < \infty} |c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)|_p := \prod_{p < \infty} p^{-v_p(c_p(\mathcal{X}, n))}$$

where v_p denotes the *p*-adic valuation. Recall from Proposition 5.2 that we have a trivialization

$$\lambda_{\infty} = \lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n) : \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}, \mathrm{c}}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$$

induced by cup-product with the fundamental class.

Conjecture 5.12.

$$\lambda_{\infty}(\zeta^*(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1} \cdot C(\mathcal{X}, n) \cdot \mathbb{Z}) = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n).$$

We draw the following immediate consequence of Conjecture 5.11. The definition of $\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, s)$ will be recalled in the proof.

PROPOSITION 5.13. Conjecture 5.11 implies that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n} \zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \cdot i \cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^i_{\operatorname{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n))$$

where

1486

$$\zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s) = \zeta(\mathcal{X}, s)\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, s)$$

is the completed Zeta-function of \mathcal{X} .

Proof. In view of definition 4.1 the middle horizontal triangle in (31) gives an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) \to$$

and it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n}\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},s)$$

$$=\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}(-1)^{i}\cdot i\cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}}H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n))=\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}(-1)^{i+1}\cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}}H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{R}(n))$$
$$=\sum_{i\geq 2n}(-1)^{i+1}\cdot \dim_{\mathbb{R}}H^{i}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n))$$
$$=\sum_{i\geq 2n}(-1)^{i+1}\cdot \left(\dim_{\mathbb{R}}H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{R}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}}-\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^{n})^{G_{\mathbb{R}}}\right)$$

where we have used the definition (33) and the exact sequence (23). Denoting by $H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C}) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=i} H^{p,q}$ the Hodge decomposition and by

$$h^{p,q} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^{p,q}; \quad h^{p,\pm} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} (H^{p,p})^{F_{\infty}=\pm(-1)^p}$$

the Hodge numbers we have

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^{n})^{G_{\mathbb{R}}} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C})/F^{n} = \sum_{p < n} h^{p,q}$$

 and

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}} = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{R})^{F_{\infty} = (-1)^{n}}$$
$$= \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{C})^{F_{\infty} = (-1)^{n}}$$
$$= \sum_{p < q} h^{p,q} + h^{\frac{i}{2}, (-1)^{n-i/2}}$$

since $F_{\infty}(H^{p,q}) = H^{q,p}$. Here $h^{\frac{i}{2},\pm} = 0$ if $\frac{i}{2} \notin \mathbb{Z}$. For $i \ge 2n$ we have that p < n implies p < q = i - p and hence we must show that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n}\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},s) = \sum_{i\geq 2n} (-1)^{i+1} \left(\sum_{n\leq p
$$= \sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{i+1} \left(\sum_{n\leq p$$$$

where the last identity holds since the sums are empty for i < 2n. By definition

$$\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, s) = \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} L_{\infty}(h^{i}(X), s)^{(-1)^{i}}$$
(71)

where

$$L_{\infty}(h^{i}(X),s) = \prod_{p < q} \Gamma_{\mathbb{C}}(s-p)^{h^{p,q}} \cdot \prod_{p=\frac{i}{2}} \Gamma_{\mathbb{R}}(s-p)^{h^{p,+}} \Gamma_{\mathbb{R}}(s-p+1)^{h^{p,-}},$$
$$\Gamma_{\mathbb{R}}(s) = \pi^{-s/2} \Gamma(s/2); \quad \Gamma_{\mathbb{C}}(s) = 2(2\pi)^{-s} \Gamma(s)$$

and $X = \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is the generic fibre. Since

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n} \Gamma(s) = \begin{cases} -1 & n \le 0\\ 0 & n \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

we find

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=n} L_{\infty}(h^{i}(X), s) = -\left(\sum_{n \le p < q} h^{p,q} + \sum_{n \le \frac{i}{2}} h^{\frac{i}{2}, (-1)^{n-i/2}}\right)$$

which proves the proposition.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

5.6 Compatibility with the Tamagawa Number Conjecture

Let F be a number field and

1488

$$\pi: \mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$$

a smooth projective scheme, connected of dimension d. We assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies Conjectures $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$ and $B(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and note that Conjecture $AV(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ holds by Corollary 6.27 and Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ by Prop. 7.21, so that Conjecture 5.12 makes sense.

We write $X := \mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F$ for the generic fiber of \mathcal{X} , a smooth projective variety over F of dimension d-1 and we fix a prime number p. By Lemma 7.2 in App. B we have a quasi-isomorphism of complexes of sheaves on $\mathcal{X}[1/p]_{et}$

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}[0]$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. By [20] there is a decomposition in the derived category of p-adic sheaves on $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p])_{et}$

$$R\pi'_*\mathbb{Q}_p \cong \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R^i \pi'_*\mathbb{Q}_p[-i]$$
(72)

where $\pi' := \pi[1/p]$ and $R^i \pi'_* \mathbb{Q}_p$ is a local system whose generic fibre we denote by

$$V_p^i \cong H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{F}}, \mathbb{Q}_p).$$

For the Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ studied in App. A and the open subtopos

$$\psi: \mathcal{X}[1/p]_{et} \xrightarrow{j} \mathcal{X}_{et} \xrightarrow{\phi} \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$$

we define compact support cohomology $R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathcal{F}) := R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \psi; \mathcal{F})$ in the usual way. We denote by

$$u: \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p, et} \coprod \mathcal{X}_{\infty} \to \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$$

the complementary closed embedding with components u_p and u_∞ . We define the morphism of topoi α' by the factorization

$$\alpha: Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \xrightarrow{\alpha'} \mathcal{X}[1/p]_{et} \xrightarrow{\jmath} \mathcal{X}_{et}$$

where α was defined in section 6.3.

LEMMA 5.14. For a complex of sheaves \mathcal{A} on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ with torsion cohomology there is a commutative diagram of exact triangles

Proof. This follows from the diagram of complexes of sheaves on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$

together with the isomorphism

$$u_{\infty}^* R\psi_* \cong u_{\infty}^* R\phi_* Rj_* \cong R\pi_* \alpha^* Rj_* \cong R\pi_* (\alpha')^* j^* Rj_* \cong R\pi_* (\alpha')^*$$
(73)

of Lemma 6.2, the isomorphism

$$u_p^* R \psi_* \psi^* \mathcal{A} \cong \hat{i}^* g^* \phi^* R \psi_* \psi^* \mathcal{A} \cong \hat{i}^* g^* \phi^* R \phi_* R j_* \psi^* \mathcal{A}$$
$$\cong \hat{i}^* g^* R j_* \psi^* \mathcal{A}$$
$$\cong \hat{i}^* R \hat{j}_* \tilde{g}^* \psi^* \mathcal{A}$$

of Lemma 7.9 (the notation of which we use) and the proper base change theorem

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, u_p^* R\psi_* \psi^* \mathcal{A}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, i^* Rj_* \tilde{g}^* \psi^* \mathcal{A})$$
$$\cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, R\hat{j}_* \tilde{g}^* \psi^* \mathcal{A}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, \mathcal{A}).$$

1489

For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we set

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}/p^{\bullet}),$$
$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet})$$

and

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, Ru_{\infty}^! \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet})$$

where $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ is defined in Def. 6.5 in App. A. If Z is a scheme we set

$$R\Gamma(Z, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) := \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(Z_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet})$$

where $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ was defined in section 3.1, i.e. is given by the higher Chow complex for $n \geq 0$. If $R\Gamma_{?}(Z, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n))$ is any of the complexes just defined we set

$$R\Gamma_{?}(Z, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) := R\Gamma_{?}(Z, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

 $\begin{array}{cccc} \text{LEMMA 5.15. There is a commutative diagram with exact rows and columns} \\ R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) & \rightarrow & R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) & \rightarrow & R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \\ & \parallel & \uparrow & \uparrow \\ R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) & \rightarrow & R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) & \rightarrow & R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \\ & & \uparrow & & \uparrow \\ R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}} \coprod \mathcal{X}_{\infty}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \oplus R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}, \mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \end{array}$

Proof. We apply Lemma 5.14 with $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet}$. By Prop. 6.9 there is an isomorphism

$$\psi^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} / p^{\bullet} \cong j^* \phi^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} / p^{\bullet} \cong \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet} \cong \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}.$$
(74)

By Artin's comparison isomorphism we have

$$\begin{aligned} R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (\alpha')^* \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}) &\cong & R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (\alpha')^* \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n})) \\ &\cong & R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{C},et}, \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n})) \\ &\cong & R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R},et}, \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}). \end{aligned}$$

By proper base change and Lemma 7.8 we get an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, u_p^*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \hat{i}^*g^*\phi^*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet}) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, g^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet})$$
$$\cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet})$$

where we use the notation of Lemma 7.9 with $D = \mathbb{Z}$.

PROPOSITION 5.16. There is an isomorphism of exact triangles

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}[1/p],\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) &\to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \to \frac{R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n))\oplus}{R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n))} \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{O}_{F}[\frac{1}{p}],V_{p}^{i}(n))[-i] \to \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(F,V_{p}^{i}(n))[-i] \to \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(F_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}},V_{p}^{i}(n)))[-i] \end{split}$$

where the upper row is the middle row in Lemma 5.15 tensored with \mathbb{Q} , the lower exact triangles are defined as in [28] for the p-adic representation $V_p^i(n)$ and the outer vertical isomorphisms are induced by the decomposition (72).

Proof. The left vertical map is clearly an isomorphism. The complex $R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, Ru^{!}_{\infty}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet})$ has 2-torsion cohomology by (112) in App. A. Hence

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{X}_{\infty}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) := (\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, Ru_{\infty}^! \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} / p^{\bullet}))_{\mathbb{Q}} = 0$$

and

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma(F_{\mathbb{R}}, V_p^i(n))[-i] \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathbb{R}}, V_p^i(n))[-i]$$

is an isomorphism, where $R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathbb{R}}, V) := R\Gamma(F_{\mathbb{R}}, V)$ holds by definition [31]. The isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, V_p^i(n))[-i]$$

is the statement of Cor. 7.20 where we take the local decomposition (147) to be induced by (72).

The middle vertical map will be an isomorphism if it exists, and existence will follow from commutativity of

The following diagram commutes

since the bottom square is a shift of the commutative diagram in Lemma 5.15 and the top square is induced by the decomposition (72). But the left vertical map factors through β which concludes the proof.

LEMMA 5.17. There are natural isomorphisms

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \simeq \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}) = R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$
(75)

where $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ was defined in Def. 3.6, and

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \simeq \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, u_{\infty}^*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}/p^{\bullet}) = R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \quad (76)$$

where $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ was defined in Def. 3.23.

Proof. The first isomorphism is clear from Lemma 3.13 and perfectness of $R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))$. One has an isomorphism of exact triangles in the derived

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

category of sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{∞}

where the first row is the defining triangle of $i_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)$ modulo p^{\bullet} and the second row is the localization triangle for $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}/p^{\bullet}$. The right vertical map is an isomorphism by (112) and the middle by (73) and (74). The statement then follows again from perfectness of $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, i_{\infty}^*\mathbb{Z}(n))$.

DEFINITION 5.18. For each prime $\mathfrak{p} \mid p$ of F define the two-term complex

$$C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)) := [D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)) \xrightarrow{1-\phi} D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))]$$

LEMMA 5.19. In the situation of Prop. 5.16 there is an isomorphism of exact triangles.

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}/\mathbb{Q}_{p})/F^{n}[-1] \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p}|p} D_{dR,\mathfrak{p}}(V_{p}^{i}(n))/F^{0}[-i-1]$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p}|p} R\Gamma_{f}(F_{\mathfrak{p}},V_{p}^{i}(n))[-i]$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p}|p} C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_{p}^{i}(n))[-i]$$

Proof. This is clear in view of Prop. 7.21, the isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, V_p^i(n))) \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p}|p} R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathfrak{p}}, V_p^i(n))$$

and the fact that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}} = \coprod_{\mathfrak{p}|p} \mathcal{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is smooth projective over \mathbb{F}_p where $\mathcal{X}_{\mathfrak{p}} := \mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} \mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. By definition we have

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) = R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{red}}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)).$$

Recall that an endomorphism $D \xrightarrow{\psi} D$ of a vector space over \mathbb{Q}_p , say, is called semisimple at zero if the map

$$\bar{\psi} : \ker(\psi) \subseteq D \to \operatorname{coker}(\psi)$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

is an isomorphism. In this case one has a commutative diagram of isomorphisms

where for any isomorphism $f: V \to W$ we denote by f_{triv} the induced isomorphism $\det(V) \otimes \det^{-1}(W) \cong \mathbb{Q}_p$ and $\operatorname{Det}^*(\psi) \in \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}$ is the determinant of ψ on a complement of $\ker(\psi)$.

LEMMA 5.20. In the situation of Prop. 5.16, assume in addition that the complex $C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))$ is semi-simple at 0 for any i and any $\mathfrak{p} \mid p$. Then cupproduct with the fundamental class $e \in H^1(W_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z})$ gives an acyclic complex

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\cup e} H'_{eh}^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup e} H'_{eh}^{i+1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup e} \cdots$$

and hence a trivialization

$$\cup e: \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}_p.$$

Moreover the square of isomorphisms

$$\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\bigcup e} \mathbb{Q}_p$$
$$\downarrow^{\beta_p(\mathcal{X}, n)} \qquad \qquad \parallel$$
$$\bigotimes_{i, \mathfrak{p} \mid p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{(-1)^i} C_{cris, \mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

commutes, where $\beta_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is induced by the bottom isomorphism in Lemma 5.19, and

$$\sigma = \bigotimes_{i,\mathfrak{p}|p} (\overline{(1-\phi)|D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)))})_{triv}^{(-1)^i}.$$

Proof. For any complex of $W_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ -modules C we have

$$R\Gamma(W_{\mathbb{F}_p}, C) \cong \operatorname{holim}(C \xrightarrow{1-\phi} C) = [C \xrightarrow{1-\phi} C]$$

and the discussion before [36] [Prop. 4.4] shows that there is a commutative diagram

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

and hence a commutative diagram with exact rows for each i

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0 \ \rightarrow \ \operatorname{coker}(1-\phi|H^{i-1}(C)) \ \rightarrow \ H^{i}(W_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},C) \ \rightarrow \ \operatorname{ker}(1-\phi|H^{i}(C)) \ \rightarrow \ 0 \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ \downarrow \cup e & & \operatorname{id}_{H^{i}(C)} \\ 0 \ \leftarrow & \operatorname{ker}(1-\phi|H^{i+1}(C)) \ \leftarrow \ H^{i+1}(W_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},C) \ \leftarrow \ \operatorname{coker}(1-\phi|H^{i}(C)) \ \leftarrow \ 0. \end{array}$$

So if $1-\phi$ is semisimple at zero on each $H^{i}(C)$ we obtain a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\cup e} H^i(C) \xrightarrow{\cup e} H^{i+1}(C) \xrightarrow{\cup e} \cdots$$

It then suffices to remark that

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) = R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong R\Gamma(W_{\mathbb{F}_p}, R\Gamma_{cris}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}/\mathbb{Q}_p))$$

where $\phi \in W_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ acts on $R\Gamma_{cris}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ by $\phi_n = \phi p^{-n}$ and that for this action we have an isomorphism of ϕ -modules

$$H^i_{cris}(\mathcal{X}^{\mathrm{red}}_{\mathbb{F}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p) \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p}|p} D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V^i_p(n)).$$

PROPOSITION 5.21. Under the assumptions of this section, Conjecture 2.9 holds for \mathcal{X} . In fact,

$$H^i(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \to H^i(X, \mathbb{Q}(n))$$

is injective for all n and i.

Proof. For i > 2n both groups are zero. For $i \leq 2n$ we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{i}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \longrightarrow H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \xrightarrow{(75)\otimes\mathbb{Q}} H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \\ \downarrow \\ H^{i}(X, \mathbb{Q}(n)) \longrightarrow H^{i}(X, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \end{array}$$

where the first map in the top row is the isomorphism of Cor. 3.12, the second map is clearly injective, and the right vertical map is injective since by Prop. 5.16 it is isomorphic to the injective map

$$H^0_f(F, V^i_p(n)) \oplus H^1_f(F, V^{i-1}_p(n)) \to H^0(F, V^i_p(n)) \oplus H^1(F, V^{i-1}_p(n)).$$

It follows that the left vertical map is injective. Note here that for j = 2, 3 we have

$$H_f^j(F, V_p^{i-j}(n)) \cong H_f^{3-j}(F, V_p^{i-j}(n)^*(1))^* \cong H_f^{3-j}(F, V_p^{2d-2-i+j}(d-n))^* = 0$$
 since

$$H^{3-j+2d-2-i+j}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)) = H^{2(d-n)+2n-i+1}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(d-n)) = 0$$

for 2n - i > 0.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1494

REMARK 5.22. Suppose \mathcal{X} is a regular scheme satisfying Conjectures $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$ and $AV(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$. Suppose p is a prime number so that the conclusion of Cor. 7.20 holds for $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ and the conclusion of Cor. 7.6 (with the roles of p and l switched) for $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_l}$ if $p \neq l$. Then one can prove an analogue of Prop. 5.16 with $\mathcal{X}[1/p]/\mathcal{O}_F[1/p]$ replaced by $\mathcal{X}[1/Np]/\mathbb{Z}[1/Np]$ where N is divisible by all l where $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_l}/\mathbb{Z}_l$ is not smooth, and one can deduce Conjecture 2.9 for \mathcal{X} and i < 2n following the proof of Prop. 5.21. So essentially, Conjecture 2.9 is a consequence of finite generation of motivic cohomology, the monodromy weight conjecture for all $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_l}$ and the syntomic description of p-adically completed motivic cohomology of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ (which holds if one simply chooses p to be a good reduction prime).

We recall the formulation of the Tamagawa number conjecture from [31]. We consider the pure motive $h^i(X)(n)$ of weight i-2n which we imagine as a pure object of \mathcal{MM}_F . Note that

$$(h^{i}(X)(n))^{*}(1) \simeq h^{2(d-1)-i}(X)(d-1-n)(1) = h^{2d-2-i}(X)(d-n).$$

Consider the \mathbb{Q} -fundamental line

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_f(h^i(X)(n)) &:= \quad \det_{\mathbb{Q}} H^0_f(F, h^i(X)(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1} H^1_f(F, h^i(X)(n)) \\ &\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}} H^0_f(F, (h^i(X)(n))^*(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1} H^1_f(F, (h^i(X)(n))^*(1)) \\ &\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1} \left(h^i(X)(n)_B^+ \right) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}} \left(t_{h^i(X)(n)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Here $t_{h^i(X)(n)} := (h^i(X)(n))_{dR}/\text{Fil}^0$ is the tangent space. The period isomorphism induces the map

$$\alpha_{h^i(X)(n)} : \left(h^i(X)(n)_B^+\right)_{\mathbb{R}} \longrightarrow \left(t_{h^i(X)(n)}\right)_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

CONJECTURE 5.23. (Fontaine-Perrin-Riou) There is a canonical exact sequence of finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -vector spaces

$$0 \to H^0_f(F, h^i(X)(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to \operatorname{Ker}(\alpha_{h^i(X)(n)}) \to H^1_f(F, (h^i(X)(n))^*(1))_{\mathbb{R}}^*$$

$$\to H^1_f(F, h^i(X)(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \to \operatorname{Coker}(\alpha_{h^i(X)(n)}) \to H^0_f(F, (h^i(X)(n))^*(1))_{\mathbb{R}}^* \to 0.$$

Conjecture 5.23 gives a trivialization

$$\vartheta^{i,n}_{\infty}: \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \Delta_f(h^i(X)(n))_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

Beilinson's conjecture on special values, in the formulation Fontaine-Perrin-Riou, is the following

CONJECTURE 5.24. (Beilinson)

$$\vartheta^{i,n}_{\infty}(L^*(h^i(X),n)^{-1}) \in \Delta_f(h^i(X)(n)).$$

For a prime number p one defines

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_f(V_p^i(n)) &:= & \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H_f^0(F, V_p^i(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}^2}^{-1} H_f^1(F, V_p^i(n)) \\ & \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H_f^0(F, (V_p^i(n))^*(1)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{-1} H_f^1(F, (V_p^i(n))^*(1)) \\ & \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{-1} \left(V_p^i(n) \right)^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \left(t_{V_p^i(n)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

CONJECTURE 5.25. (Bloch-Kato) For $M = h^i(X)(n)$ and $M = h^i(X)(n)^*(1)$ the p-adic realization induces isomorphisms

$$H^j_f(F,M) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} H^j_f(F,M_p)$$

for j = 0, 1.

One has an isomorphism

$$\vartheta_p^{i,n} : \Delta_f(h^i(X)(n))_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \simeq \Delta_f(V_p^i(n)) \cong \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], V_p^i(n))$$

where the first isomorphism is obtained by Conjecture 5.25 and Artin's comparison theorem and the second isomorphism by the lower exact triangle in Prop. 5.16, the exact triangle

$$D_{dR,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))/F^0[-1] \to R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathfrak{p}},V_p^i(n)) \to C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)) \to$$

arising from the definition of $R\Gamma_f(F_{\mathfrak{p}}, V_p^i(n))$ and the isomorphism

$$\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}^{i,n} = \mathrm{id}_{D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)), triv} : \mathrm{det}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n)) \simeq \mathbb{Q}_p$$
(78)

in the notation of diagram (77). Any locally constant \mathbb{Z}_p -sheaf $T_p^i(n)$ on $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p])$ together with an isomorphism $T_p^i(n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \simeq V_p^i(n)$ gives an integral structure

$$\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], V_p^i(n)) \simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], T_p^i(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

which does not depend on the choice of $T_p^i(n)$.

CONJECTURE 5.26. (Bloch-Kato, Fontaine-Perrin-Riou) There is an identity of invertible \mathbb{Z}_p -submodules

$$\vartheta_p^{i,n}\vartheta_{\infty}^{i,n}(L^*(h^i(X),n)^{-1})\cdot\mathbb{Z}_p = \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p],T_p^i(n)).$$

of $\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], V_p^i(n)).$

In order to compare this statement with Conjecture 5.12 we shall consider the total "motive" $h(X)(n) \in \mathcal{D}^+(\mathcal{MM}_F)$ such that $\mathcal{H}^i(h(X)(n)) = h^i(X)(n)$. One expects a (non-canonical) direct sum decomposition

$$h(X)(n) \simeq \bigoplus_{0 \le i \le 2(d-1)} h^i(X)(n)[-i].$$
 (79)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560
1497

In any case, the fundamental line of h(X)(n) is

$$\Delta_f(h(X)(n)) := \bigotimes_{0 \le i \le 2(d-1)} \Delta_f(h^i(X)(n))^{(-1)^i}$$

and similarly, we set

$$\Delta_f(h(X)(n)_p) := \bigotimes_{0 \le i \le 2(d-1)} \Delta_f(V_p^i(n))^{(-1)^i}.$$

In view of Prop. 5.21 we can take the higher Chow groups $H^j(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Q}(n))$ as our definition for the *f*-motivic cohomology $H^j_f(F, h(X)(n))$. In view of the isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(n)) \oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}[-2d-1])$$

of Cor. 3.12, the definition of $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ in Def. 3.26 and the definition of $\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)$ in Def. 5.1 we then have an isomorphism

$$\Delta_{f}(h(X)(n)) \cong \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathbb{Q}(n))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}} \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})/F^{n} \\ \cong \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Q}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \det_{\mathbb{Q}} (R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n})_{\mathbb{Q}} \\ \cong \det_{\mathbb{Q}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Q}} (R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n})_{\mathbb{Q}} \\ = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n)_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

The isomorphism $\vartheta_{\infty} := \bigotimes_{i} (\vartheta_{\infty}^{i,n})^{(-1)^{i}}$ becomes the isomorphism (9)

$$\vartheta_{\infty}: \mathbb{R} \cong \Delta(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}, n)_{\mathbb{R}} = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n)_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \Delta_f(h(X)(n))_{\mathbb{R}}$$

explained in the introduction, based on Prop. 4.14. The isomorphism of Conjecture 5.25 is the composite of the isomorphisms

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \simeq R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \simeq \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_f(F,V_p^i(n))[-i]$$

arising from Lemma 5.17 and Prop. 5.16, and the isomorphism $\vartheta_p := \bigotimes_i (\vartheta_p^{i,n})^{(-1)^i}$ becomes an isomorphism

$$\vartheta_p : \Delta_f(h(X)(n))_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong \Delta_f(h(X)(n)_p) \cong \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

using the left vertical isomorphism in Prop. 5.16. Since \mathcal{X} is smooth projective over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ we have

$$\zeta(\mathcal{X},s) = \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} L(h^i(X),s)^{(-1)^i}$$

and Conjecture 5.26 therefore predicts that

$$\vartheta_p \vartheta_{\infty}(\zeta^*(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}) \cdot \mathbb{Z}_p = \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$
(80)

inside $\det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$. Note here that we have an isomorphism

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], R\pi'_*\mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$
$$\simeq \bigotimes_i \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{(-1)^i} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{O}_F[1/p], R^i\pi'_*\mathbb{Z}_p(n))$$

and we can choose $T_p^i(n) := R^i \pi'_* \mathbb{Z}_p(n).$

THEOREM 5.27. Let $\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{O}_F$ be smooth projective and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ so that Conjectures $L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n), L(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$ and $B(\mathcal{X}, n)$ hold for \mathcal{X} and n. Assume that the complex $C_{cris, \mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))$ is semisimple at zero for all i and all primes \mathfrak{p} of F. Then Conjecture 5.12 for (\mathcal{X}, n) is equivalent to the conjunction of the Tamagawa number conjecture (80) for the motive h(X)(n) over all primes p.

Proof. First note that the isomorphism ϑ_{∞} and the isomorphism λ_{∞} defined in Prop. 5.2 coincide by definition. So Conjecture 5.12 is equivalent to the identity

$$\vartheta_{\infty}(\zeta^*(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}) \cdot C(\mathcal{X}, n) \cdot \mathbb{Z}_p = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$$
(81)

for all primes p. Lemma 5.17 and Lemma 5.15 induce an isomorphism

 $\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{Z}_p$

 $= (\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n})_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}$

- $\simeq \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} (R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n}) \right)_{\mathbb{Z}_{y}} \right)$
- $\simeq \quad \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n$
- $\simeq \quad \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n))$
 - $\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n$

which we denote by $\vartheta_p^{\mathbb{Z}_p}.$ Lemma 5.19 induces a commutative diagram of isomorphisms

where $\lambda_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is the map defined using conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$. By definition we have

$$\vartheta_p = (\mathrm{id}_{R\Gamma_c} \otimes \gamma_p) \circ (\vartheta_p^{\mathbb{Z}_p})_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

where $\operatorname{id}_{R\Gamma_c}$ is the identity map of $\operatorname{det}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}[1/p], \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ and

$$\gamma_p := \left(\bigotimes (\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}^{i,n})^{(-1)^i} \circ \beta_p(\mathcal{X}, n) \circ \lambda_p(\mathcal{X}, n) \right)$$

where the trivializations $\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}^{i,n}$ were defined in (78). Comparing (81) and (80) we see that the two statements are equivalent if and only if

$$C(\mathcal{X},n) \cdot \gamma_p \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n \right) = \mathbb{Z}_p$$

and from (70) and the definition of $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ this identity holds if and only if

$$p^{-\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathcal{O},n)}\cdot\left(\bigotimes(\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}^{i,n})^{(-1)^i}\circ\beta_p(\mathcal{X},n)\right)\left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p},\mathbb{Z}_p(n))\right)=\mathbb{Z}_p.$$

Consider the rational function $Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t)$ such that $\zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, s) = Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, p^{-s})$ and its special value

$$Z^*(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, p^{-n}) = \lim_{t \to p^{-n}} (1 - p^n t)^{\rho_n} Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t)$$

where $\rho_n := -\operatorname{ord}_{t=p^{-n}} Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t)$ is the order of the pole of $Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t)$ at $t = p^{-n}$. Note that we have

$$Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t) = Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\mathrm{red}}, t)$$

 and

$$Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, p^{-n}t) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}\mid p} Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}, p^{-n}t) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}\mid p} \prod_{i} \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \left(1 - t\phi \mid D_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))\right)^{(-1)^{i+1}}.$$

If $C_{cris,\mathfrak{p}}(V_p^i(n))$ is semisimple at zero then diagram (77) implies

$$\bigotimes (\tau_{\mathfrak{p}}^{i,n})^{(-1)^{i}} = Z^{*}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}}, p^{-n}) \cdot \sigma$$

where σ is the map in Lemma 5.20. Hence by Lemma 5.20 we are reduced to showing

$$p^{-\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},\mathcal{O},n)} \cdot Z^{*}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},p^{-n}) \cdot (\sigma \circ \beta_{p}(\mathcal{X},n)) \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \right)$$
$$= p^{-\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},\mathcal{O},n)} \cdot Z^{*}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},p^{-n}) \cdot (\cup e) \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \right) = \mathbb{Z}_{p}.$$

But this is just a rewriting of the leading term formula for $Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, t)$ due to Milne [70][Thm. 0.1]. Note here that if C denotes the perfect complex of \mathbb{Z}_p -modules with finite cohomology groups

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\cup e} H_{eh}^{\prime i}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup e} H_{eh}^{\prime i+1}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\cup e} \cdots$$

then the image of $\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(C)$ under the isomorphism $a : \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(C)_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \cong \mathbb{Q}_p$ arising from acyclicity of $C_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is $\chi(C)^{-1} \cdot \mathbb{Z}_p$ where $\chi(C) \in p^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is the multiplicative Euler characteristic of C. But a coincides with the isomorphism denoted $\cup e$ above. Hence

$$(\cup e) \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \right) = \chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \hat{\mathbb{Z}}(n))^{-1} \cdot \mathbb{Z}_p$$

where $\chi(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \hat{\mathbb{Z}}(n))$ is the quantity appearing in [70][Thm. 0.1].

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

5.7 Relationship with the functional equation

We fix a regular scheme \mathcal{X} of pure dimension d, which is flat and proper over \mathbb{Z} . We assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d-n)$, $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ for any prime number p. Moreover, we assume that $\mathbf{R}(\mathbb{F}_p, \dim(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}))$ holds at the primes p where $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^{\text{red}}$ is not smooth. Recall that we denote the fundamental line by

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) := \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n.$$

DEFINITION 5.28. We set

$$\begin{aligned} \Xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) &:= \quad \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n} \\ & \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{d-n}. \end{aligned}$$

PROPOSITION 5.29. Duality for Deligne cohomology and duality for Weil-étale cohomology induce isomorphisms

$$\xi_{\infty}:\mathbb{R}\xrightarrow{\sim}\Xi_{\infty}\otimes\mathbb{R}$$

and

1500

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)\otimes \Xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},d-n)$$

respectively, such that the square

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) \otimes \Xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) \otimes \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},d-n) \otimes \mathbb{R}$$

$$\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X},n) \otimes \xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X},n) \bigwedge_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X},d-n)} \bigwedge_{\mathbb{R}}$$

commutes.

Proof. Recall from Section 3.8 the definition of $R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$. We have an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes\mathbb{R}\simeq R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),(2\pi i)^n\mathbb{R}).$$

Duality for Deligne cohomology

$$R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R}(n)) \simeq R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R}(d-n)),\mathbb{R}[-2d+1])$$

yields

$$\left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{n}\right)\otimes\mathbb{R}$$

- $\simeq \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R}(n))$
- $\simeq \det_{\mathbb{R}} R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}(d-n)), \mathbb{R}[-2d+1])$
- $\simeq \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}(d-n))$
- $\simeq \left(\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \det_{\mathbb{Z}}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^{d-n}\right) \otimes \mathbb{R}$

We obtain

$$\xi_{\infty}: \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Xi_{\infty} \otimes \mathbb{R}.$$

The exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma_W(\mathcal{X}_\infty,\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

gives

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
(82)

Similarly, we have

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \otimes \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) \simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)).$$
(83)

Moreover, duality for Weil-étale cohomology gives

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R \operatorname{Hom}(R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)), \mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) \quad (84)$$
$$\simeq \det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)). \quad (85)$$

Then (82), (83) and (85) induce

$$\Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)\otimes \Xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},d-n).$$

We have canonical isomorphism (see Corollary 3.12)

$$R\Gamma_W(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \oplus R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(d-n)),\mathbb{R}[-2d-1])$$

and the pairing induced by Weil-étale duality, after $(-) \otimes \mathbb{R}$, is the evident one (see the proof of Theorem 3.22). Moreover, the maps $\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, d - n)$ are induced by the pairing between motivic cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients and motivic cohomology with \mathbb{R} -coefficients and compact support (see Conjecture $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$), which is compatible with duality for Deligne cohomology in the sense of Remark 2.6. If follows [59] that the induced square of isomorphisms

$$\det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \otimes \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}(n)) \xrightarrow{} \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{R}(n))$$

commutes, where $(-)^* := R \operatorname{Hom}(-, \mathbb{R}[-2d])$. From there, we easily obtain the commutativity of the square of the proposition.

We denote by

$$x_{\infty}^{2}(\mathcal{X}, n) := \det(\xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)) \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$$

the determinant of the isomorphism $\xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ with respect to the given integral structures, i.e. the strictly positive real number such that

$$\xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)(x_{\infty}^{2}(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1} \cdot \mathbb{Z}) = \Xi_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n).$$

Recall the definition of

$$\zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}},s) := \zeta(\mathcal{X},s) \cdot \zeta(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},s)$$

from (71).

CONJECTURE 5.30. We have

$$A(\mathcal{X})^{(d-s)/2} \cdot \zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, d-s) = \pm A(\mathcal{X})^{s/2} \cdot \zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, s)$$

where the conductor $A(\mathcal{X}) > 0$ is a positive real number.

For \mathcal{X} of dimension d = 2, the conductor $A(\mathcal{X})$ is the square root of the discriminant of the pairing

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^2 \to \mathbb{Z}[-2]$$

induced by Poincaré duality (see [9]).

COROLLARY 5.31. Assume that $\zeta(\overline{\mathcal{X}}, d-s)$ satisfies the functional equation of Conjecture 5.30. If two of the following assertions are true, then so is the third:

i) We have

$$A(\mathcal{X})^{n/2} \cdot \zeta^*(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, n) \cdot x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1} \cdot C(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}$$

= $\pm A(\mathcal{X})^{(d-n)/2} \cdot \zeta^*(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, d-n) \cdot x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, d-n)^{-1} \cdot C(\mathcal{X}, d-n)^{-1}.$
(86)

- ii) Conjecture 5.12 for (\mathcal{X}, n) holds.
- iii) Conjecture 5.12 for $(\mathcal{X}, d-n)$ holds.

Proof. We have $x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, d-n) = \pm x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}$, hence Proposition 5.29 gives an equality

$$\det(\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)) \cdot x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n) = \pm \det(\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, d - n)) \cdot x_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, d - n).$$

Moreover, Conjecture 5.12 for (\mathcal{X}, n) is the following:

$$\det(\lambda_{\infty}(\mathcal{X}, n)) = \pm \zeta^*(\mathcal{X}, n) \cdot C(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1}$$

and similarly for $(\mathcal{X}, d-n)$. The Corollary now easily follows from Conjecture 5.30.

5.8 PROVEN CASES AND EXAMPLES

5.8.1 VARIETIES OVER FINITE FIELDS

Let \mathcal{X} be regular proper arithmetic scheme of pure dimension d defined over the finite field \mathbb{F}_p . We assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies $\mathbf{L}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{L}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, d - n)$ and $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, d)$.

PROPOSITION 5.32. Conjecture 5.12 holds for \mathcal{X} and any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.9, we have $C(\mathcal{X}, n) = 1$. By Corollary 3.21 and since $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, d)$ implies $\mathbf{P}(\mathcal{X}, d)$, \mathcal{X} satisfies $\mathbf{L}(\mathcal{X}_W, n)$. The result follows from Theorem 3.20 and [73].

5.8.2 The case n = 0.

Let \mathcal{X} be regular proper arithmetic scheme of pure dimension d. We assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, d)$ and $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, d)$.

PROPOSITION 5.33. Conjecture 5.12 for \mathcal{X} and n = 0 is equivalent to [72][Conj. 4.2(b)].

Proof. By Proposition 5.8, we have $C(\mathcal{X}, 0) = 1$. The result follows.

5.8.3 NUMBER RINGS

Let F be a number field, set

$$\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$$

and let

$$\rho_n := \operatorname{ord}_{s=n} \zeta_F(s) = \begin{cases} r_2 & n < 0 \text{ odd} \\ r_1 + r_2 & n < 0 \text{ even} \\ r_1 + r_2 - 1 & n = 0 \\ -1 & n = 1 \\ 0 & n > 1 \end{cases}$$

be the well known vanishing order of the Dedekind Zeta function

$$\zeta(\mathcal{X},s) = \zeta_F(s)$$

where r_1 , resp. r_2 , is the number of real, resp. complex, places of F. Conjectures $\mathbf{L}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$, $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ are known for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For $n \geq 1$ define

$$H^{i,n} := H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

We have $H^{i,n} = 0$ for $i \leq 0$, the group $H^{1,n}$ is finitely generated and $H^{2,n}$ is finite. This follows from the isomorphism [37][Thm.1.2]

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)), \quad i \leq n+1,$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1503

1504 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

the analysis of the spectral sequence from motivic cohomology to algebraic Ktheory (see [63][14.4]) and the known properties (finite generation, ranks) of the algebraic K-groups of \mathcal{O}_F . In degrees $i \geq 3$ we have

$$H^{i,n} \cong \begin{cases} \operatorname{Br}(\mathcal{O}_F) \cong (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1, \Sigma=0}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \delta_{i,1}} & n=1\\ (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \delta_{i,n}} & n \ge 2 \end{cases}$$

where

$$\delta_{i,n} = \begin{cases} 1 & n \equiv i \mod 2\\ 0 & n \not\equiv i \mod 2. \end{cases}$$

The Beilinson regulator map

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\varrho_{n}^{B}} H^{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} F_{v}/H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{R}) \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{R})$$

induces isomorphisms

$$\varrho^B_{n,\mathbb{R}}: H^1(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v,(2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{R})$$

for n > 1 and

$$\varrho^B_{1,\mathbb{R}}: H^1(\mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{et}},\mathbb{Z}(1))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \left(\prod_{v\mid\infty}\mathbb{R}\right)^{\Sigma=0}$$

for n = 1. For $n \ge 1$ we set

$$h_n := |H^2(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))|$$
$$w_n := |H^1(\mathcal{X}_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{tor}|$$
$$R_n := \operatorname{vol}(\operatorname{coker}(\varrho_n^B))$$

where the volume is taken with respect to the \mathbb{Z} -structure $\prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{n-1}\mathbb{Z})$, resp. $(\prod_{v\mid\infty}\mathbb{Z})^{\Sigma=0}$, of the target. We have

$$\begin{cases} 0, 0, H^{1,n}, H^{2,n}, (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{3,n}}, (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{i,n}} & n > 1 \\ 0, 0, \mathcal{A}^{X}, \mathcal{O}^{Y}(\mathcal{A}) \in \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{i}_{W}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong \begin{cases} 0,0,\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times}, \operatorname{Cl}(\mathcal{O}_{F}),\mathbb{Z},0 & n=1\\ 0,\mathbb{Z},0,(\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times})^{*} \oplus \operatorname{Cl}(\mathcal{O}_{F})^{D},(\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times})^{D}_{tor},0 & n=0\\ (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_{1}\cdot\epsilon_{i-1,n}},0,0,(H^{1,1-n})^{*} \oplus (H^{2,1-n})^{D},(H^{1,1-n}_{tor})^{D},0 & n<0 \end{cases}$$

in degrees i < 0, i = 0, 1, 2, 3 and i > 3 respectively. Here $A^* = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(A, \mathbb{Z})$, D is the Pontryagin dual and

$$\epsilon_{i,n} = \begin{cases} \delta_{i,n} & 1 \le i \le n \text{ or } n < i < 0\\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

The long exact sequence induced by (56) gives

$$\begin{cases} 0, 0, H^{1,n}_{tor}, \operatorname{coker}(\varrho_n^B) \oplus H^{2,n}, (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{3,n}}, (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{i,n}} & n > 1 \\ 0, 0, (\mathcal{Q}^{\times}) & = \mathcal{Q}(\overline{\mathcal{Q}^{\times}}) & \mathbb{Z} \end{cases}$$

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar}}(\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong \begin{cases} 0, 0, (\mathcal{O}_{F})_{tor}, Cl(\mathcal{X}), \mathbb{Z}, 0 & n = 1\\ 0, \mathbb{Z}, 0, (\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times})^{*} \oplus \mathrm{Cl}(\mathcal{O}_{F})^{D}, (\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times})_{tor}^{D}, 0 & n = 0\\ (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_{1} \cdot \epsilon_{i-1,n}}, 0, 0, (H^{1,1-n})^{*} \oplus (H^{2,1-n})^{D}, (H^{1,1-n}_{tor})^{D}, 0 & n < 0 \end{cases}$$

where $\operatorname{Cl}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \cong \operatorname{Pic}(\overline{\mathcal{X}})$ is the usual Arakelov class group of \mathcal{O}_F . For $n \leq 0$ there are isomorphisms

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong H^{i}_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong 0, \mathbb{Z}^{\rho_{n}}, (H^{1,1-n})^{*} \oplus (H^{2,1-n})^{D}, (H^{1,1-n}_{tor})^{D}, 0$$

in degrees i < 1, i = 1, 2, 3 and i > 3 respectively. Hence for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ the groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ are finitely generated,

$$H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n))\cong H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$$

and $H^i_{{\rm ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is compact. More precisely, for n<0 we have isomorphisms

$$H^{1}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = H^{1}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{0}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{n}\mathbb{R})$$

and

$$H^{2}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = H^{1}_{c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(n)) \cong H^{1}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{R}(1-n))^{*} \cong H^{1}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{X}_{/\mathbb{R}},\mathbb{R}(1-n))^{*}$$

$$\cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} (F_{v}/H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{1-n}\mathbb{R}))^{*} \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^{0}(F_{v},(2\pi i)^{-n}\mathbb{R})^{*}$$
(87)

and similarly for n = 0 (taking the quotient by the diagonally embedded \mathbb{R} in the target). We note that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^1_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H^2_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = \rho_n$$

and $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = 0$ for $i \neq 1, 2$, verifying Conjecture 5.11. For n < 0 recall that R_{1-n} was formed with respect to the \mathbb{Z} -structures $H^{1,1-n}/tor$ and $\prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{-n}\mathbb{Z})$ in the dual of (87) and therefore also agrees with the regulator formed with respect to $(H^{1,1-n})^*$ and the natural \mathbb{Z} -structure

$$(\prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{-n}\mathbb{Z}))^* \cong \prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^n\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^1_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

of $H^1_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(n))$. Similar considerations apply to n = 0. For $n \leq 0$ we have $C(\mathcal{X}, n) = 1$ by Prop. 5.8 and $R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n = 0$ and hence Conjecture 5.12 reduces to the statement

$$\zeta_F^*(n) = \pm \frac{h_{1-n} \cdot R_{1-n}}{w_{1-n}}.$$
(88)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

For $n \geq 1$ the groups $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ vanish except for i = 2,3. There is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \left(\prod_{v \mid \infty} F_v^{\times}\right) / \mathcal{O}_F^{\times} \to H^2_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(1)) \to \mathrm{Cl}(\mathcal{O}_F) \to 0$$

showing that the group $H^2_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(1))$ is an extension

$$0 \to H^1_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(1)) \to H^2_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(1)) \to H^2_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(1)) \cong \mathbb{R} \to 0$$

of \mathbbm{R} by a compact group. The continuation of this long exact sequence looks like

Conjecture 5.11 follows since $H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}(1)) = 0$ for $i \neq 2, 3$. For $n \geq 2$ there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \left(\prod_{v \mid \infty} H^0(F_v, \mathbb{C}/(2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z})\right) / H^1(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^2_{\mathrm{ar}, c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$
$$\to H^2(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{2, n}} \to H^3_{\mathrm{ar}, c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to 0$$

showing that the groups

$$H^{i-1}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{\tilde{R}}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong H^{i}_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

are compact for i = 2, 3. We have

$$H^i_{\mathrm{ar},c}(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{\mathbb{R}}(n)) = 0$$

for all i, verifying Conjecture 5.11.

PROPOSITION 5.34. Assume $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $n \geq 1$. If Conjecture $C_{EP}(\mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ of [77] [App.C2] holds over all local fields $K = F_v$, in particular if all F_v are abelian extensions of \mathbb{Q}_p [4], then

$$C(\mathcal{X}, n) = (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]}.$$

Proof. We first explicate Conjecture $C_{EP}(V)$ of [77][App.C2] for $K = F_v$ and $V = \mathbb{Q}_p(n)$. We have $D_{dR}(V) = K \cdot t^{-n}$ and the period isomorphism

$$B_{dR} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} K \cdot t^{-n} \cong B_{dR} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \operatorname{Ind}_K^{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p(n)$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

is already induced by the isomorphism

$$\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} K \cong \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathrm{Ind}_K^{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \cong \prod_{\Sigma} \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p$$

sending $1 \otimes x$ to $(\sigma(x))_{\sigma \in \Sigma}$ where $\Sigma = \text{Hom}(K, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$. Denote by $D_K \in \mathbb{Q}_p$ the discriminant of K/\mathbb{Q}_p , well defined up to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} . For

$$\omega = \omega_1^{-1} \otimes \omega_T$$

where ω_1 , resp. ω_T , is a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of $\operatorname{Det}_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{O}_K$, resp. $\operatorname{Det}_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \operatorname{Ind}_K^{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathbb{Z}_p$ we have in the notation of [77][Lemme C.2.8]

$$\tilde{\xi}_V(\omega) = (\sqrt{D_K})^{-1} \in \bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p$$

and

$$\eta_V(\omega) := \left| \frac{\sqrt{D_K} \cdot \tilde{\xi}_V(\omega)}{\epsilon(V, \psi_{o,K}, \mu_{o,K})} \right|_p^{-1} = \left| \frac{1}{\epsilon(V, \psi_{o,K}, \mu_{o,K})} \right|_p^{-1}$$

where $\epsilon(V, \psi_{o,K}, \mu_{o,K})$ is the ϵ -factor associated by the theory of [19] to the representation of the Weil Group of K on $D_{pst}(V)$ defined in [77][C.1.4]. Here the additive character $\psi_{o,K}$ and the Haar measure $\mu_{o,K}$ are defined in [77][C.2.7]. In particular $\mu_{o,K}(\mathcal{O}_K) = 1$ and the $n(\psi_{o,K})$ of [19][3.4] is the valuation of the different of K/\mathbb{Q}_p . By [19][5.9] we have

$$\eta_V(\omega) = |\epsilon(\mathbb{Q}_p(n), \psi_{o,K}, \mu_{o,K})|_p = |D_K^{1-n}|_p \sim D_K^{n-1} \mod \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}.$$

Furthermore, the Γ -factor of [77][C.2.9] is

$$\prod_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\Gamma^*(-j)^{-h_j(V)[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]} = (n-1)!^{-[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$$

and so Conjecture $C_{EP}(\mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ becomes

$$\operatorname{Det}_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma(K, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) = (1 - q^{-n}) \cdot (n - 1)!^{-[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]} \cdot D_K^{n-1} \cdot \omega_1^{-1}$$
(89)

where q is the cardinality of the residue field of K. This is an identity of invertible \mathbb{Z}_p -submodules of the invertible \mathbb{Q}_p -module $\text{Det}_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma(K, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong \text{Det}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(K)^{-1}$ where this last isomorphism is given by the Bloch-Kato exponential map

$$K \xrightarrow{\exp} H^1(K, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

for $n \geq 2$ and the exact sequence

$$0 \to K \xrightarrow{\exp} H^1(K, \mathbb{Q}_p(1)) \cong \hat{K}^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \xrightarrow{\operatorname{val}} \mathbb{Q}_p \cong H^2(K, \mathbb{Q}_p(1)) \to 0$$

for n = 1. Coming back to the computation of $C(\mathcal{X}, n)$ we have by Prop. 5.36 below

$$\det_{\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n = |D_F|^{n-1} \cdot \det_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_F \subseteq \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} F_{\mathbb{Q}_p} = \det_{\mathbb{Q}_p} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}/\mathbb{Q}_p)/F^n$$
(90)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

where D_F is the discriminant of F. Moreover

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \cong \prod_{v|p} R\Gamma(\kappa(v)_{et}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) = 0$$

and

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p,et},\mathbb{Z}_p(n)) \cong \prod_{v|p} R\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{F_v,et},\mathbb{Z}_p(n)).$$

By the localization triangle (138) for $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{F_v})$, the fact that $\tau^{\leq n} R j_* \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n} = R j_* \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}$ for $n \geq 1$ and the vanishing of $R\Gamma(\kappa(v)_{\text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n-1))$ for $n \geq 2$ we have

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v},\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(F_{v,\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(n))$$
(91)

for $n \geq 2$ and an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{F_{v},\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(1)) \to R\Gamma(F_{v,\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}_{p}(1)) \to R\Gamma(\kappa(v)_{\text{et}},\mathbb{Z}_{p})[-1] \to$$
(92)

for n = 1. The exact triangle in Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ is the product over $v \mid p$ of the isomorphism

$$F_v[-1] \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1_f(F_v, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))[-1] \cong R\Gamma_f(F_v, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong R\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{F_v, \text{et}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

where the first map is the Bloch-Kato exponential. For $v \mid p$ define $d_v(\mathcal{X}, n) \in \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}/\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ such that

$$d_v(\mathcal{X}, n)^{-1} \cdot \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R\Gamma(\mathcal{O}_{F_v, \text{et}}, \mathbb{Z}_p(n)) = \det_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{-1} R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}/\mathbb{Z}_p)/F^n.$$

From (89), (90), (91) and (92) we deduce

$$d_v(\mathcal{X}, n) = (1 - q_v^{-n}) \cdot (n - 1)!^{-[F_v:\mathbb{Q}_p]} \cdot D_{F_v}^{n-1} \cdot D_F^{1-n}$$
$$= (1 - q_v^{-n}) \cdot (n - 1)!^{-[F_v:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$$

where $q_v := |\kappa(v)|$. With $d_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ and $c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ defined in Definition 5.6 we have

$$d_p(\mathcal{X}, n) = \prod_{v|p} d_v(\mathcal{X}, n), \quad c_p(\mathcal{X}, n) = \prod_{v|p} q_v^n \cdot d_v(\mathcal{X}, n)$$

and hence

$$C(\mathcal{X}, n) := \prod_{p < \infty} |c_p(\mathcal{X}, n)|_p = \prod_{p < \infty} \prod_{v \mid p} |(n-1)!|_p^{[F_v:\mathbb{Q}_p]} = (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]}.$$

For $n\geq 2$ we have $H^i_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))=0$ for $i\neq 1,2,3$ and an exact sequence

$$0 \to \prod_{v \mid \infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^{1,n} \xrightarrow{\alpha} (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{1,n}} \to \\ \to H^2_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to H^{2,n} \to (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{r_1 \cdot \epsilon_{2,n}} \to H^3_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to 0.$$

Documenta Mathematica 23 (2018) 1425-1560

The exact triangle (64) reduces to an isomorphism

$$H^1_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \cong F_{\mathbb{R}}.$$
(93)

The determinant of this isomorphism for the \mathbb{Z} -structures $H^1_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and

$$\prod_{v\mid\infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^n \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{n-1} \mathbb{Z})$$
(94)

on

$$F_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \prod_{v \mid \infty} F_v \cong \prod_{v \mid \infty} H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^n \mathbb{R}) \oplus H^0(F_v, (2\pi i)^{n-1} \mathbb{R})$$

equals $R_n/w_n \cdot |\operatorname{im}(\alpha)|$ and hence the determinant between $R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ and (94) equals

$$R_n/w_n \cdot |\operatorname{im}(\alpha)| \cdot \frac{|H^2_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))|}{|H^3_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(n))|} = \frac{R_n \cdot h_n \cdot 2^{r_1 \cdot \delta_{1,n}}}{w_n \cdot 2^{r_1 \cdot \delta_{2,n}}}$$

noting that $\delta_{i,n} = \epsilon_{i,n}$ for i = 1, 2 and $n \ge 1$. The determinant between (94) and \mathcal{O}_F is

$$(2\pi i)^{r_2(2n-1)+r_1(n-\delta_{1,n})}/\sqrt{D_F} = \pm (2\pi)^{[F:\mathbb{Q}]\cdot n-r_2-r_1\cdot\delta_{1,n}}/\sqrt{|D_F|}$$

using that $\sqrt{D_F} = \pm i^{r_2} \sqrt{|D_F|}$. Hence, also using Prop. 5.36 below, the isomorphism

 $\lambda_{\infty} : \mathbb{R} \cong \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n)_{\mathbb{R}} \cong \det_{\mathbb{R}} R\Gamma_{W,c}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \det_{\mathbb{R}} (R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/\mathrm{Fil}^{n})_{\mathbb{R}}$ induced by (64) satisfies

$$\lambda_{\infty}\left(|D_F|^{n-1} \cdot \frac{w_n \sqrt{|D_F|}}{2^{r_1 \cdot (\delta_{1,n} - \delta_{2,n})} (2\pi)^{[F:\mathbb{Q}] \cdot n - r_2 - r_1 \cdot \delta_{1,n}} h_n R_n} \cdot \mathbb{Z}\right) = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z}, n).$$

Finally, using Prop. 5.34, the identity of Conjecture 5.12

$$\lambda_{\infty}(\zeta^*(\mathcal{X},n)^{-1} \cdot C(\mathcal{X},n) \cdot \mathbb{Z}) = \Delta(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z},n)$$

is equivalent to

$$\zeta_F^*(n) = \zeta_F(n) = |D_F|^{1-n} \cdot (n-1)!^{-[F:\mathbb{Q}]} \cdot \frac{2^{r_1 \cdot (\delta_{1,n} - \delta_{2,n})} (2\pi)^{[F:\mathbb{Q}] \cdot n - r_2 - r_1 \cdot \delta_{1,n}} h_n R_n}{w_n \sqrt{|D_F|}},$$
(05)

at least if we also assume conjecture $C_{EP}(\mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ for all local fields F_v . For n = 1 the triangle (64) gives an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(1))_{\mathbb{R}} \to F_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}_{F_{\mathbb{R}}/\mathbb{R}}} \mathbb{R} \to 0 \to 0 \to \mathbb{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^3_{W,c}(\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Z}(1))_{\mathbb{R}} \to 0$$

instead of the isomorphism (93) but otherwise the computation is the same, showing that for any number field F Conjecture 5.12 is equivalent to (95) for n = 1, i.e. to the analytic class number formula. Conjecture 5.30 holds with $A(\mathcal{X}) = |D_F|$ and one easily proves that (95) is equivalent to (88) by verifying identity (86) in Corollary 5.31 i).

PROPOSITION 5.35. Assume $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$. Then Conjecture 5.12 holds for n = 0, 1 if F is arbitrary and for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ if F/\mathbb{Q} is abelian.

Proof. By Theorem 5.27 this reduces to known cases of the Tamagawa number conjecture [14, 24, 26, 47].

We conclude this section with the computation of derived de Rham cohomology of $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F)$. Let $\mathcal{D}_F \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ be the different ideal so that

$$|D_F| = |N(\mathcal{D}_F)| = [\mathcal{O}_F : \mathcal{D}_F]$$

is the absolute discriminant of F. Recall from [86][III. Prop. 14] that the module of Kähler differentials $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a cyclic \mathcal{O}_F -module with annihilator \mathcal{D}_F . A generator ω of $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}$ therefore gives an exact sequence of \mathcal{O}_F -modules

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_F \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_F \xrightarrow{\omega} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} \longrightarrow 0$$
(96)

and we have $|\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}| = |D_F|$. Recall that $L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n := \operatorname{Tot}(\Omega^{< n}_{P_{\bullet}/\mathbb{Z}})$ where $P_{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_F$ is an augmented simplicial \mathbb{Z} -algebra which is a free resolution of \mathcal{O}_F and that

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n := R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n) = \Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{Zar}, L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n)$$

is the derived de Rham cohomology modulo the *n*-th step of the Hodge filtration introduced in section 5.1. Here the last isomorphism holds since \mathcal{X} is affine. We denote by $L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} := "\lim" L\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}/F^n$ the Hodge-completed derived de Rham complex. Unless stated otherwise, a complex of the form $[M \to N]$ denotes a cochain complex placed in degrees [0, 1].

PROPOSITION 5.36. We have $\operatorname{gr}^0(L\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq \mathcal{O}_F[0]$. For any $i \geq 1$, a generator of the cyclic \mathcal{O}_F -module $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}$ gives a quasi-isomorphism of complexes of \mathcal{O}_F -modules

$$\operatorname{gr}^{i}(L\hat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_{F}}^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{F}} \Omega_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}^{1}[-1]$$
 (97)

where $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_F}^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_F$ is an invertible \mathcal{O}_F -module. In particular, for any $n \geq 1$, we have an exact sequence of complexes

$$0 \to F^1/F^n \to R\Gamma_{dR}(\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z})/F^n \to \mathcal{O}_F[0] \to 0$$

where F^1/F^n is concentrated in degree 1, and $H^1(F^1/F^n)$ is finite with order

$$|H^1(F^1/F^n)| = |D_F|^{n-1}$$

Proof. The first assertion is obvious, since we have

$$\operatorname{gr}^{0}(L\hat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq [\cdots \to P_{1} \to P_{0}] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}_{F}[0].$$

Next we claim that the canonical morphism

$$L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} \to H^0(L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}})[0] \simeq \Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}[0]$$

is a quasi-isomorphism. The map $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_F) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$ is a local complete intersection, hence we have an isomorphism $L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} \simeq [M \to N][1]$ in the derived category of \mathcal{O}_F -modules, where M and N are finitely generated and locally free \mathcal{O}_F -modules [49][Prop. 3.2.6]. In particular $H^{-1}(L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}})$ is a torsionfree \mathcal{O}_F -module. It is therefore enough to show that $H^{-1}(L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F =$ $H^{-1}(L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F) = 0$, which in turn follows from

$$L_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} F \simeq L_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \simeq 0.$$

Recall from [50][Ch. VIII (2.1.1.5)] that $\operatorname{gr}^{i}(L\hat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq L\Lambda^{i}(L_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}})[-i]$ and assume $i \geq 1$. We obtain using (96), [50][Ch. VIII, Lemme 2.1.2.1] and [49][Ch. I, Prop. 4.3.2.1 (ii)]

$$\begin{split} L\Lambda^{i}(L_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) &\simeq L\Lambda^{i}(\Omega^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \\ &\simeq L\Lambda^{i}\left([\mathcal{D}_{F} \to \mathcal{O}_{F}][1]\right) \\ &\simeq \left[\Gamma^{i}\mathcal{D}_{F} \to \Gamma^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \Lambda^{1}\mathcal{O}_{F} \to \dots \to \Lambda^{i}\mathcal{O}_{F}][i] \\ &\simeq \left[\Gamma^{i}\mathcal{D}_{F} \to \Gamma^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{F}\right][i] \end{split}$$

where all tensor products and exterior and divided power algebras are taken over \mathcal{O}_F . The map $\kappa : \Gamma^i \mathcal{D}_F \to \Gamma^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_F \otimes \mathcal{O}_F$ corresponds to the canonical "application *i*-ique" $\mathcal{D}_F \to \Gamma^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_F \otimes \mathcal{O}_F$ sending x to $\gamma_{i-1}(x) \otimes x$. Thus κ is given by

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \kappa : & \Gamma^{i}\mathcal{D}_{F} & \longrightarrow & \Gamma^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{F} \\ & \gamma_{i}(x) & \longmapsto & \gamma_{i-1}(x) \otimes x \end{array}$$

Consider the sequence of \mathcal{O}_F -modules

$$0 \longrightarrow \Gamma^{i} \mathcal{D}_{F} \xrightarrow{\kappa} \Gamma^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{F} \xrightarrow{1 \otimes \omega} \Gamma^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \Omega^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}} \longrightarrow 0.$$
(98)

To see that (98) is exact, one may localize for the Zariski topology since the functor Γ^i is compatible with extension of scalars, i.e. $\Gamma^i_A(M) \otimes_A B \simeq \Gamma^i_B(M \otimes_A B)$ (see [78] Théorème III.3). Hence one may assume that \mathcal{D}_F is a free module of rank one with generator x, in which case $\Gamma^i \mathcal{D}_F$ is also free of rank one and generated by $\gamma_i(x)$, and similarly for $\Gamma^{i-1} \mathcal{D}_F$. The exactness of the sequence (98) follows. We obtain

$$L\Lambda^{i}(L_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq [\Gamma^{i}\mathcal{D}_{F} \to \Gamma^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{F}][i] \simeq \Gamma^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes \Omega^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}[i-1]$$

hence

$$\operatorname{gr}^{i}(L\hat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}) \simeq L\Lambda^{i}(L_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}})[-i] \simeq \Gamma^{i-1}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}}\mathcal{D}_{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{F}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{F}/\mathbb{Z}}[-1].$$

As observed above, $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_F}^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_F$ is an invertible \mathcal{O}_F -module, hence $\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_F}^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_F \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} \Omega_F^1$ $\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}^1$ is a torsion \mathbb{Z} -module whose order is given by

$$|\Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_F}^{i-1}\mathcal{D}_F \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} \Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}^1| = |\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}^1| = |D_F|.$$

In order to show the last assertion, it remains to prove that F^1/F^n is concentrated in degree 1 and that $H^1(F^1/F^n)$ is finite with order $|H^1(F^1/F^n)| = |D_F|^{n-1}$, where F^* denotes the Hodge filtration. This is obvious for n = 1. We conclude by induction on n using the exact triangle

$$F^n/F^{n+1} \to F^1/F^{n+1} \to F^1/F^n \to$$

and the isomorphism (97)

$$F^n/F^{n+1} \cong \Gamma(\mathcal{X}, \operatorname{gr}^n(L\hat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}})) \cong \Gamma_{\mathcal{O}_F}^{n-1}\mathcal{D}_F \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_F} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_F/\mathbb{Z}}[-1].$$

6 APPENDIX A: ARTIN-VERDIER DUALITY

In this section \mathcal{X} denotes a regular connected scheme, which is proper over \mathbb{Z} . We assume that \mathcal{X} is of pure (absolute) dimension d. Unless specified otherwise, a scheme is always endowed with the étale topology.

6.1 INTRODUCTION

Artin-Verdier duality for the cycle complex over \mathcal{X} is known in certain cases by [37], [39] and [79]. In order to deal with 2-torsion, these duality theorems relate étale cohomology of \mathcal{X} with étale cohomology with compact support of \mathcal{X} in the sense of Milne [69]. The aim of this appendix is to define complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ over the Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ and to show duality over $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$. In particular, we obtain Conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ for smooth proper schemes over number rings and any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see Corollary 6.27), as well as for arbitrary regular proper arithmetic schemes if $n \geq d$ or $n \leq 0$ (see Corollary 6.26). These results are essentially due to Geisser and Sato (see [37], [39] and [79]); we only treat the 2-torsion in order to restore duality over $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$. This appendix may be seen as a generalization of [7] to higher dimensional arithmetic schemes.

We now explain our definition for $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and describe the contents of this appendix. The topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ is defined so that there is an open-closed decomposition (see Section 6.3)

$$\phi: \mathcal{X}_{et} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et} \longleftarrow \mathcal{X}_{\infty}: u_{\infty}$$

where $\phi : \mathcal{X}_{et} \to \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ is the open embedding and \mathcal{X}_{∞} its closed complement. The right definition for $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ in the range $0 \le n \le d$ is

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} := \tau^{\leq n} (R\phi_* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}).$$
(99)

Since we need $\phi^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$, this definition requires $\mathcal{H}^i(\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}) = 0$ for any i > n, which is not known for general regular \mathcal{X} . However (99) gives

$$Ru_{\infty}^{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} = \left(\tau^{>n}u_{\infty,*}R\pi_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}\right)\left[-1\right] \simeq \left(\tau^{>n}u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}\right)\left[-1\right].$$

where $R\hat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}$ is the complex of 2-torsion sheaves on \mathcal{X}_∞ defined in Section 6.4. Therefore, we define $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ such that there is an exact triangle

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \longrightarrow R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \longrightarrow \tau^{>n} \left(u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z} \right)$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ (see Corollary 6.8). We then show that the resulting complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ satisfy the expected Artin-Verdier duality. This fact relies on Poincaré duality for the cohomology of the possibly non-orientable manifold $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ with $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ -coefficients. Moreover, our definition of $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ coincides with (99) whenever $n \geq 0$ and $\mathcal{H}^i(\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}) = 0$ for any i > n (see Proposition 6.10). In particular, we have $\mathbb{Z}(0)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}(1)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \phi_* \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$, where \mathbb{Z} denotes the constant sheaf on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$, and \mathbb{G}_m denotes the multiplicative group on \mathcal{X}_{et} (Proposition 6.11). We notice that, even though the complex $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ has bounded cohomology, it may have non-trivial cohomology in negative degrees for n < 0. We observe in Proposition 6.29 that this surprising fact is forced by the projective bundle formula.

6.2 The motivic complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$

For any $n \geq 0$, we consider Bloch's cycle complex $\mathbb{Z}(n) = z^n(-, 2n - *)$ as a complex of sheaves on the small étale site \mathcal{X}_{et} of the scheme \mathcal{X} . We have $\mathbb{Z}(0) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}(1) \simeq \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$ (see [64], [63]). We write $\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n) := \mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n) := \underline{\lim} \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n)$. We have an exact triangle

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Q}(n) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n).$$

The Beilinson-Soulé vanishing conjecture states that $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is acyclic in negative degrees. In order to unconditionally define hypercohomology (or higher direct images) with coefficients in $\mathbb{Z}(n)$, we use *K*-injective resolutions (see [88] and [85]). Similarly, we use *K*-flat resolutions in order to define the derived tensor product of unbounded complexes. By [37], if \mathcal{X} is smooth over a number ring then $\mathbb{Z}/p^r\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is isomorphic, in the derived category, to Sato's complex [79]. Recall also from Section 3.1 that for n < 0 we define

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) := \bigoplus_{p} j_{p,!}(\mu_{p^{\infty}}^{\otimes n})[-1].$$

6.3 The Artin-Verdier étale topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$

For a scheme \mathcal{X} as above, we consider $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ as a topological space with respect to the complex topology. The space $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ carries an action of $G_{\mathbb{R}} := \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R})$, and we consider the quotient topological space $\mathcal{X}_{\infty} := \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})/G_{\mathbb{R}}$. Consider the canonical morphisms of topol

$$\alpha: Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}_{et}$$

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

and

1514

$\pi: Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \longrightarrow Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}).$

Here $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ and $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ denote the topos of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaves (of sets) on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ and the topos of sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{∞} respectively. Recall that there is a canonical equivalence between $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ and the category of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ equivariant étalé spaces over $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$, i.e. the category of topological spaces Egiven with a $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -action and a $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant local homeomorphism $E \to \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. The morphisms π and α are defined as follows. In order to construct α , we need to define a functor α^* from the étale site of \mathcal{X} to the category $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ such that α^* is both continuous and left exact (i.e. such that α^* preserves the final object, fiber products and covering families). This functor simply takes an étale \mathcal{X} -scheme $\mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}$ to the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant étalé space $\mathcal{U}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. We shall also consider the topos $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{∞} , where $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ acts trivially on \mathcal{X}_{∞} . Notice that an abelian sheaf on $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ is simply a sheaf of $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ -modules on \mathcal{X}_{∞} . In order to define π , we consider the map $p: Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \to Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ induced by the $G_{mathbbR}$ -equivariant continuous map $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$. Given an étalé space $E \to \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$, we define

$$\pi^*(E \to \mathcal{X}_\infty) := E \times_{\mathcal{X}_\infty} \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$$

where $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ acts on the second factor. Given a $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -sheaf F on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ and an open $U \subset \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$, we have a canonical $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -action on the set $p_*F(U)$, and we set $\pi_*F(U) := (p_*F(U))^{G_{\mathbb{R}}}$. The following result is well-known.

LEMMA 6.1. Let \mathcal{A} be an abelian object of $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$. For any point $x \in \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$ and $y \in \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ lying over x, we have

$$(R\pi_*\mathcal{A})_x \simeq R\Gamma(G_y, \mathcal{A}_y) \tag{100}$$

where $G_y \subseteq G_{\mathbb{R}}$ is the stabilizer of y.

In particular the sheaf $R^i \pi_* \mathcal{A}$ is concentrated on the closed subset $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) \subset \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$ as long as i > 0. The topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ is the category of sheaves of sets on the Artin-Verdier étale site of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ (see [27]). There is an open-closed decomposition

$$\phi: \mathcal{X}_{et} \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}_{et} \longleftarrow \mathcal{X}_{\infty}: u_{\infty}$$

whose gluing functor can be described as follows:

$$u_{\infty}^*\phi_* \simeq \pi_*\alpha^* : \mathcal{X}_{et} \longrightarrow Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \longrightarrow Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$$
(101)

Those two properties characterize $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ up to equivalence: $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ is canonically equivalent to the category of triples $(F_{\mathcal{X}}, F_{\infty}, f)$ where $F_{\mathcal{X}}$ is an object of \mathcal{X}_{et} (i.e. an étale sheaf on \mathcal{X}), F_{∞} an object of $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ and $f: F_{\infty} \to \pi_* \alpha^* F_{\mathcal{X}}$ is a map in $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$. This description of the topos $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ gives as usual two triples of adjoint functors $(\phi_{!}, \phi^*, \phi_*)$ and $(u_{\infty}^*, u_{\infty,*}, u_{\infty}^!)$ between the corresponding categories of abelian sheaves, which satisfy the classical formalism. In particular, we have

 $u_{\infty}^* u_{\infty,*} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Id}, \quad \phi^* \phi_* \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Id}, \quad \phi^* u_{\infty,*} = 0.$

Moreover, for any complex of abelian sheaves \mathcal{A} on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \phi_! \phi^* \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \to u_{\infty,*} u_\infty^* \mathcal{A} \to 0$$

and an exact triangle

$$u_{\infty,*}Ru^!_{\infty}\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \to R\phi_*\phi^*\mathcal{A}$$

where the maps are given by adjunction. The following derived version of (101) will be useful. We denote by $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{et})$, $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$ and $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ the derived categories of the abelian categories of abelian sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{et} , $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$ and \mathcal{X}_{∞} respectively. Moreover we denote by $\mathcal{D}^+(\mathcal{X}_{et})$, $\mathcal{D}^+(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$ and $\mathcal{D}^+(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ the corresponding derived categories of bounded below complexes.

LEMMA 6.2. The functor α^* sends injective objects to π_* -acyclic objects, hence the natural transformation of functors from $\mathcal{D}^+(\mathcal{X}_{et})$ to $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$

$$u_{\infty}^* \circ R\phi_* \xrightarrow{\sim} R\pi_* \circ \alpha^*$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. In view of the canonical isomorphisms

$$u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \simeq R(u_{\infty}^* \phi_*) \simeq R(\pi_* \alpha^*),$$

one is reduced to showing that α^* sends injective objects to π_* -acyclic objects. Indeed, if this is the case then the spectral sequence for the composite functor $\pi_* \circ \alpha^*$ together with the exactness of α^* yield

$$R(\pi_*\alpha^*) \simeq R\pi_*R\alpha^* \simeq R(\pi_*)\alpha^*.$$

Let *I* be an injective abelian sheaf on \mathcal{X}_{et} . By Lemma 6.1, we have $(R^i \pi_*(\alpha^* I))_y = 0$ for any $i \ge 1$ and any $y \in \mathcal{X}_{\infty} - \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$. Let $y \in \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) \subset \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$. The point *y* is a morphism $y : \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{X}$ and we denote by

$$x: \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{X}$$

the (unique) point $x \in \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$ such that $\pi(x) = y$. Then we have

$$(R^i\pi_*(\alpha^*I))_y = H^i(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (\alpha^*I)_x) = H^i(G_{\mathbb{R}}, x^*I) = H^i(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R})_{et}, y^*I)$$

for any $i \geq 1$. Moreover, we have

$$H^{i}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R})_{et}, y^{*}I) = H^{i}(\underline{\lim} \mathcal{U}, I_{|\lim}\mathcal{U}) = \underline{\lim} H^{i}(\mathcal{U}, I_{|\mathcal{U}})$$
(102)

where \mathcal{U} runs over the filtered set of pointed étale neighborhoods of (\mathcal{X}, y) , i.e. the family of pairs $(\mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}, \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{U})$ such that y coincides with the composition $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{X}$. Notice that (102) holds since étale cohomology commutes with filtered projective limits of schemes and because $\underline{\lim} \mathcal{U}$ is an

henselian local ring with residue field of Galois group $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ (however the residue field of $\varprojlim \mathcal{U}$ is not \mathbb{R} but rather an henselian real field algebraic over \mathbb{Q}). We obtain

$$H^{i}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{R})_{et}, y^{*}I) = \varinjlim H^{i}(\mathcal{U}, I_{|\mathcal{U}}) = 0$$

since $I_{|\mathcal{U}}$ is injective on \mathcal{U} , hence

$$R^i \pi_*(\alpha^* I) = 0$$
 for any $i \ge 1$.

The result follows.

6.4 Tate cohomology and the functor $R\widehat{\pi}_*$

We choose a resolution $P_+ \to \mathbb{Z}$ of the $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ -module \mathbb{Z} by finitely generated free $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ -modules, and we extend it into a complete resolution P_* . We have morphisms of complexes of $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ -modules:

$$P_* \to P_+ \to \mathbb{Z}.$$

If A is a bounded below complex of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -modules, Tate hypercohomology is defined as

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},A) := \int \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{R}}-\operatorname{Mod}}(P_*,A)$$

where \int denotes the totalization of the double complex Hom with respect to the *direct sum* on diagonals. The spectral sequence

$$\widehat{H}^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, H^{j}(A)) \Longrightarrow \widehat{H}^{i+j}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, A)$$

converges. It follows that $R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, -)$ preserves quasi-isomorphisms. We keep the notations of the previous section and we consider the $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -action on the topological space $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. We define Tate equivariant cohomology as follows:

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathcal{A}) := R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathcal{A}))$$

where \mathcal{A} is a bounded below complex of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant abelian sheaves on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} R\pi_*\mathcal{A} &\simeq & \operatorname{Ou} \int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\mathbb{Z},p_*I^*) \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\to} & \operatorname{Ou} \int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^*P_+,p_*I^*) \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} & \operatorname{Ou} \int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^*P_+,p_*\mathcal{A}) \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathcal{A} \to I^*$ is an injective resolution (by injective equivariant sheaves), $\Gamma^* P_+$ is the complex of equivariant sheaves associated with P_+ , $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}$ denotes the internal Hom inside the category of abelian sheaves on $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$,

 \int refers to the total complex associated with a double complex and Ou : $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty}) \to Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$ denotes the forgetful functor. Finally p_* is the direct image of the morphism $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \to Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})$. The functor p_* is exact by proper base change. Similarly, we define

$$\widehat{\pi}_*\mathcal{A} := \operatorname{Ou} \int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^*P_*, p_*\mathcal{A})$$

where \int now denotes totalization with respect to the *direct sum on anti-diagonals*. We have a convergent spectral sequence

$$\underline{\widehat{H}}^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, p_{*}\mathcal{H}^{j}(\mathcal{A})) \Longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{i+j}(\widehat{\pi}_{*}\mathcal{A}).$$
(103)

Here, given a sheaf of $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ -modules \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{X}_{∞} , we denote by $\underline{\widehat{H}}^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{F})$ the sheaf associated with the presheaf $U \to \widehat{H}^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{F}(U))$. The spectral sequence (103) shows that $\widehat{\pi}_{*}$ preserves quasi-isomorphisms. Hence $\widehat{\pi}_{*}$ induces a functor

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*: \mathcal{D}^+(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})) \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_\infty).$$

The spectral sequence above reads as follows:

$$\underline{\widehat{H}}^{i}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, p_{*}\mathcal{H}^{j}(\mathcal{A})) \Longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{i+j}(R\widehat{\pi}_{*}\mathcal{A}).$$
(104)

Note that the map $P_* \to P_+$ gives a natural transformation $R\pi_* \to R\hat{\pi}_*$. We shall need the following

LEMMA 6.3. Let \mathcal{A} be a bounded below complex of abelian sheaves on $Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$. There are canonical isomorphisms

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\mathcal{A}) \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty},R\widehat{\pi}_*\mathcal{A}) \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),R\widehat{\pi}_*\mathcal{A}_{|\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})}).$$

Proof. Let $\mathcal{A} \to I^*$ be an injective resolution. The first isomorphism follows from the following canonical identifications:

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, R\widehat{\pi}_{*}\mathcal{A}) \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \int \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^{*}P_{*}, p_{*}I^{*}))$$
(105)

$$\simeq \Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^* P_*, p_* I^*))$$
(106)

$$\simeq \int \Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^* P_*, p_* I^*))$$
(107)

$$\simeq \int \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{R}}-\operatorname{Mod}}(P_*, \Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, p_*I^*))$$
 (108)

$$\simeq \int \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{R}}-\operatorname{Mod}}(P_*, \Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), I^*))$$
(109)

$$\simeq R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \mathcal{A}).$$
 (110)

Here (105) follows from the spectral sequence (104); (106) and (107) follow from the fact that \mathcal{X}_{∞} is compact and finite dimensional. Indeed, the sheaves $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^*P_k, p_*I^l)$ are injective abelian equivariant sheaves (hence in particular injective abelian sheaves) since P_k is a finitely generated free $\mathbb{Z}[G_{\mathbb{R}}]$ module. Moreover, a direct sum of injective sheaves is acyclic for the global sections functor $\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, -)$, since $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, -)$ commutes with direct sums. It follows that $\int \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{Sh(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}_{\infty})}(\Gamma^*P_*, p_*I^*)$) is a complex of acyclic sheaves, hence (106) follows from the fact that $\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, -)$ has finite cohomological dimension. The identification (107) is valid since $\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, -)$ commutes with direct sums, and (108) is given by adjunction.

The second isomorphism of the Lemma follows from the fact that $\mathcal{H}^i(R\widehat{\pi}_*\mathcal{A})$ is concentrated on the closed subset $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) \subseteq \mathcal{X}_{\infty}$ for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

6.5 The motivic complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$

The construction of $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ requires the following lemma.

LEMMA 6.4. Let $\mathbb{Z}(n) \to I(n)$ be a K-injective resolution. There is a canonical morphism of complexes of abelian sheaves on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$

$$\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)}:\phi_*I(n)\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n))$$

such that $\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)}$ induces the following morphism in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$

$$\begin{aligned} R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}u_{\infty}^*R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} u_{\infty,*}R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}R\pi_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}\mathbb{Z}(n)) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}\mathbb{Z}(n)). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We consider the morphism

$$\begin{split} \phi_*I(n) &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}u_{\infty}^*\phi_*I(n) \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} u_{\infty,*}\pi_*\alpha^*I(n) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\pi_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n)) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n)) \\ &\longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n)) \end{split}$$

where the first map is given by adjunction and the second map is given by (101). The fourth map is given by the natural transformation $\pi_* \to \hat{\pi}_*$ induced by $P_* \to \mathbb{Z}$.

DEFINITION 6.5. We consider the following morphisms of complexes:

$$\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)} : \phi_*I(n) \longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n))$$

$$\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)}^! : \phi_*I(n) \longrightarrow u_{\infty,*}\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}I(n))$$

1519

and we define

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} := \operatorname{Cone}(\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)})[-1]$$
$$R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n) := \operatorname{Cone}(\sigma_{\overline{\mathcal{X}},\mathbb{Z}(n)})[-1].$$

Notice that $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and $R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n)$ are well defined in the derived category $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$, i.e. they do not depend on the choice of I(n) up to a canonical isomorphism in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$.

PROPOSITION 6.6. We have canonical morphisms of complexes

$$R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \longrightarrow R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)$$

If $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) = \emptyset$, these two maps are quasi-isomorphisms.

Proof. The maps are the obvious ones. The cohomology sheaves of the complex $R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}\mathbb{Z}(n))$ are concentrated on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ (see Lemma 6.7 below). In particular, $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}) = \emptyset$ implies that $R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*(\tau^{\geq 0}\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq 0$.

LEMMA 6.7. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z})$$

in the derived category $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$. For $n \geq 0$ the natural map of complexes

$$\tau^{>n} R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n) \longrightarrow \tau^{>n} R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

is a quasi-isomorphism.

Proof. The exact triangle

$$\alpha^* \mathbb{Z}(n) \to \alpha^* \mathbb{Q}(n) \to \alpha^* \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$$

induces

$$\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n) \to \tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$$

since $\alpha^* \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is concentrated in degree 0. This gives another exact triangle

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n)) \to R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n).$$

The spectral sequence (104) and the fact that $\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n)$ is bounded show that the cohomology sheaves of $R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n))$ are 2-primary torsion. Since they are also divisible, they vanish. We obtain

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)[-1].$$

We have isomorphisms

$$\alpha^* \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq \lim \mu_m^{\otimes n}(\mathbb{C})[0] \simeq (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[0]$$

in the derived category of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant abelian sheaves on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. We obtain

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)[-1]$$

$$\simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})[-1] \simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z})$$

where the last isomorphisms follows from the exact sequence

$$0 \to (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z} \to (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q} \to (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q} / \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant abelian sheaves and from the fact that $R\hat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q} \simeq 0$ as above.

We prove the second assertion. Let $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Q})$ and $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Q})$ (respectively $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z})$ and $Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Z})$) be the categories of sheaves of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces (respectively of abelian groups) on \mathcal{X}_{et} and \mathcal{X}_{∞} respectively. The inclusion functor $i : Sh(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}) \to Sh(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z})$ is exact and preserves K-injective complexes. Moreover the functor $\pi_*\alpha^* \circ i : Sh(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}) \to Sh(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, \mathbb{Q})$ is exact. We obtain

$$\pi_*\alpha^* \circ i \simeq R(\pi_*\alpha^* \circ i) \simeq R(\pi_*\alpha^*)Ri \simeq R(\pi_*\alpha^*)i$$

hence

$$R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Q}(n) = \pi_*\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n).$$

In particular we have

$$\mathcal{H}^p(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Q}(n)) \simeq \mathcal{H}^p(\pi_*\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}(n)) = 0$$

for p > n, since $\alpha^* \mathbb{Q}(n)$ is acyclic in degrees p > n. Then we consider the long exact sequence

$$\mathcal{H}^{n}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Q}(n)) \to \mathcal{H}^{n}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \mathcal{H}^{n+1}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Z}(n))$$
$$\to 0 \to \mathcal{H}^{n+1}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \mathcal{H}^{n+2}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to 0 \to \cdots$$

The complex $\alpha^* \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[0]$ is concentrated in degree zero, hence the abelian sheaf

 $\mathcal{H}^{n}(R(\pi_{*}\alpha^{*})\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) = \mathcal{H}^{n}(R\pi_{*}(\alpha^{*}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))) = R^{n}\pi_{*}(\alpha^{*}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R^{n}\pi_{*}((2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ is killed by two for any n > 0 (see Lemma 6.1). It follows that the map

$$\mathcal{H}^n(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Q}(n)) \to \mathcal{H}^n(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

is the zero map for n > 0, so that the long exact sequence above gives isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{H}^{i-1}(R\pi_*(\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}^i(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n)) \text{ for any } i > n.$$

We obtain

$$\begin{split} \tau^{>n}(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n)) &\simeq \tau^{>n}(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)[-1])\\ &\simeq \tau^{>n}(R\pi_*(\alpha^*\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))[-1])\\ &\simeq \tau^{>n}(R\pi_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-1])\\ &\simeq \tau^{>n}(R\pi_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}) \end{split}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

for any n > 0. Note that

$$\tau^{>n}(R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq \tau^{>n}(R\pi_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z})$$
(111)

also holds for n = 0 since $\mathbb{Z}(0) \simeq \mathbb{Z}[0]$. It follows that the composite map

$$\tau^{>n}R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n)\longrightarrow \tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(\tau^{\geq 0}\alpha^*\mathbb{Z}(n))\xrightarrow{\sim}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z})$$

is an isomorphism in the derived category. The result follows.

COROLLARY 6.8. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have exact triangles

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}$$

and

$$R\phi_!\mathbb{Z}(n) \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \to u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}.$$

Proof. This follows from Lemma 6.7 together with the definition of $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and $R\widehat{\phi}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)$.

In particular we have isomorphisms

$$Ru_{\infty}^{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \left(\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}((2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z})\right)[-1]$$
(112)

 and

$$Ru^!_{\infty}(R\phi_!\mathbb{Z}(n)) \simeq R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z})[-1].$$

PROPOSITION 6.9. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have an isomorphism in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{et})$:

$$\phi^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}.$$

For $n \geq 0$, we have an isomorphism in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{\infty})$:

$$u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \tau^{\leq n} u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \mathbb{Z}(n).$$

Proof. Applying ϕ^* to the first exact triangle of Corollary 6.8, we obtain $\phi^*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ since $\phi^*R\phi_* = R(\phi^*\phi_*) = \text{Id}$ and $\phi^*u_{\infty,*} = 0$. For $n \ge 0$, we have an exact triangle

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} \to u_{\infty,*}(\tau^{>n}R(\pi_*\alpha^*)\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

by Lemma 6.7. Applying u^*_∞ to this exact triangle, we obtain

$$u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} \to \tau^{>n} u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \mathbb{Z}(n)$$

since $u_{\infty}^* u_{\infty,*} = Id$ and $R(\pi_* \alpha^*) \simeq R(u_{\infty}^* \phi_*) \simeq u_{\infty}^* R \phi_*$.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

PROPOSITION 6.10. Let $n \ge 0$. If $\mathcal{H}^i(\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}) = 0$ for any i > n then the map $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ induces a quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \tau^{\leq n}(R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}).$$

This is for example the case for \mathcal{X} smooth over a number ring.

Proof. Recall that the family of exact functors (ϕ^*, u_{∞}^*) is conservative. Moreover, the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ is acyclic in degree > n, hence so is the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ by Proposition 6.9. Hence the map $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ factors though $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \tau^{\leq n}(R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}})$. This map is a quasi-isomorphism if and only if it is a quasi-isomorphism after applying the functors ϕ^* and u_{∞}^* . Hence the result follows from Proposition 6.9.

PROPOSITION 6.11. We have $\mathbb{Z}(0)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathbb{Z}(1)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \phi_* \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$, where \mathbb{Z} denotes the constant sheaf on $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}$, and \mathbb{G}_m denotes the multiplicative group on \mathcal{X}_{et} .

Proof. In view of $\mathbb{Z}(0) \simeq \mathbb{Z}[0]$ and $\mathbb{Z}(1) \simeq \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$, this follows from Proposition 6.10.

6.6 FUNCTORIALITY

Let $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be an equidimensional flat map between (regular proper) arithmetic schemes. Recall that flat pull-back of cycles induces a morphism $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{Y}} \to Rf_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$. We consider the following commutative diagram of topoi:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{X}_{et} \xrightarrow{\phi^{\mathcal{X}}} \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et} \xleftarrow{u_{\infty}^{\mathcal{X}}} \mathcal{X}_{\infty} \\ \downarrow^{f_{\infty}} \qquad & \downarrow^{\overline{f}} \qquad & \downarrow^{f_{\infty}} \\ \mathcal{Y}_{et} \xrightarrow{\phi^{\mathcal{X}}} \overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et} \xleftarrow{u_{\infty}^{\mathcal{X}}} \mathcal{Y}_{\infty} \end{array}$$

PROPOSITION 6.12. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the pull-back map $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{Y}} \to Rf_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ induces compatible maps $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{Y}}} \to R\overline{f}_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ and $R\widehat{\phi}_!^{\mathcal{Y}}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{Y}} \to R\overline{f}_*R\widehat{\phi}_!^{\mathcal{Y}}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$ in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et})$.

Proof. The following diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R\phi_*^{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathbb{Z}(n))^{\mathcal{Y}} & \longrightarrow & R\phi_*^{\mathcal{Y}}Rf_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R\overline{f}_*R\phi_*^{\mathcal{X}}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ u_{\infty,*}^{\mathcal{Y}}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*^{\mathcal{Y}}((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}) & \longrightarrow & u_{\infty,*}^{\mathcal{Y}}Rf_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*^{\mathcal{X}}((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R\overline{f}_*u_{\infty,*}^{\mathcal{X}}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*^{\mathcal{X}}((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}) \end{array}$$

commutes in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et})$, hence there exists a map

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{Y}}} \longrightarrow R\overline{f}_*\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

sitting in a morphism of exact triangles. If $n \ge 0$, such a map is unique since $u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n))^{\overline{\mathcal{V}}}$ is concentrated in degrees $\le n$ by Proposition 6.9, whereas $Rf_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n}R\widehat{\pi}_*^{\mathcal{X}}((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z})$ is concentrated in degrees $\ge n+2$.

For arbitrary $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we represent the previous diagram by a commutative diagram of actual complexes of sheaves (using Lemma 6.4 and Lemma 6.7), and we use the fact that the cone is functorial (note that the right horizontal maps are isomorphisms of complexes). We define similarly a canonical map

$$R\widehat{\phi}^{\mathcal{Y}}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{Y}} \longrightarrow R\overline{f}_{*}R\widehat{\phi}^{\mathcal{X}}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}}$$

such that the following diagram commutes

6.7 Relationship with Milne's cohomology with compact support

We start with the definition of cohomology with compact support with respect to the Artin-Verdier compactification: we define

$$R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) := R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \phi_! \mathcal{A})$$

for any bounded below complex \mathcal{A} of abelian sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{et} . There is an exact triangle

 $R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, u_{\infty}^*\mathcal{A}).$

PROPOSITION 6.13. We have an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \alpha^*\mathcal{A}).$$

Proof. Using Lemma 6.2, we obtain an exact triangle

$$\phi_! \mathcal{A} \to R \phi_* \mathcal{A} \to u_{\infty,*} R \pi_* (\alpha^* \mathcal{A}).$$

The result then follows from the canonical identifications

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et}, u_{\infty,*}R\pi_*(\alpha^*\mathcal{A})) \simeq R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{\infty}, R\pi_*(\alpha^*\mathcal{A})) \simeq R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \alpha^*\mathcal{A}).$$

We now recall Milne's definition for étale cohomology with compact support [69]. Let A be an abelian sheaf on $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et}$. One defines a complex $R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et}, A)$ so that there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_c(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et}, A) \to R\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et}, A) \to R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, v^*A)$$

where $R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, -)$ denotes Tate cohomology of the finite group $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ and v: Spec(\mathbb{C}) \rightarrow Spec(\mathbb{Z}) is the unique map. This definition generalizes as follows. Let $f: \mathcal{X} \rightarrow$ Spec(\mathbb{Z}) be a proper scheme over Spec(\mathbb{Z}), and let \mathcal{A} be a complex of abelian sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{et} whose restriction $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{X}[1/S]}$ to $\mathcal{X}[1/S] := \mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[1/S]$ is bounded below, for some finite set S of prime numbers. Then $v^*Rf_*\mathcal{A}$ is bounded below, and one defines

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathcal{A}) := R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et}, Rf_*\mathcal{A})$$

so that we have an exact triangle

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathcal{A}) \to R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},v^*Rf_*\mathcal{A}).$$

LEMMA 6.14. Let \mathcal{A} be a complex of abelian sheaves such that $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{X}[1/S]}$ is a bounded below complex of locally constant torsion abelian sheaves, for some finite set of primes S. Then we have an exact triangle

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathcal{A}) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathcal{A}) \to R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}),\alpha^{*}\mathcal{A}).$$

Proof. By proper base change we have an isomorphism

$$v^*Rf_*\mathcal{A} \simeq R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}, \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}})$$

where $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{X}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{C}}$ is the pull-back of \mathcal{A} to $\mathcal{X}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{C}$. Artin's comparison theorem then gives

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \alpha^* \mathcal{A}) \simeq R\Gamma_{et}(\mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}, \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{X} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}}) \simeq v^* Rf_* \mathcal{A}$$

hence

$$R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), \alpha^* \mathcal{A}) \simeq R\Gamma(G_{\mathbb{R}}, v^* R f_* \mathcal{A}).$$

П

PROPOSITION 6.15. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any $m \geq 1$, we have an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \simeq R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)).$$

Proof. By definition of $R\hat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n)$, Lemma 6.3 and Lemma 6.7, we have an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, R\widehat{\phi}_! \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z} \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \to R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}), (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z}/m)$$

which can be identified with the triangle of Lemma 6.14.

This suggests the following

NOTATION 6.16. We set

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) := R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},R\widehat{\phi}_!\mathbb{Z}(n))$$

and

$$\widehat{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) := H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},R\widehat{\phi}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

PROPOSITION 6.17. There are canonical exact triangles

$$R\widehat{\phi}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\mathcal{X}} \to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}$$

and

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}).$$

Proof. We have a commutative diagram with exact rows and columns:

The result follows.

COROLLARY 6.18. For any $i \geq \dim(\mathcal{X}) + n$, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n))\simeq H^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$

Proof. This follows immediately from the exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{\leq n} R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}))[-1] \to R\widehat{\Gamma}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

nce $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ has topological dimension $\leq \dim(\mathcal{X}) - 1$.

since $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ has topological dimension $\leq \dim(\mathcal{X}) - 1$.

COROLLARY 6.19. We have $H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d)) = 0$ for any i > 2d+2 and there is a canonical trace map $H^{2d+2}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. We may assume \mathcal{X} flat over \mathbb{Z} . By Corollary 6.18, we have $H^i(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \widehat{H}^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d))$ for $i \geq 2d$. We have $\widehat{H}^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Q}(d)) \simeq$ $H^i(\mathcal{X}_{Zar},\mathbb{Q}(d)) = 0$ for $i \geq 2d$ (the case i = 2d follows from the fact that $CH^d(\mathcal{X})$ is finite). We get $\widehat{H}^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \widehat{H}^{i-1}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d))$ for i > 2d. Using [39], we find $\widehat{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(d)) = 0$ for i > 2d+1. The push-forward map $Rf_*\mathbb{Z}(d)[-2d] \to \mathbb{Z}(1)[-2]$ induces a morphism from

$$\widehat{H}_{c}^{2d+1}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) = \widehat{H}_{c}^{2d+1}(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}), Rf_{*}\mathbb{Z}/m(d))$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

to

$$\widehat{H}^3_c(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{Z}/m(1)) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/m$$

where the last identification follows from $\mathbb{Z}(1) \simeq \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$ and classical Artin-Verdier duality.

6.8 PRODUCTS

We consider below product maps $\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)$ in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{et})$. These product maps are always assumed to induce, after $(-) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}/r\mathbb{Z}$, the natural maps $\mu_r^{\otimes n} \otimes \mu_r^{\otimes n} \to \mu_r^{\otimes n+m}$ over the étale site of $\mathcal{X}'[1/r]$, where $\mathcal{X}' \subset \mathcal{X}$ is an open subscheme which is smooth over \mathbb{Z} .

We shall use the following observation. Consider the complete resolution P_* and the completed tensor product $P_* \hat{\otimes} P_*$, which is defined as the total complex of the double complex $(P_i \otimes P_j)_{i,j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ with respect to the direct product on anti-diagonals: one has $(P_* \hat{\otimes} P_*)_n = \prod_{i+j=n} P_i \otimes P_j$. The product on Tate cohomology is induced by a map $P_* \to P_* \hat{\otimes} P_*$. Let Γ^* be the functor which sends a $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -module to the corresponding constant $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ -equivariant sheaf on \mathcal{X}_{∞} . Then Γ^* commutes with both tensor products and direct products. Hence the map $P_* \to P_* \hat{\otimes} P_*$ induces $\Gamma^*(P_*) \to \Gamma^*(P_*) \hat{\otimes} \Gamma^*(P_*)$, which in turn induces a product map

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z} \otimes^L R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m \mathbb{Z} \to R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m} \mathbb{Z}$$
(113)

for any $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, the morphism $R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \to u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}$ of Corollary 6.8 is compatible with the products (113) and (114) defined below. More precisely, the square

commutes. To see this, we first remark that $R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$ is a complex of sheaves of $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ -modules by (119). By adjunction, it is enough to check that the square above commutes after $(-) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, which follows from our assumption on the product $\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)$.

PROPOSITION 6.20. Let $n, m \ge 0$ be non-negative integers. A product map $\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)$ as above over \mathcal{X} induces a unique product map over $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$:

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$$

Proof. The product map $\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)$ in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{et})$ induces

$$R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(m) \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n+m)$$
(114)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$, and we consider

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_{*}\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^{L} R\phi_{*}\mathbb{Z}(m) \to R\phi_{*}\mathbb{Z}(n+m).$$
(115)

We now remark that the composite map

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n+m) \to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\pi_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$$

is zero and that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})}(\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}, u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\pi_{*}(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}[-1]) = 0$$

simply because

$$u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq \tau^{\leq n} u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \tau^{\leq m} u_{\infty}^* R \phi_* \mathbb{Z}(m)$$

is concentrated in degrees $\leq n+m$ by Proposition 6.9. It follows that (115) induces a unique map

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}.$$

REMARK 6.21. If $\mathbb{Z}(n)$, $\mathbb{Z}(m)$ and $\mathbb{Z}(n+m)$ are acyclic in degrees > n, > mand > n + m respectively, then (114) induces

$$\tau^{\leq n} R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \tau^{\leq m} R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n+m) \to \tau^{\leq n+m} R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n+m)$$

by adjunction. Proposition 6.20 then follows somewhat more directly from Proposition 6.10. This applies for \mathcal{X} smooth over a number ring.

PROPOSITION 6.22. Let $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ be arbitrary integers. A product map $\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)$ over \mathcal{X} induces in a non-canonical way product maps

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$$
(116)

and

$$R\widehat{\phi}_{!}\mathbb{Z}(n)\otimes^{L} R\phi_{*}\mathbb{Z}(m) \to \mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}.$$
(117)

If $n \ge 0$ these product maps can be chosen so that the induced square

commutes.

Proof. We need to show that the composite map

 $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(m)$

$$\rightarrow R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n+m) \rightarrow u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$$

is the zero map. This follows from the fact that the map

$$R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(n)\otimes^L R\phi_*\mathbb{Z}(m)\to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$$

factors through

$$\tau^{>n+m}\left(u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}\otimes^L u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m\mathbb{Z}\right)$$

on the one hand and that

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to u_{\infty,*} R\widehat{\pi}_* (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z} \otimes^L u_{\infty,*} R\widehat{\pi}_* (2i\pi)^m \mathbb{Z}$$

factors through

$$u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}\otimes^L u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m\mathbb{Z}$$

on the other. This gives the existence of (116), which however is non-unique in general because

$$u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$$

fails to be concentrated in degrees $\leq n + m$ (e.g. take $n \ll 0$). We obtain by a similar argument a non-canonical map (117).

We now show that these product maps (116) and (117) may be chosen to be compatible, at least for $n \ge 0$. In view of

$$u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}\simeq u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\geq n+m+2}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$$

we see that the group

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}})}(u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}\otimes^{L}u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq m}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{m}\mathbb{Z}[\epsilon], u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}) \\ & \text{vanishes for } \epsilon=0,1. \text{ It follows that the map} \end{split}$$

$$u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}\otimes^L u_{\infty,*}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m\mathbb{Z}\to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}$$

obtained from (113), induces a unique map

$$u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}\otimes^L u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m\mathbb{Z}\to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>n+m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{n+m}\mathbb{Z}.$$
(118)

We obtain a commutative diagram

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1529

where the lower horizontal map is the composition of (118) with

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^{L} u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>m}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{m}\mathbb{Z} \to u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z} \otimes^{L} u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>m}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{m}\mathbb{Z}.$$

The columns are exact triangles hence one may choose a map (116) which turns this diagram into a morphism of exact triangles. It follows that the square

commutes, where the left vertical map is induced by adjunction

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to u_{\infty,*} u_{\infty}^* \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \simeq u_{\infty,*} \tau^{\leq n} R \widehat{\pi}_* (2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z}$$

and the right vertical map is induced by the map $u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>m}R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^m\mathbb{Z}[-1] \to \mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ which is in turn given by the definition of $\mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ (see Corollary 6.8). Hence there exists a product map (117) inducing a morphism of exact triangles:

$$\begin{split} R\widehat{\phi_{!}}\mathbb{Z}(n) & \xrightarrow{(117)} R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(R\phi_{*}\mathbb{Z}(m),\mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}) \\ & \downarrow \\ \mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} & \xrightarrow{(116)} R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\mathbb{Z}(m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}},\mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}) \\ & \downarrow \\ u_{\infty,*}\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(u_{\infty,*}\tau^{>m}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{m}\mathbb{Z}[-1],\mathbb{Z}(n+m)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}) \end{split}$$

6.9 ARTIN-VERDIER DUALITY

The following conjecture is known for \mathcal{X} smooth proper over a number ring, and for regular proper \mathcal{X} as long as $n \leq 0$. It is expected to hold for arbitrary regular proper \mathcal{X} .

CONJECTURE 6.23. $AV(\mathcal{X}, n)$ There is a symmetric product map

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n) \to \mathbb{Z}(d)$$

in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}_{et})$ such that the induced pairing

$$\widehat{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to \widehat{H}^{2d+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite abelian groups for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any positive integer m.

The aim of this section is to prove the following result.

THEOREM 6.24. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Assume that \mathcal{X} satisfies $AV(\mathcal{X}, n)$. Then there is a product map

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$$

in $\mathcal{D}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et})$ such that the induced pairing

1530

$$H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to H^{2d+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite abelian groups for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any positive integer m.

Proof. By Proposition 6.22 there exist product maps (116) and (117) inducing a morphism of exact triangles (see the last diagram in the proof of Proposition 6.22). Applying $R\Gamma(\overline{\chi}_{et}, -)$ and composing with the map

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \longrightarrow \tau^{\geq 2d+2} R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-2]$$

given by Corollary 6.19, we obtain a morphism of exact triangles (setting $\tilde{n} = d - n$):

$$\begin{split} R\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-2]) \\ & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(n)) & \longrightarrow R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-2]) \\ & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>\tilde{n}}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{d-n}\mathbb{Z}[-1]),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-2]) \end{split}$$

where the bottom horizontal map is an isomorphism by Lemma 6.25 below. Applying the functor $(-) \otimes^{L} \mathbb{Z}/m$ we obtain a morphism of exact triangles:

$$\begin{split} R\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) \\ & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(n)) & \longrightarrow R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) \\ & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n}\mathbb{Z}/m) & \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>\tilde{n}}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{d-n}\mathbb{Z}/m[-1]),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]) \end{split}$$

where top horizontal map is an isomorphism by assumption. The theorem therefore follows from the following Lemma 6.25. $\hfill \Box$

LEMMA 6.25. The product $(2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z} \otimes (2i\pi)^{d-n} \mathbb{Z} \to (2i\pi)^d \mathbb{Z}$ induces a perfect pairing

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{\leq n} R \widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{n} \mathbb{Z}) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>d-n} R \widehat{\pi}_{*}(2i\pi)^{d-n} \mathbb{Z})$$
$$\to H^{d-1}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \widehat{H}^{d+2}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (2i\pi)^{d} \mathbb{Z})) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

of finite 2-torsion abelian groups.

Proof. For any integer r, one has an isomorphism

 $R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^r\mathbb{Z})|_{\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})} \simeq \Gamma^*(R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (2i\pi)^r\mathbb{Z})),$

where Γ^* is the constant sheaf functor, and a canonical direct sum decomposition in ${\cal D}$

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (2i\pi)^r \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-r+2k].$$

We obtain an isomorphism

$$R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^r\mathbb{Z})_{|\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})} \simeq \bigoplus_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-r+2k]$$
(119)

in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}))$, which is compatible in the obvious sense with the product map (113). The pairing of the lemma is induced by the composite morphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{\leq n} R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z}) \otimes^L R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>d-n} R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^{d-n} \mathbb{Z}) \rightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>d} R\widehat{\pi}_*(2i\pi)^d \mathbb{Z}) \rightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-d-2]) \rightarrow H^{d-1}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})[-2d-1] \rightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d-1]$$

where we use (118), the direct sum decomposition (119) for r = d, and the fact that the real manifold $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ is (d-1)-dimensional (we may assume \mathcal{X}/\mathbb{Z} flat). We need to show that this pairing induces isomorphisms

$$H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{>d-n}R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^{d-n}\mathbb{Z})) \simeq H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}),\tau^{\leq n}R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}))^D$$
(120)

where $(-)^D$ denotes the Pontryagin dual. We have

$$\tau^{>d-n}R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^{d-n}\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{k\geq 0} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-(d+2-n)-2k]$$

and

$$\tau^{\leq n} R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{k \geq 0} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-n+2k].$$

Hence Poincaré duality for the (d-1)-dimensional real manifold $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ with $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ -coefficients yields

$$\begin{aligned} H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>d-n} R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^{d-n}\mathbb{Z})) \\ &\simeq \bigoplus_{k\geq 0} H^{2d+1-i-(d+2-n)-2k}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \\ &= \bigoplus_{k\geq 0} H^{(d-1)-(i-n+2k)}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \\ &\simeq \bigoplus_{k\geq 0} H^{i-n+2k}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^D \\ &\simeq \left(\bigoplus_{k\geq 0} H^{i-n+2k}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})\right)^D \\ &\simeq H^i(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{\leq n} R\widehat{\pi}_*((2i\pi)^n\mathbb{Z}))^D \end{aligned}$$

where the sums are all finite. Note that the manifold $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{R})$ may very well be non-orientable (e.g. take $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{Z}}$) but Poincaré duality still holds with $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ -coefficients. The result follows.

COROLLARY 6.26. Let \mathcal{X} be a regular proper scheme of pure dimension d and let $n \leq 0$. There is a product map $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ such that

$$H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(n))\times H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d-n))\to H^{2d+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d))\to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite groups for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. The pairing $\mathbb{Z}(0) \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d) \to \mathbb{Z}(d)$ is the obvious one. By [39][Thm. 7.8] the assumption of Theorem 6.24 for n = 0 is fulfilled. The case n < 0 will follow from [39][Thm. 7.8] and from an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{Z}/m(d-n) \simeq R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathcal{X}[1/m]}(\mu_m^{\otimes n}[-1], \mathbb{Z}(d)).$$

Let $f : \mathcal{X}[1/m] \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/m])$ be the unique map. By [39][Thm. 7.10] and since $\mathbb{Z}(1) \simeq \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$, we have

$$R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathcal{X}[1/m]}(\mu_m^{\otimes n}[-1], \mathbb{Z}(d)) \simeq R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathcal{X}[1/m]}(f^*\mu_m^{\otimes n}[-1], \mathbb{Z}(d))$$
(121)

$$\simeq Rf^! R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{Z}[1/m]}(\mu_m^{\otimes n}[-1], \mathbb{Z}(1)[-2d+2]) (122)$$

$$\simeq Rf^{!}(\mathbb{Z}/m(1-n))[-2d+2]$$
 (123)

$$\simeq \quad \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n). \tag{124}$$

We obtain

1532

$$\mathbb{Z}/p^{\nu}(d-n) \xrightarrow{\sim} Rj_{p,*}j_p^*\mathbb{Z}/p^{\nu}(d-n) \simeq R\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathcal{X}}(j_{p,!}\mu_{p^{\nu}}^{\otimes n}[-1], \mathbb{Z}(d))$$

where the first isomorphism follows from [39][Thm. 7.2(a)] and [39][Prop. 2.3]. Taking the limit over ν and p, we obtain the product map

$$\mathbb{Z}(d-n) \to \operatorname{holim} \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n) \to R\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{X}}(\mathbb{Z}(n), \mathbb{Z}(d))$$

over \mathcal{X} . Finally, the induced map

$$\widehat{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to \widehat{H}^{2d+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite groups by [39][Thm. 7.8].

COROLLARY 6.27. Let \mathcal{X} be a smooth proper scheme over a number ring and let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ be an arbitrary integer. There is a product map $\mathbb{Z}(n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}} \to \mathbb{Z}(d)^{\overline{\mathcal{X}}}$ such that

$$H^{2d+1-i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(n))\times H^{i}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d-n))\to H^{2d+1}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et},\mathbb{Z}/m(d))\to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite groups for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Documenta Mathematica 23 (2018) 1425-1560
Proof. It remains to treat the case $0 \le n \le d$. By [37], the complex $\mathbb{Z}/p^{\nu}\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is isomorphic (in the derived category) to Sato's complex (see [82] and [79]): we have $\mathbb{Z}/p^{\nu}\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq \mathfrak{T}_{\nu}(n)$. For general $m = p_1^{\nu_1} \cdots p_s^{\nu_s}$, we simply write

$$\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p_1^{\nu_1}\mathbb{Z}(n) \times \cdots \times \mathbb{Z}/p_i^{\nu_i}\mathbb{Z}(n).$$

Using this identification with Sato's complex, there is a canonical product map

$$\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(n) \otimes \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d-n) \to \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}(d)$$

which is uniquely induced by

$$\mu_{p_i^{\nu_i}}^{\otimes n} \otimes \mu_{p_i^{\nu_i}}^{\otimes (d-n)} \to \mu_{p_i^{\nu_i}}^{\otimes d}$$

over $\mathcal{X}[1/p_i]$ for i = 1, ..., s. By [89], this product map is defined integrally: Spitzweck defines motivic complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)_S$ on \mathcal{X}_{et} which are canonically isomorphic (in the derived category) to Bloch's cycle complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ on \mathcal{X} (since \mathcal{X} is assumed to be smooth over a number ring), and product maps $\mathbb{Z}(n)_S \otimes^L \mathbb{Z}(d-n)_S \to \mathbb{Z}(d)_S$ inducing the product on Sato's complexes. By [79][10.1.3] the induced map

$$\widehat{H}^{i}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \times H^{2d+1-i}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n)) \to \widehat{H}^{2d+1}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is a perfect pairing of finite abelian groups for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any positive integer m, so that Theorem 6.24 applies.

6.10 The conjecture $\mathbf{AV}(f, n)$

Let $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be a flat map of relative dimension c between connected regular proper arithmetic schemes of dimension $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $d_{\mathcal{Y}}$ respectively. We have canonical maps

$$R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{Y}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\widehat{\Gamma}_c(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
(125)

 and

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)).$$
(126)

Assume that $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, n)$ and $\mathbf{AV}(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, n)$ hold. This yields isomorphisms

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{Y}}-n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\widehat{\Gamma}_{c}(\mathcal{Y}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d_{\mathcal{Y}}-1])$$

 and

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et},\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{X}}-n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} R\mathrm{Hom}(R\widehat{\Gamma}_{c}(\mathcal{X}_{et},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}[-2d_{\mathcal{X}}-1])$$

in \mathcal{D} , where

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(d-n)) := \operatorname{holim} R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}/m(d-n))$$

Hence (125) induces a morphism

$$R\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\mathcal{Y}_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n))[-2c].$$
(127)

We obtain similarly a morphism

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{X}} - n)) \longrightarrow R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{et}, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}(d_{\mathcal{Y}} - n))[-2c].$$
(128)

CONJECTURE 6.28. AV(f, n) The diagram

commutes in \mathcal{D} , where the horizontal maps are the evident ones and the left vertical map is induced by proper push-forward of cycles.

6.11 The projective bundle formula

For n < 0, the complex $R\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ may have non-trivial cohomology in negative degrees. The following proposition shows that this surprising fact is a consequence of the projective bundle formula. We only treat the simplest (but decisive) case $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})$.

PROPOSITION 6.29. There is an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathbb{P}^m_{\mathbb{Z}}}_{,et},\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} R\Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})}_{et},\mathbb{Z}(-n))[-2n].$$

Proof. By proper base change, one has

$$R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^m_{\mathbb{Z},et},\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} R\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et},\mathbb{Z}(-n))[-2n].$$

Moreover, one has $\tau^{>0}R\widehat{\pi}_*\mathbb{Z} \simeq \bigoplus_{k>0} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-2k]$ by (119) hence

$$R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^m(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>0}R\widehat{\pi}_*\mathbb{Z}) = \bigoplus_{k>0} R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^m(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})[-2k]$$

Let $\mathbf{S}^m \subset \mathbb{R}^{m+1}$ be the *m*-sphere endowed with its natural (antipodal) action of $\{\pm 1\}$. A look at the spectral sequence for the Galois cover

$$\mathbf{S}^m \longrightarrow \mathbf{S}^m / \{\pm 1\} \simeq \mathbb{P}^m(\mathbb{R})$$

shows that the canonical map

$$R\Gamma(\{\pm 1\}, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})_{\leq m} \to R\Gamma(\{\pm 1\}, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \to R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^m(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

is an isomorphism. This yields

$$R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^m(\mathbb{R}),\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})\simeq \bigoplus_{0\leq n\leq m}\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-n].$$

We obtain

$$R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^{m}(\mathbb{R}), \tau^{>0}R\widehat{\pi}_{*}\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{k>0} R\Gamma(\mathbb{P}^{m}(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})[-2k]$$
$$\simeq \bigoplus_{k>0} \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-n][-2k]$$
$$\simeq \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} \bigoplus_{k>0} \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}[-2k+n][-2n]$$
$$\simeq \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} \tau^{>-n}R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}}, (2i\pi)^{-n}\mathbb{Z})[-2n]$$

We obtain an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(\overline{\mathbb{P}^m_{\mathcal{X},et}},\mathbb{Z}) \to \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} R\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et},\mathbb{Z}(-n))[-2n] \to \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le m} \tau^{>-n} R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},(2i\pi)^{-n}\mathbb{Z})[-2n]$$

where the second map is the sum of the maps $R\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z})_{et},\mathbb{Z}(-n)) \to \tau^{>-n}R\widehat{\Gamma}(G_{\mathbb{R}},(2i\pi)^{-n}\mathbb{Z})$. The result follows.

7 APPENDIX B: MOTIVIC AND SYNTOMIC COHOMOLOGY

The first purpose of this appendix is to formulate a conjectural relation between (*p*-adically completed cohomology of) higher Chow complexes and syntomic cohomology for arbitrary regular arithmetic schemes over local integer rings, extending results of Geisser [37] in the smooth case. Whereas [37] applies with integral coefficients under the assumption $0 \le n we shall only consider rational coefficients but any <math>n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The second purpose is to discuss the motivic decomposition of *p*-adically completed motivic cohomology which is necessary to compare our main conjecture to the Tamagawa Number Conjecture. This appendix is only needed in the main body of the text in section 5.6, and then only in the restricted setting of smooth schemes for which more complete results are known (see Prop. 7.21 and the remarks following it).

For any equidimensional scheme Y and $n\in\mathbb{Z}$ we define the complex of étale sheaves

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) = z^n(-, 2n - *)$$

from Bloch's higher Chow complex (and we retain the cohomological indexing even if Y is singular). For any prime number l we set

$$R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Z}_l(n)) = \operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Z}(n)/l^{\bullet}); \quad R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}_l(n)) = R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Z}_l(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$
(129)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

where cohomology groups are always understood in the étale topology. For n < 0 we have $\mathbb{Z}(n) = 0$ which differs from the definition in section 3.1. However, the two definitions will lead to the same cohomology with $\mathbb{Q}_l(n)$ -coefficients in Cor. 7.6 and Cor. 7.17 below.

In the following a regular scheme will always assumed to be (essentially) of finite type over a field or a Dedekind ring.

CONJECTURE 7.1. For a regular scheme \mathcal{X} the complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ on \mathcal{X}_{et} is (cohomologically) concentrated in degrees $\leq n$.

This conjecture is known if \mathcal{X} is smooth over a field or Dedekind ring by [37][Cor. 4.4]. Note that the Bloch complex of presheaves $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is concentrated in degrees $\leq 2n$ and so the conjecture says that the sheafification (in the étale topology) of $\mathcal{H}^i(\mathbb{Z}(n))$ vanishes for i = n + 1, ..., 2n. This should be true for the Zariski topology as well.

LEMMA 7.2. If Conjecture 7.1 holds, l is invertible on \mathcal{X} and $n \geq 0$ then $\mathbb{Z}(n)/l^{\bullet} \cong \mu_{l^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}$ on \mathcal{X}_{et} .

Proof. This is [92][Thm. 2.6], noting that truncation is unnecessary under Conjecture 7.1.

We shall usually consider the following local setting. For a prime p let K/\mathbb{Q}_p be a finite extension with maximal unramified subextension K_0/\mathbb{Q}_p . We set

$$s = \operatorname{Spec}(k), \quad S = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_K), \quad \eta = \operatorname{Spec}(K)$$

 and

$$\bar{\eta} = \operatorname{Spec}(\bar{\eta}), \quad \bar{s} = \operatorname{Spec}(\bar{k}), \quad S^{ur} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_K^{ur}), \quad \eta^{ur} = \operatorname{Spec}(K^{ur})$$

where k is the residue field of K and K^{ur}/K the maximal unramified extension. We denote by $\iota: s \to S$ and $j: \eta \to S$ the complementary immersions. Finally, we let

$$f: X \to S$$

be a flat, projective morphism of relative dimension d-1 and we assume throughout that X is a *regular* scheme. We denote the base change of a map by indexing it with the source of the base change map to its target. For example, $\iota_X : X_s \to X$ is the closed immersion of the special fibre.

7.1 *l*-ADIC COHOMOLOGY

In this section l is a prime number different from p. We summarize here some facts from l-adic cohomology in order to motivate the conjectures of the next section.

7.1.1 LOCALIZATION TRIANGLES

There is a localization triangle

$$R\Gamma_{X_{\overline{v}}}(X_{S^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{S^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{n^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$$

where we can view the first group as (Borel-Moore or ordinary) homology and the second (via proper base change) as cohomology of the special fibre $X_{\bar{s}}$. The topological analogue of this situation is a tubular neighborhood, i.e. a closed embedding $X_{\bar{s}} \to X$ of a compact space $X_{\bar{s}}$ into a manifold X which is moreover a homotopy equivalence. This gives rise to a map from homology to cohomology of $X_{\bar{s}}$ by the same localization sequence. Using regularity of X and S we have $f!\mathbb{Q}_l = \mathbb{Q}_l(d-1)[2d-2]$ and using regularity of s and S we have $Rl!\mathbb{Q}_l = \mathbb{Q}_l(-1)[-2]$. Since $\iota \circ f_s = f \circ \iota_X$ we obtain

$$R\iota_X^! \mathbb{Q}_l = R\iota_X^! f^! \mathbb{Q}_l (-d+1) [-2d+2] = f_s^! \mathbb{Q}_l (-d) [-2d]$$

and we can rewrite the shifted localization triangle as

$$R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, f^!_{\bar{s}}\mathbb{Q}_l(-d)[-2d+1]) \to$$
(130)

which we view as a computation of the cohomology of $X_{\eta^{ur}}$. The cohomology of $X_{\eta^{ur}}$ can also be computed by Galois descent from the cohomology of $X_{\bar{\eta}}$. Setting $I := \text{Gal}(\bar{K}/K^{ur})$ one has

$$R\Gamma(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \cong R\Gamma(I, R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l))$$

but in order to bring out the analogy with p-adic cohomology in the next section we rewrite this slightly using Weil-Deligne representations. If (V, ρ) is a continuous *l*-adic representation of $G_K := \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{K}/K)$, a theorem of Grothendieck guarantees that an open subgroup $I_1 \subseteq I$ acts unipotently, i.e. for $\sigma \in I_1$

$$\rho(\sigma) = \exp(t_l(\sigma)N)$$

where $t_l: I \to \mathbb{Z}_l(1)$ is the natural surjection and $N: V \to V(-1)$ is a nilpotent endomorphism. Following [19][8.4.2] one defines a representation $(V^{\delta}, \rho^{\delta})$ of the Weil group $W_K \subseteq G_K$ on $V = V^{\delta}$ by $\rho^{\delta}(\phi^n \sigma) = \rho(\phi^n \sigma) \exp(-t_l(\sigma)N)$ for $\sigma \in I$ and ϕ any lift of Frobenius. By Grothendieck's theorem ρ^{δ} is trivial on the open subgroup I_1 of W_K , i.e. ρ^{δ} is discrete. One then has with σ_t denoting a topological generator of $\mathbb{Z}_l(1)$ and $P = \ker(t_l)$

$$R\Gamma(I,V) \cong R\Gamma(\mathbb{Z}_l(1),V^P) \cong \left[V^P \xrightarrow{\sigma_t - 1} V^P(-1) \right] \cong \left[V^{\delta,I} \xrightarrow{N} V^{\delta,I}(-1) \right]$$

where for a map of complexes $A \to B$ we write

$$[A \to B] := \operatorname{holim}[A \to B] \cong \operatorname{Cone}(A \to B)[-1].$$

Applying these considerations to a decomposition [20]

$$R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)[-i]$$
(131)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

we find

$$R\Gamma(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \cong R\Gamma(I, R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{holim}\left(R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I} \xrightarrow{N} R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I}(-1)\right)$$

for a certain nilpotent endomorphism N of $R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}},\mathbb{Q}_l)$ and obtain the exact triangle

$$R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to \left[R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I} \xrightarrow{N} R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I} (-1) \right] \to R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^* (-d) [-2d+1]$$
(132)

where we have used the duality $R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, f_{\bar{s}}^!\mathbb{Q}_l) \cong R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^*$ between homology and cohomology.

7.1.2 MOTIVIC DECOMPOSITION

If f is smooth then I acts trivially, N = 0, and the composite map

$$\operatorname{sp}: R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I} = R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$$

. .

is an isomorphism, i.e. gives a *splitting* of (130) and (132). For general regular X it was shown in [27][Thm 10.1] that the monodromy weight conjecture [52][Conj. 3.9] implies that in each degree *i* there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to Z^i \to H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \xrightarrow{sp} H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^I = H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I, N=0} \to 0$$

where Z^i is pure of weight *i*. For each *i* this gives a splitting of the short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{i-1}(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)(-1)^{\delta, I}/N \to H^i(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \to H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta, I, N=0} \to 0$$

as well as a short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{i-1}(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)(-1)^{\delta, I} / N \to H^{2d-1-i}(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l(d))^* \to Z^{i+1} \to 0$$
 (133)

using the long exact sequence induced by (132).

PROPOSITION 7.3. Assume the monodromy weight conjecture for the generic fibre of the regular scheme X and set

$$V^i := H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l).$$

Assume moreover that Frobenius acts semisimply on $H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$ for each *i*. Then the triangle (132) is isomorphic to the direct sum over $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ of the [-i]-shift of the exact triangles

$$Z^{i}[0] \oplus V^{i,\delta,I,N=0}[0] \to \left[V^{i,\delta,I} \xrightarrow{N} V^{i,\delta,I}(-1) \right] \to V^{i,\delta,I}(-1)/N[-1] \oplus Z^{i}[1] \to$$
(134)

in the derived category of W_k -modules. Here we denote by $W_k \subset \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/k)$ the Weil group of the finite field k.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1539

Proof. If M denotes the monodromy filtration on $V := V^{i,\delta,I}$ [18][1.6.1] we have an isomorphism of W_k -modules

$$V \cong \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Gr}_n^M V$$

since $\operatorname{Gr}_n^M V$ is pure of weight *n* by the monodromy weight conjecture. By [18][1.6.14.2, 1.6.14.3] there is an isomorphism of W_k -modules

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{n}^{M}V \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{j \ge |n| \\ j \equiv n \ (2)}} \operatorname{Gr}_{-j}^{M}(V^{N=0})(\frac{n+j}{2})$$

and $V^{N=0}$ is a quotient of $H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$, hence semisimple. We conclude that W_k acts semisimply on $V = V^{i,\delta,I}$. Since the cohomological dimension of the abelian category of *l*-adic sheaves on $s = \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ is equal to one, there exists a decomposition

$$R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)[-i]$$
(135)

in the derived category of W_k -modules. In the following diagram the unlabeled arrows form a commutative diagram induced by the truncation functors, σ_0 is the splitting given by (135), σ_1 is the splitting given by (131), the (surjective) splitting σ_2 exists by semisimplicity of $V^{i,\delta,I}$ and the (injective) splitting σ_3 by semisimplicity of $H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$.

$$\begin{array}{c} \overset{\sigma_{3}}{\longrightarrow} V^{i,\delta,I,N=0}[-i] \xrightarrow{\sigma_{2}} V^{i,\delta,I}[-i] \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \sigma_{0} & & & \downarrow \\ \tau^{\geq i} R\Gamma(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}) \xrightarrow{\tau^{\geq i}} R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta,I} \end{array}$$

Write $\sigma_0 = \sigma_0^Z \oplus \sigma_0^V$ corresponding to the decomposition of W_k -modules

$$H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \cong Z^i \oplus V^{i,\delta,I,N=0}$$

induced by σ_3 . After replacing σ_0 by $\sigma_0^Z \oplus \sigma_3 \circ \sigma_2 \circ \sigma_1 \circ \gamma$ where $\gamma = \tau^{\geq i} sp$ is the bottom horizontal arrow, the diagram of splittings commutes. A similar argument applies to (133)[-1]. By an easy induction one finds that (132) is isomorphic to the claimed direct sum of triangles.

We record the following Corollary which is not needed in the rest of the paper.

COROLLARY 7.4. Under the assumptions of Prop. 7.3 there exists a (noncanonical) decomposition

$$Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_l \cong \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R^i f_*\mathbb{Q}_l[-i] \cong \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} j_*V^i[-i] \oplus \iota_*Z^i[-i]$$

in the derived category of l-adic sheaves on S.

Proof. The abelian category of *l*-adic sheaves on *S* can be described as the category of diagrams $V_0 \xrightarrow{sp} V_1$ where V_0 is an *l*-adic G_k -representation, V_1 a G_K -representation and sp is G_K -equivariant. In this description, by proper base change, $R^i f_* \mathbb{Q}_l$ is given by $H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \xrightarrow{sp} V^i$, $j_* V^i$ by $(V^i)^I \to V^i$ and $\iota_* Z^i$ by $Z^i \to 0$.

REMARK 7.5. An alternative proof of Cor. 7.4 might be obtained along the following lines. There is a perverse t-structure on the derived category of l-adic sheaves on separated, finite type S-schemes [52]/App.]. Assuming the monodromy weight conjecture it seems plausible that one can adapt the proof of the relative hard Lefschetz isomorphism

$$\ell^{i}: {}^{p}H^{-i}Rf_{*}\mathbb{Q}_{l}[d] \xrightarrow{\sim} {}^{p}H^{i}Rf_{*}\mathbb{Q}_{l}[d](i)$$

from [2][Thm. 5.4.10]. As explained in [20] this implies a (noncanonical) direct sum decomposition

$$Rf_*\mathbb{Q}_l[d] \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} ({}^pH^iRf_*\mathbb{Q}_l[d])[-i].$$

Since $\mathbb{Q}_{l}[d]$ is a pure complex of weight d, so is $Rf_{*}\mathbb{Q}_{l}[d]$. Hence $\mathcal{F} := {}^{p}H^{i}Rf_{*}\mathbb{Q}_{l}[d]$ is a pure perverse sheaf (of weight i + d) and one might be able to adapt the proof of the direct sum decomposition [2]/5.3.11]

$$\mathcal{F} \cong j_{*!} j^* \mathcal{F} \oplus \iota_*^p \iota^* \mathcal{F}$$

assuming semisimplicity of Frobenius. By proper base change $j^*\mathcal{F} \cong V^{i+d}$ and since S is of dimension one we have $j_{*!}V^{i+d} \cong j_*V^{i+d}$. Moreover ${}^{p}\iota^*\mathcal{F} \cong Z^{i+d+1}[-1]$ and the isomorphism of Corollary 7.4 follows.

For any *l*-adic representation V of $G_K := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ recall the definition of *f*-cohomology of Bloch-Kato [28]

$$R\Gamma_f(K,V) := \left(V^I \xrightarrow{1-\phi} V^I\right) \cong R\Gamma(S, j_*V) \cong R\Gamma(s, \iota^*j_*V)$$

and the definition of $R\Gamma_{f}(K, V)$ via the exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_f(K,V) \to R\Gamma(K,V) \to R\Gamma_{/f}(K,V) \to$$

where $R\Gamma(K, V) = R\Gamma(\eta, V)$ is continuous Galois cohomology of V and ϕ is the geometric Frobenius generating $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$.

COROLLARY 7.6. Assume Conjecture 7.1 and the assumptions of Prop. 7.3 for the regular scheme X. Then for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is a (noncanonical)

isomorphism of localization triangles

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R\Gamma(X,\mathbb{Q}_{l}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R\Gamma(s,Z^{2n}(n))[-2n] \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(X_{\eta},\mathbb{Q}_{l}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(X_{s},f_{s}^{!}\mathbb{Q}_{l}(n-d)[-2d+1]) & \xrightarrow{\sim} R\Gamma(s,Z^{2n}(n))[-2n+1] \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{/f}(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \end{array}$$

where the Tate twist in the right hand column is defined in the usual way. For n < 0 all complexes in this diagram are acyclic.

Proof. The left vertical triangle is isomorphic to $R\Gamma(s, -)$ applied to the (n)-Tate-twist of (130) which agrees with the higher Chow definition of the left hand column for $n \ge 0$ if we assume Conjecture 7.1. The statement now follows from our rewriting of (130) as (132) and $\bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}(134)[-i]$ together with the fact $R\Gamma(s, Z^i(n))$ is acyclic for $i \ne 2n$ since Z^i is pure of weight *i*. The acyclicity of the complexes in the right hand column for n < 0 follows from an easy weight argument (see the Proof of Prop. 7.18 below). This then shows that the higher Chow definition of the left hand column also holds for n < 0.

The middle isomorphism in the diagram of Corollary 7.6 can be interpreted as a computation of *l*-adic motivic cohomology of the generic fibre from the geometric cohomology (fibre functor) $X \mapsto H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$ with its natural extra structure, i.e. the continuous G_K -action. Succinctly, one has the isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(X_n, \mathbb{Q}_l(n)) \cong R\Gamma(K, R\Gamma(X_{\bar{n}}, \mathbb{Q}_l(n))).$$

Alternatively, one can compute $R\Gamma(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}(n))$ from the slightly different fibre functor $X \mapsto H^{i}(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta}$ with values in Weil-Deligne representations introduced above. One has

$$R\Gamma(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(s, R\Gamma(X_{\eta^{ur}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l}(n)))$$

$$\cong \operatorname{holim} \begin{pmatrix} R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta, I} & \xrightarrow{1-\phi_{n}} & R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta, I} \\ \\ N \downarrow & N \downarrow \\ \\ R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta, I} & \xrightarrow{1-\phi_{n-1}} & R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_{l})^{\delta, I} \end{pmatrix}$$
(136)

where $\phi_r = \phi |k|^{-r}$.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1542 MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

7.2 *p*-ADIC COHOMOLOGY

The two computations of *l*-adic motivic cohomology of the generic fibre X_{η} given at the end of the last section lead to different absolute cohomology theories for l = p. Since p is invertible on X_{η} and X_{η} is smooth over a field, one still has the isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}[0]$ on $X_{\eta,et}$. Hence the first computation

$$R\Gamma(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong R\Gamma(G_K, R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)))$$

applies in the same way. The analogue of the fibre functor $X \mapsto H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)^{\delta}$ with values in *l*-adic Weil-Deligne representation is the fibre functor

$$X \mapsto D_{pst}(H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p))$$

with values in (weakly admissible) filtered (ϕ, N, G_K) -modules in the sense of [29] (finite dimensional K_0^{ur} vector spaces with operators ϕ and N and a discrete G_K -action as well as a filtration on the scalar extension to \bar{K} . See also [30] for a detailed discussion of these fibre functors both for l = p and $l \neq p$). If f is smooth then this fibre functor is isomorphic to crystalline cohomology of the special fibre $X_{\bar{s}}$, if f is log-smooth it is isomorphic to log-crystalline, or Hyodo-Kato cohomology of $X_{\bar{s}}$ and for general X_{η} (not necessarily smooth or proper) it was constructed by Beilinson [3] from the log-smooth case by h-descent. Following [76] we denote this functor by

$$X \mapsto H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h}) \cong D_{pst}(H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p)).$$

The corresponding absolute cohomology theory is log-syntomic cohomology of X_{η} as defined by Niziol and Nekovar in [76]. It can be computed by a homotopy limit similar to (136)

$$R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) \cong \operatorname{holim} \begin{pmatrix} R\Gamma_{HK}^{B}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K}} & \xrightarrow{(1-\phi_{n},\iota_{dR})} & R\Gamma_{HK}^{B}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K}} \oplus (R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})/F^{n})^{G_{K}} \\ & & \\ N \downarrow & & \\ R\Gamma_{HK}^{B}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K}} & \xrightarrow{(1-\phi_{n-1})} & R\Gamma_{HK}^{B}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(137)

where $\phi_n = \phi p^{-n}$. There is a comparison map [76][Thm. A (4)]

$$R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) \xrightarrow{\beta} R\Gamma(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

but it only induces an isomorphism in degrees $i \leq n$.

7.2.1 LOCALIZATION TRIANGLES

We now discuss the localization exact triangles for both version of p-adic motivic cohomology. We first establish a localization triangle for a fairly general regular scheme \mathcal{X} which uses the definition of $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ as a cycle complex.

1543

LEMMA 7.7. Assume \mathcal{X} is of finite type over a discrete valuation ring D with perfect residue field κ of characteristic p and fraction field F of characteristic 0. Denote by

$$j: \mathcal{X}_F \to \mathcal{X}, \qquad i: \mathcal{X}_\kappa \to \mathcal{X}$$

the complementary open and closed immersions. Assume $n \geq 1$. If \mathcal{X} is regular and satisfies Conjecture 7.1 then there is an exact triangle of complexes of sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{et}

$$\tau^{\leq n-1}(i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p^{\bullet})[-2] \to \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n} \to .$$
(138)

If \mathcal{X}_s is a normal crossing divisor, the truncation in front of the first term can be removed.

Proof. We follow the argument in [37][Proof of Thm. 1.2.1]. Since \mathcal{X} is of finite type over a discrete valuation ring one has an exact localization triangle on \mathcal{X}_{Zar} [37][Cor. 3.3]

$$i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)_{Zar}[-2] \to \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} \to j_*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} \to j_*\mathbb{Z}($$

and an isomorphism $\Gamma(V,\mathbb{Z}(n)) \cong R\Gamma(V_{Zar},\mathbb{Z}(n))$ for any open subscheme $V \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ [37][Thm.3.2 b)]. But this implies that

$$j_*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} \xrightarrow{\sim} Rj_*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar}$$

since the map on stalks at $x \in \mathcal{X}$

$$\varinjlim_{x \in V} \Gamma(V \cap \mathcal{X}_F, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \to \varinjlim_{x \in V} R\Gamma((V \cap \mathcal{X}_F)_{Zar}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$$

is an isomorphism. So we obtain a localization triangle in the Zariski topology

$$i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)_{Zar}[-2] \to \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} \to Rj_*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} \to$$
(139)

not only on \mathcal{X} but, by the same argument, on any étale scheme $\mathcal{X}' \to \mathcal{X}$. Let $\epsilon : \mathcal{X}_{et} \to \mathcal{X}_{Zar}$ be the morphism from the étale topos to the topos of Zariski sheaves on the category of étale schemes over \mathcal{X} and use the same notation for \mathcal{X}_F and X_{κ} . Note that ϵ_* is the inclusion of étale into Zariski sheaves and hence the identity map on objects whereas ϵ^* is étale sheafification. The identity $\epsilon^* \epsilon_* \mathcal{F} \cong \mathcal{F}$ for any étale sheaf \mathcal{F} induces isomorphisms

$$\epsilon^* \epsilon_* \mathcal{F}^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} \epsilon^* R \epsilon_* \mathcal{F}^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{F}^{\bullet}$$
(140)

for any complex of étale sheaves \mathcal{F}^{\bullet} . In particular $\epsilon_*\mathbb{Z}(n) = \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar}$ and $\epsilon^*\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} = \mathbb{Z}(n)$. There is a commutative diagram of exact triangles on \mathcal{X}_{et}

where the top row is the pullback of (139) and the bottom row is the localization triangle in the étale topology. The vertical maps are induced by choosing a Kinjective resolution $\mathbb{Z}(n) \to I(n)$. To see the right commutative diagram, start with the adjunction $\mathrm{id} \to j_* j^*$ in the category of complexes of sheaves and compose with $\epsilon^* \epsilon_*$. Applied to $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ we get

$$\epsilon^* \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} = \epsilon^* \epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n) \to \epsilon^* \epsilon_* j_* j^* \mathbb{Z}(n) = \epsilon^* j_* \epsilon_* j^* \mathbb{Z}(n) = \epsilon^* j_* \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar}$$

and applied to I(n) we get

$$\mathbb{Z}(n) \cong \epsilon^* \epsilon_* I(n) \to \epsilon^* \epsilon_* j_* j^* I(n) = \epsilon^* \epsilon_* R j_* \mathbb{Z}(n) \cong R j_* \mathbb{Z}(n).$$

The left commutative diagram is similarly obtained by applying $\epsilon^* \epsilon_* i_* i^! \to \epsilon^* \epsilon_*$ to $\mathbb{Z}(n) \to I(n)$. Taking mapping cones of multiplication by p^{\bullet} we obtain the diagram

By the Rost-Voevodsky theorem (previously Beilinson-Lichtenbaum conjecture, see e.g. [92][Thm. 2.5]) on \mathcal{X}_F , the adjunction

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar}/p^{\bullet} = \epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \epsilon_* I(n)/p^{\bullet} = R \epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$$

induces a quasi-isomorphism

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar}/p^{\bullet} \cong \tau^{\leq n} R\epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}.$$

By [92] [Lemma 2.4] we obtain a quasi-isomorphism

$$\tau^{\leq n} Rj_* \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} / p^{\bullet} \cong \tau^{\leq n} Rj_* \tau^{\leq n} R\epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet}$$
$$\cong \tau^{\leq n} Rj_* R\epsilon_* \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet} = \tau^{\leq n} R\epsilon_* Rj_* \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet}$$

and hence an isomorphism

$$\tau^{\leq n} \epsilon^* Rj_* \mathbb{Z}(n)_{Zar} / p^{\bullet} \cong \tau^{\leq n} \epsilon^* R \epsilon_* Rj_* \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet} \cong \tau^{\leq n} Rj_* \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet},$$

i.e. the right vertical map in (141) is an isomorphism in degrees $\leq n$. From the Five Lemma and $\tau^{\leq n} \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$ it follows that the truncation of the left vertical map in (141)

$$\tau^{\leq n+1} \epsilon^* i_* \mathbb{Z}(n-1)_{Zar} / p^{\bullet}[-2] \to \tau^{\leq n+1} i_* Ri^! \mathbb{Z}(n) / p^{\bullet}$$

is a quasi-isomorphism and that there is an exact triangle

$$\tau^{\leq n+1}(i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p^{\bullet}[-2]) \to \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$$

using $\epsilon^* i_* \mathbb{Z}(n-1)_{Zar}/p^{\bullet} \cong i_* \epsilon^* \mathbb{Z}(n-1)_{Zar}/p^{\bullet} \cong i_* \mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p^{\bullet}$. Using Lemma 7.2 we have an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n} \tag{142}$$

on \mathcal{X}_F and we get the exact triangle (138).

Recall that if Z is a separated, finite type scheme over a perfect field κ of characteristic p all of whose irreducible components are of dimension d-1 and $r \geq 0$ there is a quasi-isomorphism on Z_{et} [92][Thm. 1.1]

$$\mathbb{Z}(r)/p^{\bullet} = \mathbb{Z}^{c}(d-1-r)/p^{\bullet}[-2d+2] \cong \tilde{\nu}_{Z,\bullet}(d-1-r)[-2d+2]$$

where $\tilde{\nu}_{Z,\bullet}(d-1-r)[-2d+2]$ is the Gersten complex of logarithmic deRham-Witt sheaves (see [80][1.7])

$$\bigoplus_{x \in Z^0} i_{x,*} W_{\bullet} \Omega^r_{x, log} \xrightarrow{(-1)^r \partial} \bigoplus_{x \in Z^1} i_{x,*} W_{\bullet} \Omega^{r-1}_{x, log} \xrightarrow{(-1)^r \partial} \cdots$$

concentrated in degrees [r, 2r]. Note that these complexes are identical for Z and Z_{red} . If \mathcal{X}_s is a normal crossing divisor, i.e. \mathcal{X} is semistable, then this complex is cohomologically concentrated in degree r by [80][Cor. 2.2.5]. Hence the truncation in front of the first term in (138) can be removed.

The following consequence of Lemma 7.7 is only needed in section 5.6 in the main text.

LEMMA 7.8. With notation and assumptions as in Lemma 7.7 denote by \hat{D} the p-adic completion of D and by $g: \mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}} \to \mathcal{X}$ the natural (flat) morphism. Then the flat pullback on higher Chow complexes [8]

$$g^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$$

is a quasi-isomorphism.

Proof. We first prove the following general base change result for torsion sheaves.

LEMMA 7.9. Let \mathcal{X} be of finite type over a Dedekind D ring with fraction field of characteristic zero. Let p be a prime number and denote by \hat{D} the p-adic completion of D. Consider the Cartesian diagram

Then for any complex of sheaves \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{X}_{et} with torsion cohomology, the base change morphism

$$\beta: g^*Rj_*j^*\mathcal{F} \to Rj_*\tilde{g}^*j^*\mathcal{F}$$

as wells the natural morphism

$$\hat{i}^* \alpha : Ri^! \mathcal{F} \to R\hat{i}^! g^* \mathcal{F}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms.

Proof. There is a commutative diagram with exact rows

$$\begin{split} \hat{i}_*R\hat{i}^!g^*\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow g^*\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow R\hat{j}_*\hat{j}^*g^*\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow \\ & \uparrow^{\alpha} & \parallel & \uparrow^{\beta} \\ g^*i_*Ri^!\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow g^*\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow g^*Rj_*j^*\mathcal{F} & \longrightarrow \end{split}$$

where the top row is the localization triangle for $g^*\mathcal{F}$ on $\mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}$ and the bottom row is the pullback of the localization triangle for \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{X} . The right square commutes since both maps are adjoint to the same map and similarly for the left square. The stalk of β at a geometric point p : $\operatorname{Spec}(\bar{x}) \to \mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}$ is an isomorphism if $x \in \mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}[1/p]$, i.e. $p = \hat{j}p'$, in view of the isomorphism

$$p^*g^*Rj_*j^*\mathcal{F} \cong (p')^*\hat{j}^*g^*Rj_*j^*\mathcal{F} \cong (p')^*\hat{g}^*j^*Rj_*j^*\mathcal{F}$$
$$\cong (p')^*\hat{g}^*j^*\mathcal{F} \cong (p')^*\hat{j}^*R\hat{j}_*\hat{g}^*j^*\mathcal{F}$$
$$\cong p^*R\hat{j}_*\tilde{g}^*j^*\mathcal{F}.$$

For $x \in \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ the stalk of β is the map

$$R\Gamma(A[\frac{1}{p}]_{et},\mathcal{F}) \to R\Gamma(A'[\frac{1}{p}]_{et},\mathcal{F})$$
(143)

where A (resp A') is the strict Henselization of \mathcal{X} (resp. $\mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}$) at \bar{x} . By the definition and elementary properties of the notion of Henselian pair [44][(18.5.5), (18.5.6)] it follows that (A, (p)) and (A', (p)) are Henselian pairs. By the Gabber-Fujiwara formal base change theorem [32][Cor. 6.6.4] the restriction map

$$R\Gamma(A[\frac{1}{p}]_{et},\mathcal{F}) \to R\Gamma(\hat{A}[\frac{1}{p}]_{et},\mathcal{F})$$

is a quasi-isomorphism, where \hat{A} is the *p*-adic completion of *A*. The same holds for A' and we have $\hat{A} \cong \widehat{A'}$. Hence (143) and therefore β are quasi-isomorphisms. This implies that α is a quasi-isomorphism which proves Lemma 7.9.

We continue with the proof of Lemma 7.8. There is a commutative diagram with exact rows where the top row is (138) on $\mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}$, the bottom row is the pullback of (138) on \mathcal{X} and the middle row is the truncated localization triangle

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

for $g^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$ on $\mathcal{X}_{\hat{D}}$.

The maps from the middle to the top row form a commutative diagram by functoriality of the (truncated) localization triangle. By Lemma 7.9 for $\mathcal{F} := \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$ the middle and bottom row are quasi-isomorphic. Since the base change of g to κ is an isomorphism, the map $\alpha' \circ \tau^{\leq n+1} \alpha$ is an isomorphism. It follows that α' is a quasi-isomorphism. Since

$$\hat{j}^*g^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \tilde{g}^*j^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong \tilde{g}^*\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n} \cong \mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}$$

the map β' is a quasi-isomorphism and we deduce the same for γ .

For the discussion below we find it most convenient to isolate the following statement. Lemma 7.7 shows that it holds in the semistable case under Conjecture 7.1. Unfortunately we cannot prove it in the general regular case even assuming Gersten's conjecture.

CONJECTURE 7.10. Assume \mathcal{X} is of finite type over a discrete valuation ring D with perfect residue field κ of characteristic p and fraction field F of characteristic 0. Denote by

$$j: \mathcal{X}_F \to \mathcal{X}, \qquad i: \mathcal{X}_\kappa \to \mathcal{X}$$

the complementary open and closed immersions. If \mathcal{X} is regular then there is an exact triangle of complexes of sheaves on \mathcal{X}_{et}

$$i_*\mathbb{Z}(n-1)/p^{\bullet}[-2] \to \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \to \tau^{\leq n} Rj_*\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n} \to .$$
 (144)

We now return to the local setting. Assuming Conjecture 7.10 we obtain a commutative diagram of exact localization triangles where the top row is induced by (144) and the bottom row is the usual localization triangle in the étale topology.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

Conjecture 7.11. For regular X and $n \ge 0$ the period map

$$R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) \xrightarrow{\beta} R\Gamma(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

of [76]/Thm. A (4)] factors through an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) \cong R\Gamma(X, \tau^{\leq n} Rj_* \mathbb{Q}_p(n)).$$

PROPOSITION 7.12. If X is strictly semistable (in the sense of [17]) then Conjecture 7.11 holds.

Proof. By [17][Thm.1.1] there is a morphism

$$\alpha_{n,\bullet}^{FM}:\mathscr{S}_{\bullet}(n)_X\to i^*\tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mu_{p\bullet}^{\otimes n}$$

whose kernel and cokernel are annihilated by a fixed power of p, and where $\mathscr{S}_{\bullet}(n)_X$ is the log-syntomic complex of Fontaine-Messing-Kato [57]. Hence

$$(\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(X_s, \mathscr{I}_{\bullet}(n)_X))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong (\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(X_s, i^*\tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n})_{\mathbb{Q}} \\ \cong R\Gamma(X, \tau^{\leq n}Rj_*\mathbb{Q}_p(n)).$$

By [76] [Thm. 3.8] there is an isomorphism

$$\alpha_{syn} : (\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(X, \mathscr{S}_{\bullet}(n)_X))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n)$$

where $R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n)$ is given by the homotopy limit (137).

COROLLARY 7.13. For X semistable satisfying Conjecture 7.1 and $n \ge 0$ there is an exact localization triangle

$$R\Gamma(X_s, \mathbb{Q}_p(n-1))[-2] \to R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma_{syn}(X_\eta, n) \to .$$

Proof. Combine Lemma 7.7 and Prop. 7.12.

REMARK 7.14. The natural map $\mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}$ of (pro)-complexes of sheaves on X_{et} and $X_{\eta,et}$ induces a commutative diagram

The Chern class maps from K-theory to motivic cohomology [8] induce an isomorphism

$$K_{2n-i}(X_{\eta})_{\mathbb{Q}}^{(n)} \cong H^{i}(X_{\eta,Zar},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong H^{i}(X_{\eta},\mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1548

| - | | |
|---|--|--|

whose composite with c is the étale Chern class map c^{et} . By [76]/Thm. A (7)] c^{et} factors through $H^i_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n)$, hence so does the composite map $c \circ j^*$. Corollary 7.13 then gives another proof of the factorization

$$K_{2n-i}(X)^{(n)}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong H^{i}(X, \mathbb{Z}(n))_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H^{i}_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) \to H^{i}(X_{\eta}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n))$$

in the semistable case.

Concerning a syntomic description of $R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ we expect the following. The geometric cohomology theory for arbitrary varieties Y/k is rigid cohomology [5,6]

$$Y \mapsto H^i_{ria}(Y/K_0)$$

taking values in the (Tannakian) category of ϕ -modules (finite dimensional K_0 -vector spaces with a Frobenius-semilinear endomorphism ϕ [29][4.2]). We expect the following *p*-adic analogue of (132) relating the geometric cohomology of the special and the generic fibre.

CONJECTURE 7.15. For regular X there is an exact triangle in the derived category of ϕ -modules

$$R\Gamma_{rig}(X_s/K_0) \xrightarrow{sp} \left[R\Gamma^B_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_K} \xrightarrow{N} R\Gamma^B_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})(-1)^{G_K} \right] \xrightarrow{cosp} R\Gamma_{rig}(X_s/K_0)^*(-d)[-2d+1] \to (145)$$

where sp induces the specialization map constructed in [91] and cosp is the composite of the Poincare duality isomorphism

$$R\Gamma^{B}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})(-1) \cong R\Gamma^{B}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{*}(-d)[-2d+2]$$

on $X_{\bar{\eta}}$ and sp^* .

We expect the following relation between rigid cohomology with compact support [5] and *p*-adic motivic cohomology with compact support as defined in [38] and between the dual of rigid cohomology with compact support and *p*-adic motivic Borel-Moore homology as defined in (129) above. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a separated, finite type *k*-scheme *Y* define

$$R\Gamma_c(Y_{eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) := (\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma_c(Y_{eh}, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}))_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

where the complex of sheaves $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ on $(\mathrm{Sch}/k)_{eh}$ was defined in [38][Sec. 4]. It is expected that the arithmetic cohomology groups $H^i_c(Y_{ar}, \mathbb{Z}(n))$ of [38][Def. 5.4] are finitely generated for all $i, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ [38][Conj. L(X,n)], and if this is the case we have

$$H^i_c(Y_{eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong H^i_c(Y_{ar}, \mathbb{Z}(n)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}_p$$

by [38][Thm. 5.2 (b)].

CONJECTURE 7.16. a) For a separated, finite type k-scheme Y and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there exists an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_c(Y_{eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \left[R\Gamma_{rig,c}(Y/K_0) \xrightarrow{1-\phi_n} R\Gamma_{rig,c}(Y/K_0) \right].$$

b) For a separated, finite type k-scheme Y, equidimensional of dimension d-1, and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there exists an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(Y, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \left[R\Gamma_{rig,c}(Y/K_0)^* \xrightarrow{1-\phi_{n-d+1}} R\Gamma_{rig,c}(Y/K_0)^* \right] [-2d+2].$$

COROLLARY 7.17. Assume X is regular and satisfies Conjectures 7.10, 7.11, 7.15 and 7.16b) for $Y = X_s$ and that the bottom square in the diagram below commutes. Then for $n \ge 0$ there is an isomorphism of localization triangles

where $sp' = \iota_{dR} \circ sp$.

1550

Corollary 7.17 implies Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ (Conj. 5.5 in section 5.4) in the presence of Conjecture 7.16a). This rather indirect way of obtaining a syntomic description of $R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ goes back to [37] for smooth f and $0 \leq n . A more natural way to obtain a syntomic description of <math>R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ would be to construct a cycle class map with values in syntomic cohomology, following the construction of the étale cycle class map in [35].

PROPOSITION 7.18. Corollary 7.17 holds unconditionally for n < 0. More precisely, all complexes in the right hand column are acyclic, whereas the complexes in the left hand column are acyclic by definition (for $R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$) we can use the higher Chow definition or that of section 3.1).

Proof. Since X_s is proper of dimension d-1 the eigenvalues of $\phi_n^{[k:\mathbb{F}_p]}$ on any $H^i_{rig}(X_s/K_0)$ are Weil numbers of weight w in the range $-2n \leq w \leq 2(d-1)-2n$ [75]. Hence for n < 0 the eigenvalue 1 of weight w = 0 cannot occur. Similarly, the eigenvalues of $\phi_{n-d}^{[k:\mathbb{F}_p]}$ on any $H^i_{rig}(X_s/K_0)^*$ have weight w in the range $-2(n-d)-2(d-1) \leq w \leq -2(n-d)$ and w = 0 cannot occur if n < 0.

Together with the fact that $R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta}) = F^0 R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta}) = F^n R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta})$ for n < 0 this implies that two of the three complexes in the right hand column are acyclic, hence so is the third. It remains to show that $R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ as defined in section 3.1 is acyclic. We have

$$R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet}) = R\Gamma(X, j_{X,!}\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}) \cong R\Gamma(S, Rf_*j_{X,!}\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n})$$
$$\cong R\Gamma(S, j_!Rf_{\eta*}\mu_{p^{\bullet}}^{\otimes n}) = 0$$

using the fact that f is proper, i.e. $Rf_* = Rf_!$, and the vanishing of $R\Gamma(S, j_!\mathcal{F})$ for any sheaf \mathcal{F} [69][Prop. II.1.1].

7.2.2 MOTIVIC DECOMPOSITION

Define the ϕ -module

$$Z^{i} := \ker \left(H^{i}_{rig}(X_{s}/K_{0}) \xrightarrow{sp} H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h}) \right).$$

PROPOSITION 7.19. Assume the p-adic monodromy weight conjecture [71] for the generic fibre of the regular scheme X and assume moreover that the ϕ module $H^i_{rig}(X_s/K_0)$ is semisimple for each i. Assume Conjecture 7.15 holds for X. Then the triangle (145) is the direct sum over $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ of the [-i]-shift of the exact triangles

$$Z^{i}[0] \oplus H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K},N=0}[0] \to \left[H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_{K}} \xrightarrow{N} H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})(-1)^{G_{K}} \right] \to H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})(-1)^{G_{K}}/N[-1] \oplus Z^{i}[1] \to (146)$$

in the derived category of ϕ -modules. Moreover Z^i is pure of weight i.

Proof. The proof of [27][Thm 10.1] consists in applying the exact weight filtration functor to the long exact sequence induced by (130), using the fact that $H^i(X_{\bar{s}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$ has weights $\leq i$ since X_s is proper, together with the monodromy weight conjecture. In view of [75] these arguments are available to show surjectivity of

$$H^i_{rig}(X_s/K_0) \xrightarrow{sp} H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_K,N=0}$$

as well as the fact that Z^i is pure of weight *i*, assuming the *p*-adic monodromy weight conjecture. We can then follow the proof of Prop. 7.3, using the fact that the category of ϕ -modules has global dimension one, and that the motivic decomposition

$$R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p)[-i]$$
(147)

induces a motivic decomposition of

$$R\Gamma^B_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h}) \cong D_{pst}(R\Gamma(X_{\bar{\eta}},\mathbb{Q}_p)).$$

For any ϕ -module D set

$$R(\phi, D) := [D \xrightarrow{1-\phi} D] = \operatorname{holim}(D \xrightarrow{1-\phi} D).$$

For any *p*-adic representation V of G_K recall the definition of *f*-cohomology of Bloch-Kato and Fontaine Perrin-Riou [28]

$$R\Gamma_f(K,V) := \left(D_{cris}(V) \xrightarrow{(1-\phi,\iota)} D_{cris}(V) \oplus D_{dR}(V) / F^0 \right)$$

where ι is induced by the inclusion $D_{cris}(V) \subseteq D_{dR}(V)$, and the definition of $R\Gamma_{/f}(K, V)$ via the exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_f(K,V) \to R\Gamma(K,V) \to R\Gamma_{/f}(K,V) \to .$$

Define

1552

$$R\Gamma_{st}(K,V) := \begin{bmatrix} D_{st}(V) & \xrightarrow{(1-\phi,\iota)} & D_{st}(V) \oplus D_{dR}(V)/F^0 \\ N \downarrow & N \downarrow \\ D_{st}(V(-1)) & \xrightarrow{1-\phi} & D_{st}(V(-1)) \end{bmatrix}$$

so that there is an exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_f(K,V) \to R\Gamma_{st}(K,V) \to R(\phi, D_{st}(V(-1))/N)[-1] \to A$$

Setting

$$V^i := H^i(X_{\bar{\eta}}, \mathbb{Q}_p)$$

we have an isomorphism of $(\phi,N)\text{-modules},$ resp. $\phi\text{-modules},$ resp. filtered K-vector spaces

$$D_{st}(V^i) \cong H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_K}, \quad D_{cris}(V^i) \cong H^{B,i}_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_K,N=0},$$
$$D_{dR}(V^i) \cong H^i_{dR}(X_{\eta})$$

and obtain the following motivic decomposition of both localization triangles.

COROLLARY 7.20. Let X be a regular scheme satisfying the assumptions of Cor. 7.17 and of Prop. 7.19. Then for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ there is an isomorphism of localization triangles

$$\begin{split} R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R(\phi, Z^{2n}(n))[-2n] \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(K, V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{st}(K, V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(X_{s}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n-1))[-1] & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R(\phi, Z^{2n}(n))[-2n+1] \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} R(\phi, D_{st}(V^{i}(n-1))/N)[-i-1] \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \end{split}$$

Documenta Mathematica 23 (2018) 1425-1560

and an isomorphism of localization triangles

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R\Gamma(X,\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R(\phi,Z^{2n}(n))[-2n] \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(X_{\eta},\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ R\Gamma(X_{s},Ri^{!}\mathbb{Q}_{p}(n))[1] & \xrightarrow{\sim} & R(\phi,Z^{2n}(n))[-2n+1] \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in\mathbb{Z}} R\Gamma_{f}(K,V^{i}(n))[-i] \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \end{array}$$

PROPOSITION 7.21. If $f: X \to S$ is smooth then Conjectures 7.1, 7.11, 7.15, 7.16 hold true, if in 7.16a) we replace $R\Gamma(X_{s,eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ by (see notation 5.3)

$$R\Gamma'_{eh}(X_s, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) := R\Gamma(X_{s,et}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)).$$

Moreover, the conclusions of Corollary 7.17, Prop. 7.19, and Cor. 7.20 hold true, in particular there is an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong \left[R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \xrightarrow{(1-\phi_n, sp')} R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \oplus R\Gamma_{dR}(X_\eta)/F^n \right]$$
(148)

and Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_p(\mathcal{X}, n)$ in section 5.4 holds true.

-

Proof. Conjecture 7.1 holds by [37][Cor. 4.4], Conjecture 7.11 by Prop. 7.12 and Conjecture 7.15 is trivial since sp is in this case the isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{rig}(X_s/K_0) \cong R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \cong R\Gamma_{HK}(X_s/K_0) \cong R\Gamma^B_{HK}(X_{\bar{\eta},h})^{G_K}$$

and N = 0. The theory of the deRham-Witt complex [51][I.5.7.2] gives a short exact sequence

$$0 \to W_{\bullet} \Omega^n_{X_s, log} \to W_{\bullet} \Omega^n_{X_s} \xrightarrow{1-F} W_{\bullet} \Omega^n_{X_s} \to 0$$

where F is the Frobenius on the deRham-Witt complex, and an isomorphism

$$R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \cong \bigoplus_{j=0}^{d-1} R\Gamma(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^j_{X_s})_{\mathbb{Q}}[-j]$$

where $\phi_j = \phi p^{-j}$ on the left hand side induces F on $R\Gamma(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^j_{X_s})_{\mathbb{Q}}$. In each degree i the decomposition of the ϕ -module

$$H^i_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \cong \bigoplus_{j=0}^{a-1} H^{i-j}(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^j_{X_s})_{\mathbb{Q}}$$

1 1

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

1553

_

is such that the slopes of $H^{i-j}(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^j_{X_s})_{\mathbb{Q}}$ lie in the interval [j, j + 1). In particular, ϕ is divisible by p^j , and $F = \phi p^{-j}$ has no eigenvalue 1 for $n \neq j$. Hence

$$\begin{bmatrix} R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \xrightarrow{1-\phi_n} R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \end{bmatrix}$$
(149)

$$\cong \left[\left(\text{holim } R\Gamma(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^n_{X_s}) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}} [-n] \xrightarrow{1-F} \left(\text{holim } R\Gamma(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^n_{X_s}) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}} [-n] \right] \\ \cong \left(\text{holim } R\Gamma(X_s, W_{\bullet}\Omega^n_{X_s, log}) \right)_{\mathbb{Q}} [-n] \\ \cong R\Gamma(X_s, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

where this last isomorphism follows from the isomorphism of étale sheaves on X_s [34][Thm. 8.5]

$$\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\bullet} \cong W_{\bullet}\Omega^n_{X_s,log}[-n].$$
(150)

for $n \geq 0$. This gives Conjecture 7.16a) with $R\Gamma(X_{s,eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ replaced by $R\Gamma(X_{s,et}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$. Conjecture 7.16b) follows from Conj. 7.16a), Poincare duality $R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0)$, Milne's duality [70][Thm. 1.11] for the sheaves $W_{\bullet}\Omega^n_{X_s,log}$ and the isomorphism (150).

One has a commutative diagram of exact triangles of pro-complexes of étale sheaves on X_{s}

where $\mathscr{S}_{\bullet}''(n)_X$ is defined as the mapping fibre of the map κ and $\mathscr{S}_{\bullet}'(n)_X$ is the (non-logarithmic) syntomic complex of the smooth scheme X as defined in [56]. The isomorphism of the top two rows was shown in [37][Sec. 6], the exactness of the lower triangle in [22][Thm. 3.2] and the commutativity of the lower two rows in [22][(3.10)]. If $n a result of Kurihara [62] shows that <math>\alpha'_{\bullet}$ is an isomorphism, and for any n a result of Niziol and Colmez [17][Thm.1.1] shows that $\alpha'_{n,\bullet}$ and hence α'_{\bullet} have bounded kernel and cokernel. In either case, by following the proof of [76][Thm. 3.8], one verifies that the composite map

$$(\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(X, \mathscr{S}'_{\bullet}(n)_X))_{\mathbb{Q}} \to (\operatorname{holim}_{\bullet} R\Gamma(X, \mathscr{S}_{\bullet}(n)_X))_{\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{syn}} R\Gamma_{syn}(X_{\eta}, n)$$
$$\to \left[R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \xrightarrow{(1-\phi_n, sp')} R\Gamma_{cris}(X_s/K_0) \oplus R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta})/F^n \right]$$

is an isomorphism. This implies the commutativity of the top square in Cor. 7.17 and hence the conclusion of Cor. 7.17. Concerning Prop. 7.19, the p-adic monodromy weight conjecture is trivially true in the smooth case and

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560

semisimplicity of $H^i_{cris}(X_s/K_0)$ is not needed in the proof. The conclusion of Cor. 7.17 and Prop. 7.19 then imply Corollary 7.20.

REMARK 7.22. Using the theory of cohomological descent one can show [16]/Prop. 5.3.3 that the natural maps

$$R\Gamma(X_{s,et}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma(X_{s,eh}, \alpha^* \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \to R\Gamma(X_{s,h}, \alpha^* \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$$

are quasi-isomorphisms where α is the pullback from the small étale site of X_s . However, the eh-motivic cohomology defined by Geisser in [38] and occurring in Conjecture 7.16a) is defined by pulling back Voevodsky's complex $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ from the site $(\mathrm{Sm}/k)_{et}$ to the site $(\mathrm{Sch}/k)_{eh}$. As already remarked before notation 5.3, one needs to assume resolution of singularities in order to prove the isomorphism $R\Gamma(X_{s,et}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n)) \cong R\Gamma(X_{s,eh}, \mathbb{Q}_p(n))$ in this case (see [38]/Thm. 4.3]).

REMARK 7.23. If f is smooth and and n < p-1 then one has an isomorphism [10]/Prop. 7.2 (3)]

$$i^*\mathbb{Z}(n)/p^{\nu} \cong \mathscr{S}'_{\nu}(n)_X \cong \mathbb{Z}(n)_{X_{\bullet}}/p^{\nu}$$

where $\mathbb{Z}(n)_{X_{\bullet}}$ is the motivic pro-complex defined in [10]. Hence the compatibility requested after Conjecture $\mathbf{D}_{p}(\mathcal{X}, n)$ (Conjecture 5.5 in section 5.4) is satisfied. The exact triangle

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta})/F^{n}[-1] \to R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \to \left[R\Gamma_{cris}(X_{s}/K_{0}) \xrightarrow{1-\phi_{n}} R\Gamma_{cris}(X_{s}/K_{0})\right]$$

arising from (148) can be written as the fundamental triangle

$$R\Gamma_{dR}(X_{\eta})/F^{n}[-1] \to R\Gamma(X, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n)) \to R\Gamma(X_{s}, \mathbb{Q}_{p}(n))$$

by (149), and it agrees with the (rational cohomology of the) fundamental triangle of [10]/Thm. 5.4].

References

- M. Artin and J.-L. Verdier, Seminar on Étale Cohomology of Number Fields, Lecture notes prepared in connection with a seminar held at the Woods Hole Summer Institute on Algebraic Geometry, July 6-31, 1964.
- [2] Beilinson A., J. Bernstein, and Deligne P., Faisceaux pervers, Analyse et topologie sur les éspaces singuliers, Asterisque, vol. 100, Soc. Math. France, 1982.
- [3] A. A. Beilinson, On the crystalline period map, Camb. J. Math 1 (2013), no. 1, 1–51.
- [4] D. Benois and L. Berger, Théorie d'Iwasawa des représentations cristallines II, Comment. Math. Helv. 83 (2008), no. 3, 603-677.

MATTHIAS FLACH AND BAPTISTE MORIN

1556

- [5] P. Berthelot, Géométrie rigide et cohomologie des variétés algébriques de caractéristique p, Introduction aux cohomologies p-adiques (Luminy 1984), Mém. Soc. Math. France (N.S.) No. 23, vol. 3, 1986, pp. 7–32.
- [6] P. Berthelot, Finitude et pureté cohomologique en cohomologie rigide, with an appendix by J. A. de Jong, Invent. Math. 128 (1997), 329–377.
- [7] M. Bienenfeld, An étale cohomology duality theorem for number fields with a real embedding., Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 303 (1987), no. 1, 71–96.
- [8] S. Bloch, Algebraic cycles and higher K-theory, Adv. in Math. 61 (1986), 267-304.
- [9] S. Bloch, de Rham cohomology and conductors of curves., Duke Math. J. 54 (1987), no. 2, 295–308.
- [10] S. Bloch, H. Esnault, and M. Kerz, p-adic deformation of algebraic cycle classes., Invent. Math. 195 (2014), no. 3, 673-722.
- [11] S. Bloch and K. Kato, *L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives*, In: The Grothendieck Festschrift I, Progress in Math. 86, 1990, pp. 333–400.
- J.I. Burgos Gil, Arithmetic Chow rings and Deligne-Beilinson Cohomology, J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), 335–377.
- [13] J.I. Burgos Gil and E. Feliu, Higher arithmetic Chow groups, Comment. Math. Helv. 87 (2012), 521–587.
- [14] D. Burns and C. Greither, On the equivariant Tamagawa Number Conjecture for Tate Motives, Invent. Math. 153 (2003), 303–359.
- [15] D. C. Cisinski and F. Deglise, Triangulated categories of mixed motives, available at http://arxiv.org/pdf/0912.2110.pdf.
- [16] D. C. Cisinski and F. Deglise, *Étale Motives*, available at http://arxiv. org/pdf/1305.5361.pdf.
- [17] P. Colmez and W. Niziol, Syntomic complexes and p-adic nearby cycles, available at http://arxiv.org/pdf/1505.06471.pdf.
- [18] P. Deligne, La Conjecture de Weil. II, Publ. Math. IHES 52 (1980), 137– 252.
- [19] P. Deligne, Les constants des équations fonctionnelles des fonctions L, In:Modular functions of one variable II (1973), 501–597.
- [20] P. Deligne, Decompositions dans la catégorie dérivée, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 55, PART 1, Amer. Math. Soc., 1994, pp. 115–128.
- [21] C. Deninger, Number theory and dynamical systems on foliated spaces, Jber. d. Dt. Math.-Verein. 103 (2001), 79–100.
- [22] V. Ertl and W. Niziol, Syntomic cohomology and p-adic motivic cohomology, available at http://arxiv.org/pdf/1603.01705.pdf.
- [23] E. Fan, On the construction of higher etale regulators, Caltech, 2015. Ph.D. dissertation.

- [24] M. Flach, The equivariant Tamagawa number conjecture: A survey, In: Stark's Conjecture: Recent Work and New Directions (D. Burns et al, ed.), Contemp. Math. 358, Amer. Math. Soc., 2004.
- [25] M. Flach, Cohomology of topological groups with applications to the Weil group, Compositio Math. 144 (2008), no. 3, 633-656.
- [26] M. Flach, On the cyclotomic main conjecture for the prime 2, J. reine angew. Math. 661 (2011), 1–36.
- [27] M. Flach and B. Morin, On the Weil-étale topos of regular arithmetic schemes, Documenta Mathematica 17 (2012), 313–399.
- [28] J.M. Fontaine, Valeurs spéciales des fonctions L des motifs, Séminaire Bourbaki, exposé 751, Feb. 1992.
- [29] J.M. Fontaine, Representationes p-adiques semi-stables, Périodes padiques, Séminaire de Bures, 1988, Astérisque 223, 1994, pp. 113–183.
- [30] J.M. Fontaine, Representationes l-adiques potentiellement semi-stables, Périodes p-adiques, Séminaire de Bures, 1988, Astérisque 223, 1994, pp. 321-347.
- [31] J.-M. Fontaine and B. Perrin-Riou, Autour des conjectures de Bloch et Kato: cohomologie galoisienne et valeurs de fonctions L, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 55, PART 1, Amer. Math. Soc., 1994, pp. 599-706.
- [32] K. Fujiwara, Theory of tubular neighborhood in etale topology, Duke Math. J. 80 (1995), no. 1, 15–57.
- [33] O. Gabber, Sur la torsion dans la cohomologie l-adique d'une variété., C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 297 (1983), no. 3, 179–182.
- [34] T. Geisser and M. Levine, The K-theory of fields in characteristic p, Invent. Math. 139 (2000), no. 3, 459–493.
- [35] T. Geisser and M. Levine, The Bloch-Kato conjecture and a theorem of Suslin-Voevodsky, J. Reine. Angew. Math. 530 (2001), 55-103.
- [36] T. Geisser, Weil-étale cohomology over finite fields, Math. Ann. 330 (2004), no. 4, 665–692.
- [37] T. Geisser, Motivic Cohomology over Dedekind rings, Math. Z. 4 (2004), 773-794.
- [38] T. Geisser, Arithmetic cohomology over finite fields and special values of ζ -functions, Duke Math. Jour. 133 (2006), no. 1, 27–57.
- [39] T. Geisser, Duality via cycle complexes, Ann. of Math. 172 (2010), no. 2, 1095–1126.
- [40] H. Gillet and C. Soulé, Arithmetic intersection theory, Publ. Math. IHES 72 (1990), 93–174.
- [41] H. Gillet and C. Soulé, Arithmetic Analogues of the Standard Conjectures, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 55, PART 1, Amer. Math. Soc., 1994, pp. 129–140.

- [42] A. Goncharov, Chow Polylogarithms and Regulators, Math. Res. Lett. 2 (1995), 95-112.
- [43] A. Goncharov, Polylogarithms, Regulators, and Arakelov motivic complexes, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 18 (2005), no. 1, 1–60.
- [44] A. Grothendieck and J. Dieudonné, Éléments de Géométrie Algébrique, Publ. Math. IHES 32, 1967.
- [45] N. Hoffmann and M. Spitzweck, Homological algebra with locally compact abelian groups, Advances in Math. 212 (2007), 504–524.
- [46] J. Scholbach and A. Holmstrom, Arakelov motivic cohomology I, J. Algebraic Geom. 24 (2015), 719–754.
- [47] A. Huber and G. Kings, Bloch-Kato conjecture and main conjecture of Iwasawa theory for Dirichlet characters, Duke Math. Jour. 119 (2003), 393-464.
- [48] L. Illusie, Existence de Résolutions Globales, Théorie des Intersections et Théorème de Riemann-Roch (SGA6), Lecture Notes in Mathematics 225, Springer, 1971, pp. 160–221.
- [49] L. Illusie, Complexe cotangent et déformations. I., Lecture Notes in Mathematics 239, Springer, 1971.
- [50] L. Illusie, *Complexe cotangent et déformations. II.*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 283, Springer, 1972.
- [51] L. Illusie, Complexe de de Rham-Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Ann. Sci. de l'ENS 12 (1979), no. 4, 501–666.
- [52] L. Illusie, Autour du théorème de monodromie locale, Périodes p-adiques, Séminaire de Bures, 1988, Astérisque 223, 1994, pp. 9–57.
- [53] L. Illusie, Frobenius et dégénérescence de Hodge, Introduction à la théorie de Hodge, Panor. Synthèses 3, Soc. Math. France, 1996, pp. 113–168.
- [54] B. Kahn, Équivalences rationnelle et numérique sur certaines variétés de type abélien sur un corps fini, Ann. Sci. école Norm. Sup. (4) 36 (2003), no. 6, 977–1002.
- [55] K. Kato and S. Saito, Global class field theory of arithmetic schemes, Contemp. Math. 51, Amer. Math. Soc., 1986, pp. 255–331.
- [56] K. Kato, On p-adic vanishing cycles (application of ideas of Fontaine-Messing), Algebraic Geometry, Sendai, 1985, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 10, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 207-251.
- [57] K. Kato, Semistable reduction and p-adic étale cohomology, Périodes padiques, Séminaire de Bures, 1988, Astérisque 223, 1994, pp. 269–293.
- [58] M. Kerr, J.D. Lewis, and S. Müller-Stach, The Abel-Jacobi map for higher Chow groups, Compositio 142 (2006), 374–396.
- [59] F. Knudsen and D. Mumford, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves I: Preliminaries on 'det' and 'Div', Math. Scand. 39 (1976), 19–55.

- [60] K. Künnemann, Arakelov Chow groups of abelian schemes, arithmetic Fourier transform, and analogues of the standard conjectures of Lefschetz type, Math. Ann. 300 (1994), 365–392.
- [61] K. Künnemann, Some remarks on the arithmetic Hodge index conjecture, Compositio Math. 99 (1995), 109–128.
- [62] M. Kurihara, A Note on p-adic Étale Cohomology, Proc. Japan Acad., Ser. A 63 (1987).
- [63] M. Levine, *K-theory and motivic cohomology of schemes*, available at http: //www.math.uiuc.edu/K-theory/0336/mot.pdf.
- [64] M. Levine, Techniques of localization in the theory of algebraic cycles, J. Algebraic Geom. 10 (2001), no. 2, 299–363.
- [65] S. Lichtenbaum, The Weil-étale topology on schemes over finite fields, Compositio Math. 3 (2005), 689–702.
- [66] S. Lichtenbaum, The Weil-étale Topology for number rings, Annals of Math. 170 (2009), no. 2, 657–683.
- [67] S. Lichtenbaum, Euler characteristics and special values of zeta-functions, Motives and algebraic cycles, Fields Inst. Commun. 56, Amer. Math.Soc, 2009, pp. 249–255.
- [68] J. Majadas, Derived deRham cohomology and cyclic homology, Math. Scand. 79 (1996), 176–188.
- [69] J.S. Milne, Arithmetic duality theorems, Perspectives in Math. 1, Academic Press, 1986.
- [70] J.S. Milne, Values of Zeta functions of varieties over finite fields, Amer. J. Math. 108 (1986), no. 2, 297–360.
- [71] A. Mokrane, La suite spectrale des poids en cohomologie de Hyodo-Kato, Duke Math. Journal 72 (1993), no. 2, 301–337.
- [72] B. Morin, Zeta Functions of regular arithmetic schemes at s = 0, Duke Math. J. 163 (2014), no. 7, 1263–1336.
- [73] B. Morin, Milne's correcting factor and derived de Rham cohomology, Documenta Mathematica 21 (2016), 39–48.
- [74] B. Morin, Milne's correcting factor and derived de Rham cohomology II, Documenta Mathematica 22 (2017), 1303–1321.
- [75] Y. Nakkajima, Weight filtration and slope filtration on the rigid cohomology of a variety in characteristic p > 0, Mem. Soc. Math. Fr., vol. 130-131, 2012.
- [76] J. Nekovář and W. Niziol, Syntomic cohomology and p-adic regulators for varieties over p-adic fields, available at http://arxiv.org/pdf/1309. 7620.pdf.
- [77] B. Perrin-Riou, Fonctions L p-adiques des représentations p-adiques, Astérisque 229, Soc. Math. France, 1995.

- [78] N. Roby, Lois polynomes et lois formelles en théorie des modules., Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 80 (1963), no. 3, 213–348.
- [79] K. Sato, p-adic Étale Twists and Arithmetic Duality, Ann. Scient. Éc. Norm. Sup. 40 (2007), no. 4, 519–588.
- [80] K. Sato, Logarithmic Hodge-Witt sheaves on normal crossing varieties, Mathematische Zeitschrift 257 (2007), 707-743.
- [81] P. Schneider, Introduction to the Beilinson conjectures, Beilinson's Conjectures on special values of L-functions, Academic Press, 1988, pp. 1–36.
- [82] P. Schneider, *p*-adic points of motives, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 55, PART 2, Amer. Math. Soc., 1994, pp. 225–249.
- [83] J. Scholbach, Special L-values of geometric motives, to appear in Asian journal of Math., available at http://arxiv.org/pdf/1003.1215.pdf.
- [84] J. Scholbach, Arakelov motivic cohomology II, J. Algebraic Geom. 24 (2015), 755-786.
- [85] C. Serpé, Resolution of unbounded complexes in Grothendieck categories, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 177 (2003), no. 1, 103–112.
- [86] J.P. Serre, Local Fields, Second corrected printing, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 67, Springer, New York, 1995.
- [87] C. Soulé, Operations en K-theorie algebrique, Canad. Jour. Math. 37 (1985).
- [88] N. Spaltenstein, Resolutions of unbounded complexes, Compositio Math. 65 (1988), no. 2, 121–154.
- [89] M. Spitzweck, A commutative P¹-spectrum representing motivic cohomology over Dedekind domains, preprint 2012, available at arXiv:1207.4078.
- [90] C. Weibel, An introduction to homological algebra, Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics 38, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1994.
- [91] Yitao Wu, On the p-adic local invariant cycle theorem (2014), preprint.
- [92] C. Zhong, Comparison of dualizing complexes, J. Reine Angew. Math. 695 (2014), 1–39.

Matthias Flach Department of Mathematics Caltech Pasadena CA 91125 USA flach@caltech.edu Baptiste Morin CNRS, IMB Université de Bordeaux 351, cours de la Libération F 33405 Talence cedex FRANCE Baptiste.Morin@ math.u-bordeaux.fr

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 23 (2018) 1425-1560